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In this Annual Report, unless otherwise indicated, the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our” refer to Surna Inc. 

and, where appropriate, its wholly-owned subsidiary. 

 

Hemp and marijuana are technically both part of the “Cannabis sativa L.” plant. “Hemp” is a term used to 

classify varieties of cannabis that contain 0.3% or less tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) content (by dry weight), the 

principal psychoactive constituent of cannabis. Hemp and its derivatives were federally legalized in the United States as 

part the Agricultural Act of 2018. “Marijuana” is a term used to classify varieties of cannabis that contain more than 

0.3% THC (by dry weight). Marijuana is not federally legal in the United States. Many states, however, have taken 

action to make marijuana legal for all purposes, made it available for medical uses, decriminalized it or a combination 

thereof. We currently provide nearly all of our products and services to customers that cultivate marijuana. In this 

Annual Report, unless otherwise indicated, “cannabis” refers to “marijuana.” 

 

Although our customers do, we neither grow, manufacture, distribute nor sell cannabis (marijuana) and hemp 

or any of their related products. 

 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT 

 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations” in Item 7, contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. 

These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but are based on current management expectations that involve 

substantial risks, uncertainties, and other factors, some of which are beyond our control and difficult to predict and could 

cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. Forward-

looking statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. We generally identify forward-looking 

statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” 

“projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or 

other similar words. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-

looking statements including, but not limited to, any projections of revenue, gross profit, earnings or loss, tax provisions, 

cash flows or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies or objectives of management for future 

operations; any statements regarding current or future macroeconomic or industry-specific trends or events and the impact 

of those trends and events on us or our financial performance; any statements regarding pending investigations, legal claims 

or tax disputes; any statements of expectation or belief; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. 

 

These forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other 

factors that could cause our actual results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, performance, prospects, 

opportunities, achievements or industry results, as well as those of the markets we serve or intend to serve, to differ 

materially from those expressed in, or suggested by, these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements 

are based on assumptions regarding our present and future business strategies and the environment in which we operate. 

Important factors that could cause those differences include, but are not limited to: 

  

  ● our business prospects and the prospects of our existing and prospective customers; 

  

● the impact on our business and that of our customers of the current and future response by the government 

and business to the COVID-19 pandemic, including what is necessary to protect our staff and the staff 

of our customers in the conduct of our business; 

  
● the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the business climate in our industry and the willingness 

of our customers to undertake projects in light of economic uncertainties; 

  
● our overall financial condition, including our reduced revenue and business disruption, due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic business and economic response and its consequences; 

  ● the inherent uncertainty of product development; 

  
● regulatory, legislative and judicial developments, especially those related to changes in, and the 

enforcement of, cannabis laws; 

  ● increasing competitive pressures in the CEA (Controlled Environment Agriculture) industry; 

  
● the ability to effectively operate our business, including servicing our existing customers and obtaining 

new business;  

  ● our relationships with our customers and suppliers; 

  
● the continuation of normal payment terms and conditions with our customers and suppliers, including 

our ability to obtain advance payments from our customers; 

  

● general economic conditions, our customers’ operations and access to capital, and market and business 

disruptions including severe weather conditions, natural disasters, health hazards, terrorist activities, 

financial crises, political crises or other major events, or the prospect of these events, adversely affecting 

demand for the products and services offered by us in the markets in which we operate; 

  
● changes in our business strategy or development plans, including our expected level of capital expenses 

and working capital; 

  ● our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; 
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● our ability to raise equity and debt capital to fund our operations and growth strategy, including possible 

acquisitions;  

  ● our ability to identify, complete and integrate potential strategic acquisitions;  

  ● future revenue being lower than expected;  

  ● our ability to convert our backlog into revenue in a timely manner, or at all; and 

  ● our intention not to pay dividends. 

 

Although we believe that the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, 

any of those assumptions could prove to be inaccurate, and as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those 

assumptions also could be inaccurate. In light of these and other uncertainties, the inclusion of a projection or forward-

looking statement in this annual report on Form 10-K should not be regarded as a representation by us that our plans and 

objectives will be achieved. These risks and uncertainties include those described or identified in “Risk Factors” in this 

Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only 

as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by the federal securities laws, we undertake no 

obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 

otherwise, to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The forward-

looking statements and projections contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are excluded from the safe harbor 

protection provided by Section 27A of the Securities Act. 

 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

 

To supplement our financial results on U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) basis, we use 

non-GAAP measures including net bookings, backlog, as well as adjusted net income (loss) which reflects adjustments for 

certain non-cash expenses such as stock-based compensation, certain debt-related items and depreciation expense. We 

believe these non-GAAP measures are helpful in understanding our past performance and are intended to aid in evaluating 

our potential future results. The presentation of these non-GAAP measures should be considered in addition to our GAAP 

results and are not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information prepared or presented 

in accordance with GAAP. We believe these non-GAAP financial measures reflect an additional way to view aspects of 

our operations that, when viewed with our GAAP results, provide a more complete understanding of factors and trends 

affecting our business. For purposes of this Annual Report, (i) “adjusted net income (loss)” and “adjusted operating 

income (loss)” mean GAAP net income (loss) and operating income (loss), respectively, after adjustment for non-cash 

equity compensation expense, debt-related items and depreciation expense, and (ii) “net bookings” means new sales 

contracts executed during the quarter for which we received an initial deposit, net of any adjustments including 

cancellations and change orders during the quarter. 

 

Our backlog, remaining performance obligations and net bookings may not be indicative of future operating 

results, and our customers may attempt to renegotiate or terminate their contracts for a number of reasons, including 

delays in or inability to obtain project financing or licensing or abandonment of the project entirely. Accordingly, there 

can be no assurance that contracts included in the backlog or remaining performance obligations will actually generate 

revenues or when the actual revenues will be generated. 
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PART I 

 

Item 1. Business 

 

Overview 

 

We design, engineer and sell environmental control and other technologies for the Controlled Environment 

Agriculture (CEA) industry. The CEA industry is one of the fastest-growing sectors of the United States’ economy. From 

leafy greens (kale, Swiss chard, mustard, cress), microgreens (leafy greens harvested at the first true leaf stage), ethnic 

vegetables and small fruits (such as strawberries, blackberries and raspberries) to bell peppers, cucumbers, tomatoes and 

cannabis and hemp, some producers grow crops indoors in response to market dynamics or as part of their preferred farming 

practice. In service of the CEA, our principal technologies include: (i) liquid-based process cooling systems and other 

climate control systems, (ii) air handling equipment and systems, (iii) a full-service engineering package for designing and 

engineering commercial scale thermodynamic systems specific to cultivation facilities, and (iv) automation and control 

devices, systems and technologies used for environmental, lighting and climate control. Our customers include commercial, 

state- and provincial-regulated CEA growers in the U.S. and Canada as well as other international locations. Customers 

are those growers building new facilities and those expanding or retrofitting existing facilities. Currently, our revenue 

stream is derived primarily from supplying our products, services and technologies to commercial indoor facilities ranging 

from several thousand to more than 100,000 square feet. 

 

Headquartered in Boulder, Colorado, we leverage our experience in this space to bring value-added climate control 

solutions to our customers that help improve their overall crop quality and yield, optimize energy and water efficiency, and 

satisfy the evolving state and local codes, permitting and regulatory requirements. 

 

All CEA facility operators are facing multiple headwinds of high energy costs, issues about water usage and waste 

materials, and, in the case of cannabis growing, increasingly rigorous quality standards and declining cannabis prices. To 

be competitive, among other things, our customers must develop innovative ways to meet the demands of their business 

and reduce energy costs, 90% of which is typically related to their HVACD (50%) and lighting systems (40%). HVACD 

systems have historically been our focus. We often have the advantage of early engagement with our customers at the pre-

build and construction phases and the corresponding opportunity to build longer-term relationships with our existing 

customers and their facilities. Going forward, our plan is to leverage our existing customer relationships and attempt to sell 

them additional products and services, thereby becoming “stickier” to our customers, in an effort to generate incremental 

revenue. 

 

We have three core assets that we believe are important to our going-forward business strategy. First, we have 

multi-year relationships with customers and others in the CEA industry, notably in the cannabis segment. Second, we have 

specialized engineering know-how and experience gathered from designing environmental control systems for CEA 

cultivation facilities since 2016. Third, we have a line of proprietary environmental control products, which we are in the 

process of expanding. 

 

We are an integrated provider of MEP (mechanical, electrical, plumbing) engineering design, proprietary 

environmental control equipment, and controls and automation offerings serving the CEA industry. Historically, nearly all 

of our customers have been in the cannabis cultivation business. We believe our employees have more experience than 

most other MEP firms serving this industry. Our customers engage us for their environmental and climate control systems 

because they want experts to design their facilities, and they come to us because of our reputation. We leverage our 

reputation and know-how against the many local contractors and MEP engineers who collectively constitute our largest 

competitors. 

 

A number of recent events have had an adverse impact on our operations and financial condition, including 

constraints on capital availability for our customers and prospects who have commenced, or are contemplating, new and 

expanded CEA cultivation facilities and the recent outbreak of COVID-19, a novel strain of coronavirus first identified in 

China, which has spread across the globe including the U.S. Most recently, the response to this coronavirus by federal, 

state and local governments in the U.S. has resulted in significant market and business disruptions across many industries 

and affecting businesses of all sizes. This pandemic has also caused significant stock market volatility and further tightened 

capital access for most businesses. 

 

Shares of our common stock are traded on The OTC Markets under the ticker symbol “SRNA.” 
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Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Our Business 

 

The impact of the government and the business economic response to the COVID-19 pandemic has affected 

demand across the majority of our markets and disrupted work on projects. The COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have 

continued adverse effects on our sales, project implementation, operating margins, and working capital. As of the date of 

this filing, uncertainty continues to exist concerning the magnitude and duration of the economic impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic. 

 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, in late March of 2020 the Company downsized operations to preserve 

cash resources, implementing workforce reductions, reductions of salaried employee compensation (including all 

executives and the CEO) and reduction of hours worked, cutting costs and focusing its operations on customer-centric sales 

and project management activities. 

 

Following the receipt of loan funds in April 2020, the Company reinstated all staff who previously had been 

placed on furlough. Staff receiving salaries of $100,000 per year or less were restored to their full salaries. All executives, 

including the CEO, had their compensation reduced to the greater of $100,000 per year or 75% of their previous salary 

level. The Company re-engaged its staff so as to be able to fulfill its current customer contracts and any new sales orders 

and to continue its marketing and selling efforts. Over the course of the Summer 2020, the Company took further steps to 

adjust its work force by furloughing several employees, making temporary hourly and salary reduction adjustments, and 

then, in late September 2020, in light of our then sales efforts, reinstating continuing hourly employees to full-time status 

and restoring the salaries of continuing salaried employees. 

 

Due to the speed with which the COVID-19 pandemic developed and the resulting uncertainties, including the 

depth and duration of the disruptions to customers and suppliers, its future effect on our business, on our results of 

operations, and on our financial condition, we cannot predict the overall effect on our business over the longer term. Despite 

this uncertainty, we have undertaken various plans to reduce costs so as to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 

to the best of our ability, although they may not be sufficient in the long-run for us to avoid reduced sales, increased losses 

and reduced operating cash flows. 

 

Refer to Risk Factors, included in Part II, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K below, for further 

discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business. 

 

Our Growth Strategy 

 

We believe there are several ways to grow a business: (i) increase the number of customers, (ii) increase the 

average revenue per order, (iii) increase the frequency of orders, or (iv) expand the addressable market. 

  

  1. Sell proverbial “Chevys.” In addition to “Cadillac” -level products, sell “Chevy” or equivalent products 

to satisfy a wider range of points along the demand curve. Anticipated result: Increase the number of 

customers. 

 

We have a sales and marketing program that generates many prospective customer relationships. However, our 

limited range of higher cost products, mostly chilled water systems, reduces the number of customer prospects who can 

afford to buy from us. In 2018 we started an aggressive effort to broaden our product and service offerings to provide a 

wider range of HVACD technical solutions (see chart below). In 2018 we began to offer stamped mechanical plan sets and 

our first 4-pipe chilled water systems. In 2019 we broadened our engineering services to include full MEP (mechanical, 

electrical, and plumbing) design services. We also began to offer our SentryIQ® Controls System. And in 2020 we added 

new products to include: split system DX (direct expansion) with integrated dehumidification, packaged DX systems with 

modulating hot gas reheat, heat recovery chiller/boiler for 4-pipe systems, and our StrataAir™ ™ racking airflow solution 

to address customer needs for multi-level cultivation facilities. These various systems provide solutions to answer a broader 

range of technical and cost constraints, and we will continue to develop and offer new solutions to our customers’ problems, 

so that a broader group of growers can take advantage of our engineering expertise and capabilities. We believe these new 

products and services will increase our addressable market and increase sales, further leveraging our investment in sales 

and marketing. 
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The success of our product development initiative can be seen in the following table, which documents the number 

of commercial-scale projects (over $100,000 sales) that have included one or more of our new products: 

  

Year   

Percent using New 

Products 

2018 ............................      35% 

2019 ............................      76% 

2020 ............................      100% 

 

 
  

  2. Sell proverbial “steering wheels.” Sell our customers the automated facilities control systems they 

need—directly. Anticipated result: Increase average order size. 

 

Growing live plants indoors in a controlled environment is a technically demanding business, and a failed crop 

can cost a grower significant foregone revenue. We believe our licensed professional engineers are some of the industry’s 

leading experts in the design of such facilities, and we seek to extend that leadership into more advanced technology 

products. 

 

In 2019 we introduced our SentryIQ® control system. If our climate control design and products are the proverbial 

car, then SentryIQ® is the proverbial steering wheel—one is needed to direct the car where to go. Before SentryIQ® we 

had to send our customers elsewhere for controls to regulate their cultivation environments, but we now have the ability to 

capture that revenue. To date, we have signed thirteen contracts for controls systems with an aggregate value of 

approximately $1,700,000. 

 

Our next step down this technology and innovation road will be the eventual development of the equivalent of a 

self-driving car. Growers will tell the control system what they want to achieve, and the system will sense the environment 

and direct the climate control system to achieve the grower’s goals. These systems will be able to integrate data analytics—

and eventually deploy artificial intelligence—to optimize multiple variables to maximize the grower’s profits. While we 

are in the early stages of development of these technology-driven systems, we believe it is important for us to become a 

player in this market because it expands our addressable market for both sensors and software while offering the possibility 

of higher margins and recurring revenue over time. 

  

  3. Add more proverbial “dealers.” Engage in one or more strategic relationships with other technology 

leaders that serve our industry. Anticipated result: Increase the number of customers. 

 

Strategic relationships might include referral marketing agreements, selling through manufacturer’s representative 

organizations, co-development of unique integrated solutions with best-in-class partners, and acquisitions. To extend the 

automotive analogy, engaging in these types of relationships is like adding more dealers to sell our products, at little cost 

to us. 
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If some of these strategic alliances are successful in driving top-line revenue for us and our partners, over time 

these relationships could develop into more exclusive arrangements or evolve into possible acquisitions or a source of 

strategic capital for us. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully execute any of these strategic 

initiatives. Efforts will be primarily focused on working with new strategic partners to co-market each other’s products and 

services and possibly jointly develop new and improved products and services, as opposed to exclusively seeking 

acquisitions. 

  

  4. Expand our addressable market 
 

Our sales and marketing efforts have historically been oriented towards the cannabis-cultivation segment of the 

CEA industry. The non-cannabis CEA industry is growing as well, and we believe our products and services can address 

that market either as currently engineered or with minimal modification. 

 

Surna’s core and historic expertise and products center on providing mechanical engineering for environmental 

controls for indoor growing facilities. We believe that our demonstrated expertise and experience positions us to expand 

our product and service offerings vertically, to include integrating many of the technologies and services required to build 

and operate a CEA cultivation facility, such as space programming and facility layout in addition to the MEP engineering 

we do today. In addition, we believe we can expand our product offerings to include the selection, integration, and provision 

of lighting, benching, irrigation and fertigation equipment and add-on maintenance and other recurring revenue services to 

operating facilities. 

 

******** 

 

Our Key Initiatives 

 

Our strategic business plan has four primary objectives: 

  

  1. Achieve continued organic sales growth by broadening and vertically integrating our product and service 

offerings. 
  2. Grow revenue and profitability by engaging in selective strategic relationships and acquisitions. 
  3. Operate the business with disciplined financial management and become financially self-sustaining. 
  4. Seek uplisting to a national securities exchange at a propitious moment. 

 

Our goal for the immediate future is to grow organically, strategically and profitably within the CEA industry. 

We will also consider acquisitions of complementary businesses both within and potentially outside of the CEA industry. 

We believe the worldwide CEA market will grow substantially for the foreseeable future, and that this will lead to more 

new build, retrofit and expansion projects to drive our continued growth. Here are some of the initiatives we pursued in 

2020, and where more work is needed to progress each of them. 

 

Focus on Multi-facility Operators. We actively pursue business from multi-facility operators (MFOs), which we 

define as businesses that own and operate two or more CEA cultivation facilities in either the U.S. or Canada. These MFOs 

are typically larger and have greater financial and organizational wherewithal to buy more and larger systems and are less 

prone to project delays and cancellations, compared to the smaller (and riskier) independent cultivators that had been our 

primary customers in the past. In 2020 we booked three projects totaling $3.5 million. We recorded $2.9 million in revenue 

from these projects, or 35% of our total 2020 revenue. Going forward, we will conduct our operations to seek a sales 

pipeline with MFO customers that we believe will result in more consistent and predictable revenue and cash flow. Because 

MFOs are typically more sophisticated and may, in many cases, have in-house engineering teams, such MFOs may not 

need the engineering expertise and experience we offer. This contrasts with the independent smaller grower market that 

places significant value in our overall expertise and experience, including our specific CEA related growing knowledge. 
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The table below shows our 2020 full year results for commercial-scale projects, which we define as contracts with 

a value over $100,000, by project and customer type. 

 

 
 

To achieve profitability in the future, we must first be able to generate a more consistent and predictable revenue 

stream. To do so, we must: (i) maximize our new build facility projects, and (ii) supplement those projects with an increased 

number of retrofit and expansion projects—which typically have shorter completion cycles and fewer external 

contingencies that we do not control. Historically, whenever a new build project has been delayed or cancelled, which can 

occur often, our revenue and cash flow has taken a corresponding dramatic hit. 

 

Offer a Broader Range of Products and Services Across the Cultivation Facility Lifecycle. During 2019, we 

fulfilled the first step of this goal with the introduction of our SentryIQ® controls package. We also began offering full 

mechanical, electrical, and plumbing engineering services, developed and sold a four-pipe, chilled water environmental 

control system with Surna branded fan coil units and custom air handlers, developed a proprietary destratification fan, and 

performed facility retrofit services. Our new custom air handlers alone generated $2.3 million in revenue in 2019, and 

another $516,000 in 2020. In 2020 we continued this effort by introducing several new DX-based packaged products 

(EnviroPro™) and our StrataAir™ air distribution product. 

 

Following up on our product launch successes in 2019 and 2020, we plan to address facility lifecycle revenue 

opportunities by leveraging our strong brand name and positioning ourselves as the “trusted advisor” in environmental 

controls management. In addition, we will begin to offer recurring-revenue services for facility monitoring and preventive 

maintenance services. Our expanded product offering is illustrated by the following 4-phase matrix of product/service 

depth and facility lifecycle participation. 
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We attempt to become “stickier” to our customers by providing climate control products and services across the 

entire 4-phase facility lifecycle. Each phase of the facility lifecycle has many activities that present potential opportunities 

for us. We do not intend to offer products and services in all activities in each phase, but rather we will focus on technology 

and innovation that provide value-add to our customers as they attempt to seek out “best-in-class” partners to automate and 

control the indoor grow facilities of the future. We believe, if successful, this could possibly translate into greater demand 

for our proprietary, customized equipment, technology and software solutions. 

 

Enter Strategic Alliances to Expand our Marketing and Sales Reach. We have identified several business 

verticals that we believe are logical and natural complements to our climate control business, such as: lighting, fertigation 

(automated process of delivering nutrients and water to plants), benches (customized systems to optimize use of the 

growing space), cultivation management technology (software), consumables (growing, packaging, facility and lab 

supplies), and operational improvement analytics (modeling, data aggregation and artificial intelligence). We will also 

consider strategic alliances, such as distribution, reseller, co-marketing or product development agreements, with select 

companies which are consistent with our strategic direction. Our strategic alliances will likely involve development of 

more comprehensive, end-to-end, integrated solutions for our customers, as well as specialized products and services that 

help cultivators compete in the market, whether through automation, software or operating efficiencies. 
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If some of these strategic alliances are successful in driving top-line revenue for us and our partners, over time 

these relationships could develop into more exclusive arrangements or evolve into possible acquisitions or a source of 

strategic capital for us. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully execute any of these strategic 

initiatives. Efforts will be primarily focused on working with new strategic partners to co-market each other’s products and 

services and possibly jointly develop new and improved products and services for the CEA industry. 

 

Cash and Dilution. We started 2020 with just over $922,000 in cash but with a new discipline on cost control and 

increased bookings in the second half of the year we were able to increase our cash to $2,285,000 at the end of 2020. In 

2019 and 2020 we used operating cash flows and loan proceeds to support our operations and did not engage in any dilutive 

financing. In 2020, we exercised strict financial discipline to weather a dramatic drop in new projects in the first half of the 

year, largely due to the Covid-19 pandemic response. We recovered in the second half. In the first two quarters of the year 

we had a major project cancellation and fewer new project bookings. Our adjusted net loss in 2020 was $1,239,000 

compared to an adjusted net income in 2019 of $92,000. Our adjusted net income (loss) is our GAAP net income (loss) 

after addback for our non-cash equity compensation expenses, debt-related items and depreciation expense. 

 

Our working capital remains negative, which is a constant impediment to the overall viability of our business as 

planned, so we must land more MFO and other contracts and we may have to raise capital again to fund our working capital 

needs and future growth. 

 

Investor Relations. We previously had limited investor relations activities of any kind prior to 2019. In 2019 we 

began to attend investor conferences and we engaged an Investor Relations firm. Due to the financial impact of the 

pandemic we terminated these activities at the end of Q1 2020. Our goal remains to create an actively traded, widely held, 

and fully valued stock over time and in concert with our achievement of consistent financial goals. We intend to resume 

Investor Relations activities as our finances allow. 

 

Products and Services 

 

We now offer a broader range of products and services to the CEA market than the mechanical engineering and 

modular chilled water systems we historically offered. This includes products and services targeting smaller indoor grow 

facilities and commercial-scale facilities as well as sealed greenhouse, or hybrid, facilities. 

 

Services: Engineering and Design. We offer licensed professional mechanical, electrical and plumbing design 

and engineering services to all customers, and those customers in the cannabis growing industry that are in cannabis-legal 

states and provinces. We believe we have leading edge, sophisticated engineering capabilities, which we attempt to 

leverage with independent small growers as well as MFOs that are building larger and more sophisticated commercial 

projects. 

 

Going forward, we plan to: (i) emphasize our strong mechanical engineering team that includes an in-house staff 

of degreed engineers including an experienced licensed professional engineer (PE), (ii) offer pre-construction energy 

modeling to help our customers and enhance our sales closing rate, (iii) develop an engineering, design and audit services 

program for the expanding retrofit market, which remediates existing grow facilities that suffer from sub-optimal 

performance, and (iv) potentially offer other facility management programs. 

 

Our technical experience and know-how in designing indoor cultivation facilities allow us to deliver to our 

customers practical solutions to complicated problems in four primary areas: (i) precision climate and environmental 

controls, (ii) energy and water efficiency, (iii) building code and permitting, and (iv) project management of construction 

of our products in the facility. Our engineering design typically includes all mechanical components of a climate control 

system: cooling and heating, dehumidification, ventilation, air sanitation and odor control. We provide load calculations, 

equipment specifications, and engineered systems drawings for both the cultivation and comfort cooling portions of our 

customers’ facilities. We also have experience in, or knowledge of, state and local permitting and code compliance for 

facilities in states and provinces where cannabis has been legalized for either recreational or medical use or is expected to 

be legalized, and we provide stamped, engineered drawings in all states and provinces where we operate. 

 

Our competitive advantages are our experience and reputation. Since 2006 we have continuously improved our 

CEA facility design capabilities which we believe distinguishes us from our competition. Our primary competitors include 

local heating, ventilation and air conditioning (“HVAC”) contractors, traditional MEP engineering firms, and other CEA-

focused design firms. CEA facilities present a very difficult mechanical engineering challenge, and traditional mechanical 

engineers, without our experience, are typically unfamiliar with the precise climate and air control requirements needed 

for such facilities. As important, they may be unable to effectively navigate the local code and permitting rules which did 

not contemplate the special requirements of CEA facilities when enacted. With our engineering design resources and 

experience, we are able to provide a code-compliant MEP plan set by collaborating with local regulators and our customers 

to engineer creative solutions that not only meet the intent of the local codes but also address concerns about the growing 

energy and resource usage of these facilities.  
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Energy use is, and will increasingly become, a primary concern for regulators and indoor cultivators. Two states, 

Massachusetts and Illinois, have already placed regulatory caps on energy density in indoor cultivation facilities and we 

expect this trend to continue. Energy costs are frequently the second largest operating expense for a cultivation facility, 

after labor, with HVACD and lighting comprising approximately 50% and 40%, respectively, of a facility’s energy use. 

 

As a result, licensed producers are adopting practices to maximize energy efficiency and thereby reduce operating 

costs, which will become even more important as the industry matures and wholesale prices continue to decline. These 

practices include more efficient uses of water, more efficient lighting (typically LED lighting), and renewable energy 

alternatives. Sealed greenhouses, or hybrid facilities—which are insulated for energy efficiency and combine natural light 

with the use of artificial lights—also provide a more economical way to grow agricultural products compared to warehouse 

type indoor production. But regardless of whether an indoor or a hybrid facility is the grow venue, precise environmental 

controls are required to deliver consistent product quality and yield. We are evaluating possible strategic relationships with 

providers that are seeking an environmental controls partner for these specific facility applications. 

 

We believe the right solution for our cultivation customers must include: (i) precise temperature/humidity control; 

(ii) reduced fungus, pollen, pesticide and insect contamination risk (“bio-security”); (iii) controlled regulatory compliance 

risk; (iv) lower maintenance complexity, costs and downtime; and (v) energy and resource efficiency. 

 

Our bio-security program uses a combination of a sealed facility and customized approaches to air sterilization to 

maintain facility standards, while destroying harmful airborne microbes without the production of byproducts. 

Additionally, our ductless modular chilled water systems—using fan coil units within each grow room—isolate the air and 

potential contaminants within each room, while taking advantage of the energy efficiencies and redundancies offered by 

such systems. Our experience has shown that our precision environmental controls can reduce the reliance on the use of 

harmful pesticides and fungicides. We also believe our experience in the tightly regulated Canadian market where 

pharmaceutical-like standards (including Good Manufacturing Practice standards) exist for filtration, air quality and post-

harvest plant quality gives us an advantage over our competitors, especially as product quality testing regulations continue 

to be enacted and made more stringent by state, provincial and local agencies. 

 

The following perspectives explain and help conceptualize the complexity of the environmental controls systems 

that need to be deployed by indoor cultivators: 

  

  ● Lighting. Lighting demand is 70 times more energy intensive than commercial office buildings. This 

lighting intensity creates heat, which when combined with plant transpiration to create humidity, creates 

the need for dehumidification and corresponding additional energy demand. Further complicating 

matters, lighting schedules and density must be adjusted for the clone, vegetative and flowering stages 

of cultivation, and associated variances in watering rates and temperature and humidity targets.  

  ● HVACD. HVACD energy use is driven by the need to remove the heat emitted from lighting and the 

moisture released during the plant’s evapotranspiration process, coupled with air circulation and odor 

and contaminant filtration requirements. 

  ● Legacy Systems. Mechanical systems are often designed and/or installed poorly, which can increase 

energy consumption and inconsistencies in environmental conditions. Reasons include: (i) cultivators 

deploying HVACD systems without an understanding of how the HVACD system impacts the growing 

environment, (ii) cultivators failing to understand the criticality of proper installation, commissioning 

and servicing of the equipment, even if properly designed, (iii) HVACD systems selected without 

understanding the interrelationship between sensible (cooling) and latent (moisture) factors, and (iv) 

most HVACD systems are designed for human occupied spaces, not process loads to accommodate 

plants. 

 

New technologies and applications, coupled with emerging cultivation innovations, are providing opportunities 

for increased efficiency, which we are positioned to deliver to our customers. Our engineering and product development 

teams, which currently consist of seven people, are fully qualified and committed to delivering energy and resource efficient 

solutions to commercial cultivators. Leveraging their technical competence, and our customers’ increasing focus on energy 

efficiency, quality and yield, in the future we intend to offer retrofit/design, energy audit, energy efficiency improvement, 

performance audit, and preventive maintenance services. 

 

Products: Environmental Control Systems. We offer, in addition to modular chilled water systems, other 

HVACD solutions, such as custom air handling units, split systems, packaged roof-top units, and self-contained and 

complex water chilled systems. During 2019, we launched upgraded equipment lines of fan coils and air handlers. In 2020 

we introduced our first DX-based packaged systems. This expanded product line will allow us in the future to offer less 

expensive products that can help us serve customers who have tighter budget constraints. 

  



11 

We are now offering various configurations of our new Surna-branded fan coil units, which provide greater 

efficiency, design flexibility and control for growers using modular chilled water systems. We are capable of offering a 

utility rebate consulting service to help our new build customers obtain utility rebates. While this service is not expected 

to generate significant revenue, it should help us sell our environmental controls systems because our customers will be 

able to use these rebates to offset some of their capital costs. 

 

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully execute any of these product initiatives, or identify, 

test and develop improved products or services, or that such products or services will generate revenue or profitability at 

the levels we expect. We also intend to work with select “best-in-class” vendors and partners that may be interested in 

jointly developing and marketing new and improved products and services. 

 

Technology: Sensors, Controls and Automation Business. One of our key initiatives for 2019 was the 

development of a branded, proprietary controls and monitoring offering (consisting of sensors, controllers, software, 

monitoring and a user interface). We accomplished this and launched in April 2019 our SentryIQ® sensors, controls and 

automation (“SCA”) platform—a turnkey, single-vendor HVACD equipment and controls integration solution to new build 

projects as well as existing facilities in the startup and operation phases. We continued the rollout of SentryIQ® and to date 

we have entered into thirteen contracts with twelve different companies to implement our SentryIQ® SCA platform. This 

product line is important for tactical and strategic reasons, and we hope to offer this as a standalone offering in the future. 

 

Cultivation facilities must have SCA to operate their HVACD equipment. In simple form, SCA is the thermostat 

in the room, with the occupant selecting the desired temperature set point, the wall thermostat (Sensor) detecting the actual 

temperature, and when the space temperature deviates from the desired set point the thermostat (Control) commands the 

furnace or air-conditioner to supply heated or cooled air to bring the room temperature back to the set point. In the case of 

the indoor cultivation facilities, there are more environmental conditions to monitor and control (such as temperature, 

relative humidity, CO2, lighting, vapor pressure deficit status, and more) than in a typical residential home. 

 

Indoor CEA growers also need to vary and tightly control environmental conditions depending on the stage of 

plant growth (i.e., clone, vegetative and flowering stages), the time of day, and the plant genetics. In a cultivation facility 

the desired conditions change many times during the plant’s growth cycle and even within a day, and this is most easily 

accomplished with a programmable environmental control system (automation), not unlike a simple programmable 

thermostat in a home. 

 

Our SentryIQ® SCA package includes precision sensors to measure temperature, humidity, and CO2 levels—

more accurately than typical HVACD sensors and within tighter tolerance levels. Our controllers are purpose-built 

computers programmed by us to ensure our industrial environmental control equipment follows the engineered sequences 

of operation to obtain desired set-points. Our sensors connect to our branded controllers through wires installed in the 

facility, and similarly they are wired to our HVACD equipment (e.g., chillers, fan coils and dehumidifiers) to direct these 

pieces of equipment. The controllers also provide a user interface on a screen so they can be easily programmed and 

controlled to achieve the customer’s environmental objectives, and give the cultivator the ability to access this data and 

react to alerts remotely. 

 

We have entered this business to satisfy our customer’s needs that we did not previously address and that 

historically was provided by third-party controls contractors. Our entry into the SCA market helps both our customers’ and 

our businesses. Our customers benefit because they are saved the extra work of finding and engaging a controls contractor, 

which allows them to get their facility up and running more quickly by taking one decision off the table and thereby 

establishing a single point of responsibility for controls implementation. We are also in a position to provide SCA because 

we know our proprietary equipment better than anyone, thereby ensuring smooth integration with our equipment with no 

work scope shortcomings, what we refer to as “scope gap.” 

 

From a tactical perspective, with limited incremental selling costs, our current sales team can now offer our SCA 

package to nearly every prospect since every cultivation facility should have SCA technology. We believe this technology 

value-added solution gives us an opportunity to achieve incremental project revenue. Strategically, through our SCA 

package, we are also able to deepen our long-term customer relationship by tethering us to the customer through a controls 

interface (dashboard) to their facility. Future development will allow our customer to use artificial intelligence (AI) by 

aggregating environment and growing data to optimize energy use, operating efficiency, and product quality and yield. 

While there are several other total controls systems providers, we believe that our industry know-how, experience and 

reputation with climate control environments gives us a compelling and competitive SCA offering. 
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Sales and Marketing 
 

Multi-Facility Operator (“MFO”) Focus 
 

Our sales and marketing efforts will continue to focus on MFOs. However, we face multiple sources of 

competition in our attempt to penetrate the MFO market. 
  

  ● First, some companies with multiple CEA facilities have internal staffs with the requisite expertise to 

manage their environmental control needs, and who are able to access and engage vendors for both 

engineering services and equipment without external help.  

  ● Second, some large, multi-state and multi-national engineering and construction firms, which have deep 

engineering and construction management experience and expertise, have entered or are entering the 

CEA market.  

  ● Third, we compete with other CEA service providers, that like us promote their specific industry 

expertise and experience.  

  ● Fourth, several larger, brand name HVACD equipment manufacturers are now pursuing the CEA market 

directly through their own sales forces. 
 

We believe we can compete in the MFO market for the following reasons: 
  

  ● We believe that MFOs value the expertise we have gained from many years of designing environmental 

control systems for enclosed cultivation facilities since 2016 and our expansion into other engineered 

products and services.  

  ● Unlike the local and regional engineering firms operating in the market, we have the capability and 

experience to perform work across the U.S. and Canada, thereby matching the facilities footprint of our 

MFO prospects.  

  ● We believe that the MFOs value the range of experience and expertise that our personnel provide. Our 

professional staff has expertise covering the gamut, including commercial agriculture, engineering and 

facility design, HVACD technology, applications and controls, energy efficiency, and sustainability.  

  ● We have deep networks with CEA cultivators, HVACD technical experts, AgTech experts, sustainability 

leaders, and agricultural resources that we can easily access and bring to bear for the benefit of our 

customers.  

  ● And finally, during 2019 and 2020 we did business with five MFOs, covering a total of ten projects with 

an average contract value of $1.3 million, providing important validation and enhancing our credibility 

in the eyes of other MFOs we are pursuing.  
 

Our ability to develop relationships with, and obtain new business from, other MFOs will be critical to generating 

consistent revenues quarter-over-quarter. During the first half of 2020, we experienced project delays and cancellations 

due to the Covid pandemic. Fortunately, our bookings rebounded in the second half, and we finished the 2020 year with 

$8.4 million of backlogged projects. Notwithstanding our efforts, there is no assurance that we will be successful in growing 

and maintaining our business with these MFOs, especially in light of the uncertainty surrounding the potential impact of 

the coronavirus on our business and the business of our customers and customer prospects. 
 

New Commercial-Scale Projects 
 

The demand for our environmental control systems is driven primarily by the construction of new CEA facilities 

in the U.S. and Canada. As the CEA industry expands, the cannabis cultivation segment is, in turn, driven by changed 

legislation approving either medical or recreational use. Recent regulatory changes involving medical and/or recreational 

cannabis use in various jurisdictions, such as California, Michigan, Oklahoma, Utah, Missouri, Illinois and Canada, tend 

to be a leading indicator for the granting of licenses for new facility construction. As more new cultivation facilities become 

licensed, we in turn have an expanded set of potential customers that might buy our environmental control systems. 

However, since both medical and recreational cannabis use remains prohibited under U.S. federal law, uncertainty 

continues and tends to unfavorably impact the development and financing of new cultivation facilities in the U.S. 
 

The following table sets forth our commercial-scale project bookings, which we define as contracts executed with 

a value over $100,000, for which we received an initial deposit for the years 2016 through 2020. Based on the current 

economic climate and our downsizing measures, there is no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain the level 

of bookings that we had in the past. 
  

    Number of New Commercial-Scale Project Bookings   

    2020     2019     2018     2017     2016   

                                          

Total ........................      12       23       22       18       18   
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Our marketing efforts will be targeted at MFOs, smaller independent growers, design-build firms, architects 

working in the CEA industry, investors and consulting firms operating in that space. We believe these represent the largest 

markets, based on the state and local regulatory framework, for our products and services. We believe our marketing efforts 

will be curtailed for the foreseeable future due to our efforts to preserve our cash resources as we deal with the uncertainty 

surrounding the coronavirus. 

 

Retrofit Market 

 

Existing commercial retrofit projects also represent a business opportunity in the CEA industry. The estimated 

3,000+ existing cannabis producing CEA facilities in North America are easier to identify than new build projects. We 

believe, based on evidence and our market knowledge, that some of these exiting facilities are operating sub-optimally and 

have environmental control problems that our products can help remediate. We also believe that the energy consumption 

of these facilities can be reduced, and we have commenced developing services and products to help them realize savings. 

We have a full product and service offering in mind, but we expect that the roll-out will take up to two years. To expedite 

this roll-out, we are evaluating possible strategic partners that could add products and services that are an immediate value-

add to our customers. These CEA facilities retrofit projects do not typically carry the uncertainties associated with new 

build projects such as licensing, permitting and funding. In the future, we also will potentially launch an internally 

developed facility assessment and analysis tool to assist existing facilities in solving their environmental controls 

challenges. 

 

New Build Facility Sales Cycle and Risks 

 

The sales cycles for our new build commercial projects can vary significantly. From pre-sales and technical 

advisory meetings to sales contract execution, to engineering and design services and equipment delivery, and all the way 

through installation and commissioning of the installed system, the full cycle can range from six months to two years. Since 

we do not install the climate control systems, our customers are required to use third-party installation contractors, which 

adds to the variability of the sales cycle. 

 

The length of our sales cycle for new facilities is driven by numerous factors including: 

  

  ● the large number of first-time participants interested in the CEA business; 

  ● the complexities and uncertainties involved in obtaining state and local licensure and permitting for 

certain types of CEA cultivation facilities, including relating to energy use, water use, and the 

environmental impacts of waste; 

  ● local and state government delays in approving licenses and permits due to lack of staff or the large 

number of pending applications, especially in states where there is no cap on the number of cultivators;  

  ● the customer’s need to obtain CEA cultivation facility financing and legal issues related to the crops 

sought to be grown;  

  ● the time needed, and coordination required, for our customers to acquire real estate and properly design 

and build the facility (to the stage where climate control systems can be installed); 

  ● the large price tag and technical complexities of the climate control and air sanitation system;  

  ● availability of power and the cost; and 

  ● delays that are typical in completing any commercial construction project. 

 

As a result of the foregoing, there are risks that we may not realize the full contract value of our backlog in a 

timely manner, or at all. The performance of our obligations under a sales contract, and the timing of our revenue 

recognition, is dependent upon our customers’ ability to secure funding and real estate, obtain a license and then build their 

cultivation facility so they can take possession of the equipment—each of which are outside of our control. More recently, 

as some of our new construction facility projects have become larger and more complex, the likelihood of delays—due to 

licensing and permitting, lack of or delay in funding, staged facility construction, and/or the shifting priorities of certain 

customers with multiple facility projects in progress at one time—has increased. 

 

In order to address these risks, the obligations under our sales contracts are generally allocated into the following 

types of deliverables, and we typically require non-refundable payments from our customers in advance of our performance 

of services or delivery of equipment. However, in certain situations, especially as we expand our products and services 

offering for a customer’s entire facility lifecycle, we may extend credit to our customers in which case we are at risk for 

the collection of account receivables. 
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Engineering Services. We provide our customers with engineering and design services and drawings. In many 

cases, the engineering phase is done as part of the license application or building permit process and takes approximately 

six to eight weeks to complete. Our strategy is to secure the sales contract and commence the engineering and design 

portion of the project early in the customer’s planning phase of the project. This is important for a number of reasons: (i) 

we can assist our customers with their engineering and design plans as part of their licensing application process as well as 

better assure the customer has the right-sized equipment for their application, leading to a higher probability of a successful 

grow, (ii) we are better positioned to utilize our proprietary equipment for the project at an earlier stage, and (iii) we are 

able to help reduce a customer’s time to market. Before we commence the engineering phase of the project, we will 

generally require an advanced payment intended to cover the engineering value of the contract. 

 

Surna Manufactured Equipment. Upon completion of the engineering and design phase, it may take our 

customer on average six to twelve months to complete the facility build-out, with possible delays due to financing or other 

aspects which are beyond our control as discussed above. Customer delays in obtaining financing and completing facility 

build-out make the completion timing of our sales contract unpredictable. For this reason, we require an additional advance 

payment before we begin manufacturing our proprietary equipment items. 

 

Third-Party Manufactured Equipment. The final phase of our contract typically involves the delivery of third-

party manufactured equipment items and other equipment to complete the project. We typically will not deliver until we 

receive a final advance payment for the remaining contract value. After the project is completed and the environmental 

control system has been fully installed by third-party installation contractors, we will deploy our technicians to the 

customer’s cultivation facility to support the start-up of the system. Start-up support involves testing that the equipment 

has been properly assembled and installed by the installation contractor and assuring the equipment is operating within the 

agreed specifications. 

 

Given the timing of the deliverables of our sales contracts, we have often experienced large variances in quarterly 

revenue. Our revenue recognition is dependent upon shipment of the equipment portions of our sales contracts, which, in 

many cases, may be delayed while our customers complete permitting, prepare their facilities for equipment installation or 

obtain project financing. 

 

Competition 

 

Our environmental control systems and our related engineering and design services compete with various national 

and local HVACD contractors and traditional HVACD equipment suppliers who traditionally resell, design, and implement 

climate control systems for commercial and industrial facilities, most of whom do not have the specific knowledge that we 

have about the complexities and challenges of CEA facilities. We have positioned ourselves to differ from these 

competitors by providing engineering and design services and environmental control systems, across most major HVACD 

solutions, including modular chilled water systems, custom air handling units, split systems, packaged roof-top units, and 

self-contained and complex chilled-water systems, each tailored specifically for managing the distinct challenges involved 

in CEA facilities. We believe our industry-specific applications and experience in the CEA market allow us to deliver the 

right solution to our cultivation customers. Unlike many of our competitors, our solutions are designed specifically for 

cultivators to provide tight temperature/humidity control, reduce bio-security risk, reduce energy requirements, and 

minimize maintenance complexity, costs and downtime. However, we are seeing more competitors enter into the CEA 

market offering the same types and crop-specific climate control systems and engineering services that we offer. We believe 

this increased competition may adversely impact our ability to obtain new facility projects from both MFOs and 

independent smaller growers and could require us to accept lower gross margins on our projects. 

 

As the cannabis segment of the CEA industry continues to mature and develop and legalization becomes more 

prevalent, we expect to see more competition from agricultural product and service providers who seek to expand into this 

niche of the CEA market. Going forward, we intend to expand our focus to include non-cannabis crops grown in controlled 

environments such as leafy greens (kale, Swiss chard, mustard, cress), microgreens (leafy greens harvested at the first true 

leaf stage), ethnic vegetables and small fruits (such as strawberries, blackberries and raspberries), bell peppers, cucumbers, 

and tomatoes. Companies already operating in the non-cannabis CEA industry may have longer operating histories, greater 

name recognition, larger client bases and significantly greater financial, technical, sales and marketing resources. These 

competitors may adopt more aggressive pricing policies and make more attractive offers to existing and potential clients, 

employees, strategic partners, distribution channels and advertisers. Increased competition is likely to result in price 

reductions, reduced gross margins and a potential loss of market share. 
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Intellectual Property 

 

We rely on a combination of patent and trademark rights, licenses, trade secrets, and laws that protect intellectual 

property, confidentiality procedures, and contractual restrictions with our employees and others to establish and protect 

our intellectual property rights. We have several issued patents and pending patent applications; however, we do not believe 

that these issued and pending patents currently provide us with any competitive advantage. We have registered trademark 

registrations around our core Surna brand (“Surna”) in the United States and select foreign jurisdictions, as well as the 

Surna logo and the combined Surna logo and name in the United States. Our trademark is also registered in the European 

Union and Canada. Subject to ongoing use and renewal, trademark protection is potentially perpetual. We actively protect 

our inventions, new technologies, and product developments by maintaining trade secrets and, in limited circumstances, 

filing for patent protection. 

 

Employees 

 

We currently have 26 active full-time employees and two part-time employees. However, we may engage, and 

have in the past utilized, the services of consultants, independent contractors, and other non-employee professionals. 

Additional employees may be hired in the future depending on need, available resources, and our achieved growth. 

 

Government Regulation 

 

U.S. Regulations 

 

While we do not generate any revenue from the direct sale of cannabis products, we have historically, and continue 

to, offer our services and engineering solutions to indoor cultivators that are engaged in various aspects of the cannabis 

industry. Marijuana is a Schedule I controlled substance and is illegal under federal law. Even in those states in which 

specific uses of marijuana has been legalized, such as medical marijuana or for adult recreational purpose, its use remains 

a violation of federal laws. 

 

A Schedule I controlled substance is defined as a substance that has no currently accepted medical use in the 

United States, a lack of safety for use under medical supervision and a high potential for abuse. The Department of Justice 

defines Schedule I controlled substances as “the most dangerous drugs of all the drug schedules with potentially severe 

psychological or physical dependence.” If the federal government decides to enforce the Controlled Substances Act with 

respect to cannabis, persons that are charged with distributing, possessing with intent to distribute, or growing cannabis 

could be subject to fines and terms of imprisonment, the maximum being life imprisonment and a $50 million fine. Any 

such change in the federal government’s enforcement of current federal laws could cause significant financial damage to 

us. While we do not intend to harvest, manufacture, distribute or sell cannabis or cannabis products, we may be irreparably 

harmed by a change in enforcement by the federal or state governments. 

 

Previously, the Obama administration took the position that it was not an efficient use of resources to direct federal 

law enforcement agencies to prosecute those lawfully abiding by state-designated laws allowing the use and distribution 

of medical marijuana. The Trump administration revised this policy but made no major changes in enforcement through 

Attorney General Sessions rescinding the Cole Memorandum. The Department of Justice will continue to enforce the 

Controlled Substances Act with respect to cannabis under established principles in setting their law enforcement priorities 

to prevent: 

  

  ● the distribution of cannabis products, such as marijuana, to minors; 

  ● criminal enterprises, gangs and cartels receiving revenue from the sale of cannabis; 

  ● the diversion of cannabis products from states where it is legal under state law to other states; 

  ● state-authorized cannabis activity from being used as a cover or pretext for the trafficking of other illegal 

drugs or other illegal activity; 

  ● violence and the use of firearms in the cultivation and distribution of cannabis products; 

  ● driving while impaired and the exacerbation of other adverse public health consequences associated with 

cannabis product usage; 

  ● the growing of cannabis on public lands; and 

  ● cannabis possession or use on federal property. 

 

Since the use of marijuana is illegal under federal law, most federally chartered banks will not accept deposit 

funds from businesses involved with marijuana. Consequently, businesses involved in the marijuana industry generally 

bank with state-chartered banks and credit unions to provide banking to the industry. 
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In 2014, Congress passed a spending bill containing a provision (the Rohrabacher-Farr amendment, now referred 

to as the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment) blocking federal funds and resources allocated under the 2015 

appropriations bill from being used to “prevent such States from implementing their own State medical marijuana laws.” 

The Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment, however, did not codify any federal protections for medical marijuana patients 

and producers operating within state law. The Justice Department maintains that it can still prosecute violations of the 

federal cannabis laws and continue cases already in the courts. The Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment must be re-

enacted every year, and it was continued for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020, and currently remains in effect. The 

continued re-authorization of the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment cannot be assured. If the Rohrabacher-

Blumenauer Amendment is no longer in effect, the risk of federal enforcement and override of state marijuana use and 

cannabis related laws would increase. However, state laws do not supersede the prohibitions set forth in the federal drug 

laws. 

 

In order to participate in either the medical or the adult use aspects of the cannabis industry, all businesses and 

employees must obtain licenses from the state and, for businesses, local jurisdictions as well. As an example, Colorado 

issues four types of business licenses including cultivation, manufacturing, dispensing, and testing. In addition, all owners 

and employees must obtain an occupational license to be permitted to own or work in a facility. All applicants for licenses 

undergo a background investigation, including a criminal record check for all owners and employees. 

 

Colorado has also enacted stringent regulations governing the facilities and operations of cannabis businesses that 

are involved with the plant and its products. All facilities are required to be licensed by the state and local authorities and 

are subject to comprehensive security and surveillance requirements. In addition, each facility is subject to extensive 

regulations that govern its businesses practices, which includes mandatory seed-to-sale tracking and reporting, health and 

sanitary standards, packaging and labeling requirements, and product testing for potency and contaminants. 

 

Laws and regulations affecting the medical marijuana industry are constantly changing, which could detrimentally 

affect our proposed operations. Local, state and federal medical marijuana laws and regulations are broad in scope and 

subject to evolving interpretations, which could require us to incur substantial costs associated with compliance or alter 

our business plan. In addition, violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our business and 

result in a material adverse effect on our operations. It is also possible that regulations may be enacted in the future that 

will be directly applicable to our business. We cannot predict the nature of any future laws, regulations, interpretations or 

applications, nor can we determine what effect additional governmental regulations or administrative policies and 

procedures, when and if promulgated, could have on our business. 

 

Canadian Regulations 

 

Summary of the Cannabis Act 

 

On October 17, 2018, the Cannabis Act came into force as law with the effect of legalizing adult recreational use 

of cannabis across Canada. The Cannabis Act replaced the Access to Cannabis for Medicinal Purposes Regulations 

(“ACMPR”) and the Industrial Hemp Regulations, both of which came into force under the Controlled Drugs and 

Substances Act (Canada) (the “CDSA”), which previously permitted access to cannabis for medical purposes for only those 

Canadians who had been authorized to use cannabis by their health care practitioner. The ACMPR replaced the Marihuana 

for Medical Purposes Regulations (Canada) (the “MMPR”), which was implemented in June 2013. The MMPR replaced 

the Marihuana Medical Access Regulations (Canada) (the “MMAR”) which was implemented in 2001. The MMPR and 

MMAR were initial steps in the Government of Canada’s legislative path towards the eventual legalization and regulating 

recreational and medical cannabis. 

 

The Cannabis Act permits the recreational adult use of cannabis and regulates the production, distribution and 

sale of cannabis and related oil extracts in Canada, for both recreational and medical purposes. Under the Cannabis Act, 

Canadians who are authorized by their health care practitioner to use medical cannabis have the option of purchasing 

cannabis from one of the producers licensed by Health Canada and are also able to register with Health Canada to produce 

a limited amount of cannabis for their own medical purposes or to designate an individual who is registered with Health 

Canada to produce cannabis on their behalf for personal medical purposes. 

 

Pursuant to the Cannabis Act, subject to provincial regulations, individuals over the age of 18 are able to purchase 

fresh cannabis, dried cannabis, cannabis oil, and cannabis plants or seeds and are able to legally possess up to 30 grams of 

dried cannabis, or the equivalent amount in fresh cannabis or cannabis oil. The Cannabis Act also permits households to 

grow a maximum of four cannabis plants. This limit applies regardless of the number of adults that reside in the household. 

In addition, the Cannabis Act provides provincial and municipal governments the authority to prescribe regulations 

regarding retail and distribution, as well as the ability to alter some of the existing baseline requirements of the Cannabis 

Act, such as increasing the minimum age for purchase and consumption. 
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Provincial and territorial governments in Canada have made varying announcements on the proposed regulatory 

regimes for the distribution and sale of cannabis for adult-use purposes. For example, Québec, New Brunswick, Nova 

Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Yukon and the Northwest Territories have chosen the government-regulated model for 

distribution, whereas Saskatchewan and Newfoundland & Labrador have opted for a private sector approach. Alberta, 

Ontario, Manitoba, Nunavut and British Columbia have announced plans to pursue a hybrid approach of public and private 

sale and distribution. 

 

In connection with the new framework for regulating cannabis in Canada, the federal government has introduced 

new penalties under the Criminal Code (Canada), including penalties for the illegal sale of cannabis, possession of cannabis 

over the prescribed limit, production of cannabis beyond personal cultivation limits, taking cannabis across the Canadian 

border, giving or selling cannabis to a youth and involving a youth to commit a cannabis-related offence. 

 

On July 11, 2018, the Canadian federal government published regulations in the Canada Gazette to support the 

Cannabis Act, including the Cannabis Regulations, the new Industrial Hemp Regulations, along with proposed amendments 

to the Narcotic Control Regulations and certain regulations under the Food and Drugs Act (Canada). The Industrial Hemp 

Regulations and the Cannabis Regulations, among other things, outline the rules for the legal cultivation, processing, 

research, analytical testing, distribution, sale, importation and exportation of cannabis and hemp in Canada, including the 

various classes of licenses that can be granted, and set standards for cannabis and hemp products. The Industrial Hemp 

Regulations and the Cannabis Regulations include strict specifications for the plain packaging and labelling and analytical 

testing of all cannabis products as well as stringent physical and personnel security requirements for all federally licensed 

production sites. The Industrial Hemp Regulations and the Cannabis Regulations also maintain a distinct system for access 

to cannabis. With the Cannabis Act now in force, cannabis has ceased to be regulated under the CDSA and is instead 

regulated under the Cannabis Act, and both the ACMPR and the Industrial Hemp Regulations have been repealed effective 

October 17, 2018. 

 

Additional regulations were added in October 2019 governing the legal production and sale of three classes of 

cannabis, edibles, extracts and topicals. A processing license will be required in order to manufacture, package and label 

cannabis edibles, extracts and topicals to consumers. The licensing also has quality control and testing requirements for 

production to prevent contamination and address the risk of foodborne illness associated with cannabis. Cannabis products 

will have THC and cannabidiol limits per unit. 

 

Security Clearances 

 

The Cannabis Regulations require that certain people associated with cannabis licensees, including individuals 

occupying a “key position” directors, officers, large shareholders and individuals identified by the Minister of Health, must 

hold a valid security clearance issued by the Minister of Health. Officers and directors of a parent corporation must be 

security cleared. 

 

Under the Cannabis Regulations, the Minister of Health may refuse to grant security clearances to individuals 

with associations to organized crime or with past convictions for, or an association with, drug trafficking, corruption or 

violent offences. Individuals who have histories of nonviolent, lower-risk criminal activity (for example, simple possession 

of cannabis, or small-scale cultivation of cannabis plants) are not precluded from participating in the legal cannabis 

industry, and the grant of security clearance to such individuals is at the discretion of the Minister of Health and such 

applications will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 

 

Cannabis Tracking System 

 

Under the Cannabis Act, the Minister of Health is authorized to establish and maintain a national cannabis tracking 

system. The Cannabis Regulations set out a national cannabis tracking system to track cannabis throughout the supply 

chain to help prevent diversion of cannabis into, and out of, the illicit market. The Cannabis Regulations also provides the 

Minister of Health with the authority to make a ministerial order that would require certain persons named in such order to 

report specific information about their authorized activities with cannabis, in the form and manner specified by the Minister 

of Health. 

 

Cannabis Products 

 

The Cannabis Regulations set out the requirements for the sale of cannabis products at the retail level permit the 

sale of dried cannabis, cannabis oil, fresh cannabis, cannabis plants, and cannabis seeds, including in such forms as “pre-

rolled” and in capsules. The THC and cannabidiol content and serving size of cannabis products is limited by the Cannabis 

Regulations. These regulations also cover labelling and packaging regulation and extensive prohibitions on representations 

that may be made with respect to cannabis products covering areas such as health and cosmetic benefits, nutrition, 

comparisons to alcoholic beverages and diet benefits and dietary requirements.  
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Available Information 

 

Our website address is www.surna.com. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, 

Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

(the “SEC”). Such reports and other information filed by us with the SEC are available free of charge through our website 

when such reports are available on the SEC’s website. 

 

The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information 

regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. 

 

The contents of the websites referred to above are not incorporated into this filing. Further, references to the URLs 

for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only. 

 

Item 1A. Risk Factors 

 

Investing in our common stock involves significant risks. Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on 

our business, financial condition, and results of operations. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties 

described below, in addition to other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our 

consolidated financial statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we 

face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also 

become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, 

financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, 

the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. 

 

Risks Relating to Our Business 

 

Our revenues have been limited, and we will need to obtain financing for future growth, and possibly our 

operations, which may not be available to us and could dilute the ownership of current shareholders. 

 

Historically, we have raised equity and debt capital to support our operations. We anticipate we will require 

additional cash resources to finance our growth or other future developments, including the launch of any new products 

and services and any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue. As of December 31, 2020, we had a working 

capital deficit of approximately $2,220,000 and our cash balance was $2,285,000. We are likely to need additional funds 

to complete further development of our business plan to achieve a sustainable sales level where ongoing operations can be 

funded from operations. We currently have one debt obligation, a loan from our bank of $514,200 provided in February of 

2021, which we expect will be forgiven in full. We will likely need to raise debt or equity financing in the future in order 

to continue our operations and achieve our growth targets. However, there can be no assurance that such financing will be 

available in sufficient amounts and on acceptable terms, when and if needed, or at all. The precise amount and timing of 

our funding needs cannot be determined accurately at this time, and will depend on a number of factors, including market 

demand for our products and services, the success of our product development efforts, the timing of receipts for customer 

payments, the management of working capital, and the continuation of normal payment terms and conditions for our 

purchase of goods and services. The continuation of normal payment terms and conditions with our customers and 

suppliers, including our ability to obtain advance payments from our customers, significantly impacts our ability to fund 

our ongoing operations. We believe our cash balances and cash flow from operations will be insufficient to fund our 

operations and growth for the next 12 months. 

 

To the extent that we raise additional equity capital, existing shareholders will experience a dilution in the voting 

power and ownership of their common stock, and earnings per share, if any, would be negatively impacted. Our inability 

to use our equity securities to finance our operations could materially limit our growth. Any borrowings made to finance 

operations, which are difficult to obtain from most traditional banks due to the federal laws prohibiting cannabis use, could 

make us more vulnerable to a downturn in our operating results, a downturn in economic conditions, or increases in interest 

rates on borrowings that are subject to interest rate fluctuations. The amount and timing of such additional financing needs 

will vary principally depending on the timing of new product launches, investments and/or acquisitions, and the amount of 

cash flow from our operations. If our resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek to issue 

additional equity or debt securities or obtain a credit facility. 
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The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted, and may continue to adversely impact, the Company’s 

operations and financial results. 

 

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant economic uncertainty and disruption. The extent to which 

our business and financial results are impacted will depend on numerous evolving factors which are uncertain and cannot 

be predicted, including: the duration and scope of the pandemic; governmental, business and individuals’ actions taken in 

response; the effect on our customers and customers’ demand for our services and products; the effect on our suppliers and 

disruptions to the global supply chain; our ability to sell and manufacture our products; disruptions to our operations 

resulting from the illness of any of our employees; restrictions or disruptions to transportation, including reduced 

availability of ground or air transport; the ability of our customers to pay for our services and products; and any closures 

of our facilities, our suppliers’ facilities, and our customers’ facilities. The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have resulted 

and will result in additional expenses and lost or delayed revenue. We have been experiencing disruptions to our business 

as we implement modifications to travel, work locations and cancellation of events, among other modifications. In addition, 

the change in macroeconomic conditions may impact the proper functioning of financial and capital markets, foreign 

currency exchange rates, commodity and energy prices, and interest rates. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, 

we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our business and financial results due to any economic recession or 

depression that occurs, and due to any major public health crises that may occur in the future. 

 

Although our current accounting estimates contemplate current and expected future conditions, as applicable, it 

is reasonably possible that actual conditions could differ from our expectations, which could materially affect our results 

of operations and financial position. In particular, a number of estimates have been and will continue to be affected by the 

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The severity, magnitude and duration, as well as the economic consequences of the COVID-

19 pandemic, are uncertain, rapidly changing and difficult to predict. As a result, our accounting estimates and assumptions 

may change over time in response to COVID-19. Such changes could result in future impairments of goodwill, intangible 

assets, long-lived assets, incremental credit losses on accounts receivable, or excess and obsolete inventory. Any of these 

events could amplify the other risks and uncertainties described in in this Annual Report and could have an adverse effect 

on our business and financial results. 

 

Our independent registered public accounting firm has expressed substantial doubt about our ability to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

We have determined that our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on raising additional capital to 

fund our operations and ultimately on generating future profits. Our independent registered public accounting firm has also 

included a “going concern” explanatory paragraph in its opinion on our financial statements, expressing substantial doubt 

that we can continue as an ongoing business for the next 12 months. Our financial statements do not include any adjustments 

that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty. If we are unable to successfully raise the capital we need, we may 

need to and believe we can reduce the scope of our business to fully satisfy our future short-term liquidity requirements. If 

we cannot raise additional capital or reduce the scope of our business, we may be otherwise unable to achieve our goals or 

continue our operations. While we believe that we will be able to raise the capital we need to continue our operations, there 

can be no assurances that we will be successful in these efforts or will be able to resolve our liquidity issues or eliminate 

our operating losses. 

 

Even if we obtain more customers, there is no assurance that we will be able to convert our backlog into revenue 

or make a profit. 

 

We may be unable to convert the full contract value of our backlog in a timely manner, or at all. The performance 

of our obligations under a sales contract, and the timing of our revenue recognition, is dependent upon our customers’ 

ability to secure funding and real estate, obtain a license and then build their cultivation facility so they can take possession 

of the equipment. Our sales contracts currently are not time specific as to when our customers are required to take delivery 

of our services and equipment. More recently, we determined that some of our new construction facility projects are 

becoming larger and more complex and, as a result, delays were more likely due to licensing and permitting, lack of or 

delay in funding, staged facility construction, and/or the shifting priorities of certain customers with multiple facility 

projects in progress at one time. Even if we obtain more customers, or increase the average size of our projects, there is no 

guarantee that we will be able to generate a profit. Because we are a small company with limited capital, limited products 

and services, and limited marketing activities, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to operate profitably. If 

we cannot operate profitably, we may have to suspend or cease operations. 
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We may extend credit to our customers in the future and, if we are unable to collect these accounts receivable, 

our future profitability could be adversely impacted. 

 

Historically, we had little exposure to the collection risk on accounts receivable since we typically received 

payments from our customers in advance of our performance of services or delivery of equipment. However, in certain 

situations, especially as we expand our products and services offering for a customer’s entire facility lifecycle, we may 

extend credit to our customers in which case we are at risk for the collection of account receivables. Accordingly, we will 

be at greater risk for the collection of account receivables. Our credit arrangements are negotiated and may not protect us 

if a customer develops operational difficulty or incurs operating losses which could lead to a bankruptcy. In these cases, 

we may lose most of the outstanding balance due. In addition, we are typically not able to insure our accounts receivables. 

The risk is that we derive our revenue and profits from selling products and services to the emerging cannabis industry. 

The failure of our customers to pay in full amounts due to us could negatively affect future profitability. 

 

Because we currently do not maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, we may be unable to 

accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud, and investor confidence and the market price of our common 

stock may, therefore, be adversely impacted. 

 

Our reporting obligations as a public company place a significant strain on our management, operational and 

financial resources, and systems, and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future. Annually, we are required to prepare 

a management report on our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. 

Management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is currently not effective and shall report such 

in management’s report in this annual report on Form 10-K. In the event that our status with the SEC changes to that of an 

accelerated filer from a smaller reporting company, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to 

attest to and report on our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. 

Under such circumstances, even if our management concludes that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, 

our independent registered public accounting firm may still decline to attest to our management’s assessment, or may issue 

a report that is qualified, if it is not satisfied with our controls, or the level at which our controls are documented, designed, 

operated or reviewed, or if it interprets the relevant requirements differently from us. 

 

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and, if we do not 

remediate the material weakness or are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial 

reporting in the future, the accuracy and timeliness of our financial reporting may be adversely affected. 

 

We currently do not maintain effective controls over certain aspects of the financial reporting process because: (i) 

we lack a sufficient complement of personnel with a level of accounting expertise and an adequate supervisory review 

structure that is commensurate with our financial reporting requirements, (ii) there is inadequate segregation of duties due 

to the limitation on the number of our accounting personnel, and (iii) we have insufficient controls and processes in place 

to adequately verify the accuracy and completeness of spreadsheets that we use for a variety of purposes including revenue, 

taxes, stock-based compensation and other areas, and place significant reliance on, for our financial reporting. A material 

weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a 

reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be 

prevented or detected on a timely basis. If we are unable to achieve effective internal control over financial reporting, or if 

our independent registered public accounting firm determines we continue to have a material weakness in our internal 

control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial 

reports, the market price of our shares could decline, and our reputation may be damaged. 

 

Our inability to effectively manage our growth could harm our business and materially and adversely affect 

our operating results and financial condition. 

 

Our strategy envisions growing our business and expanding within the CEA industry. We plan to expand our 

product, sales, administrative and marketing operations. Any growth in or expansion of our business is likely to continue 

to place a strain on our management and administrative resources, infrastructure and systems. As with other growing 

businesses, we expect that we will need to further refine and expand our business development capabilities, our systems 

and processes and our access to financing sources. We also will need to hire, train, supervise, and manage new employees. 

These processes are time consuming and expensive, will increase management responsibilities and will divert management 

attention. We cannot assure that we will be able to: 

  

  ● execute on our business plan and strategy; 

  ● expand our products effectively or efficiently or in a timely manner; 

  ● allocate our human resources optimally; 

  ● meet our capital needs; 

  ● identify and hire qualified employees or retain valued employees; or 
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  ● execute on our business plan and strategy; 

  
● effectively incorporate the components of any business or product line that we may acquire in our effort 

to achieve growth. 

 

Our inability or failure to manage our growth and expansion effectively could harm our business and materially 

and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. 

 

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly based on customer acceptance of our products, industry 

uncertainty, project financing concerns, and the licensing and qualification of our prospective customers. As a result, 

period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are unlikely to provide a good indication of our future 

performance. 

 

Management expects that, under typical operating conditions, we will experience substantial variations in our 

revenues and operating results from quarter to quarter. Our revenue recognition is dependent upon shipment of the 

equipment portions of our sales contracts, which, in many cases, may be delayed while our customers complete permitting, 

prepare their facilities for equipment installation or obtain project financing. Industry uncertainty, project financing 

concerns, and the licensing and qualification of our prospective customers, which are out of our control, make it difficult 

for us to predict when we will recognize revenue. If customers are unable to obtain licensing, permitting or financing, our 

sales and revenue will decline, resulting in a reduction in our operating income or possible increase in losses. Also, because 

of the coronavirus responses and our own cost savings actions, we cannot predict the course of our revenues and operating 

results with accuracy at this time. 

 

Our business is focused on providing engineering design, and equipment integration into CEA facilities. We 

believe the majority of our revenues in the periods covered by this report have been generated from clients that operate 

in the legal cannabis industry in the United States and Canada. 

 

Although we are implementing a plan to broaden our market reach beyond the legal cannabis industry and are 

placing sales efforts on expansion into the rapidly growing non-cannabis CEA vertical farming segment, we continue to 

provide the majority of our facility engineering design and equipment integration and solutions to facilities in the legal 

cannabis industry. 

 

Now that the non-cannabis CEA segment is gaining strong momentum in the agricultural industry, and since 

almost all of the equipment systems that we sell originate in the general horticulture industry and are agnostic to the crop 

grown in a facility, we believe that the proportion of non-cannabis revenues will increase over time, commensurate with 

our sales efforts and success. Notwithstanding our expansion plans, a decrease in demand in the legal cannabis industry 

could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and the success of our business. 

 

The cannabis industry has been an emerging industry over the last several years, and cannabis has only been 

legalized in some states and remains illegal in other states and under U.S. federal law, making it difficult to accurately 

forecast the demand for our engineering and product solutions in this specific industry. Losing clients from the cannabis 

industry may have a material adverse effect on our revenues and the success of our business. 

 

The cannabis industry is still in its early stages of development in the United States and has only been legalized 

in some states and remains illegal in other states and under U.S. federal law, making it difficult to accurately predict and 

forecast the demand for our engineering and product solutions. If the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) did take action 

against the cannabis industry, we believe those of our clients operating in the legal cannabis industry would be lost to us. 

 

In our operations, we rely heavily upon the various U.S. federal governmental memos issued in the past, including 

the memorandum issued by the DOJ on October 19, 2009, known as the “Ogden Memorandum”, the memorandum issued 

by the DOJ on August 29, 2013, known as the “Cole Memorandum” and other guidance, in the attempt to keep our 

operations acceptable to those state and federal entities that regulate, enforce, or choose to defer enforcement of certain 

current regulations regarding cannabis. By doing this, we seek to avoid the many possible consequences of providing grow 

equipment to the cannabis industry as our customers continue to comply with their state and local jurisdictional laws, rules 

and regulations and the interpretations of relevant authorities. 

 

The legal cannabis industry is not yet well-developed, and many aspects of this industry’s development and 

evolution cannot be accurately predicted, and therefore, the loss of any of our current clients or our inability to capture new 

client contracts may have a material adverse effect on our business. While we have attempted to identify our business risks 

in the legal cannabis industry, you should carefully consider that there are other risks that cannot be foreseen or are not 

described in this prospectus, which could materially and adversely affect our business and financial performance. 
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There is heightened scrutiny by Canadian regulatory authorities related to the cannabis industry. 
 

We seek customers in the CEA Canadian market, some of which are cannabis growers. Therefore, our existing 

and future operations may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by those regulators and other authorities in Canada 

that oversee the cannabis industry. As a result, we may become subject to direct and indirect interaction with public officials 

in one or both the United States and Canada. No assurance can be provided that any heightened scrutiny will not in turn 

lead to the imposition of restrictions on our ability to operate in the United States or Canada, in addition to those described 

herein. 
 

If we do not successfully develop additional products and services, or if such products and services are 

developed but not successfully commercialized, we could lose revenue opportunities. 
 

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to expand our product and service offerings. We are currently 

investigating a number of new and improved product opportunities, and we intend to collaborate with manufacturing 

partners to optimize these products for the cannabis market. The processes of identifying and commercializing new 

products is complex and uncertain, and if we fail to accurately predict customers’ changing needs and emerging 

technological trends our business could be harmed. We have already and may have to continue to commit significant 

resources to commercializing new products before knowing whether our investments will result in products the market will 

accept. We may be unable to differentiate our new products from those of our competitors, and our new products may not 

be accepted by the market. There can be no assurance that we will successfully identify additional new product 

opportunities, develop and bring new products to market in a timely manner, or achieve market acceptance of our products 

or that products and technologies developed by others will not render our products or technologies obsolete or 

noncompetitive. Furthermore, we may not execute successfully on commercializing those products because of errors in 

product planning or timing, technical hurdles that we fail to overcome in a timely fashion, or a lack of appropriate resources. 

This could result in competitors providing those solutions before we do and a reduction in revenue and earnings. 
 

Our future success depends on our ability to grow and expand our customer base. Our failure to achieve such 

growth or expansion could materially harm our business. 
 

Our success and the planned growth and expansion of our business depend on us achieving greater and broader 

acceptance of our products and services and expanding our commercial customer base. There can be no assurance our sales 

efforts will be successful. There can be no assurance that customers will purchase our services or products or that we will 

continue to expand our customer base. If we are unable to effectively market or expand our product and service offerings, 

we will be unable to grow and expand our business or implement our business strategy. This could materially impair our 

ability to increase sales and revenue, and materially and adversely affect our margins, which could harm our business and 

cause our stock price to decline. 
 

Our suppliers could fail to fulfill our orders for parts used to assemble our products, which would disrupt our 

business, increase our costs, harm our reputation, and potentially cause us to lose our market. 
 

We depend on third party suppliers around the world, including in The People’s Republic of China, for materials 

used to assemble our products. These suppliers could fail to produce products to our specifications or in a workmanlike 

manner and may not deliver the material or products on a timely basis. Our suppliers may also have to obtain inventories 

of the necessary parts and tools for production. Any change in our suppliers’ approach to resolving production issues could 

disrupt our ability to fulfill orders and could also disrupt our business due to delays in finding new suppliers, providing 

specifications and testing initial production. 
 

International trade disputes could result in tariffs and other protectionist measures that could adversely affect 

the Company’s business. 
 

Tariffs could increase the cost of our products and the components and raw materials that go into making them. 

These increased costs could adversely impact the gross margin that we earn on sales of our products. Tariffs could also 

make our products more expensive for customers, which could make our products less competitive and reduce customer 

demand. Countries may also adopt other protectionist measures that could limit our ability to offer our products and 

services. 
 

Our inability to effectively protect our intellectual property would adversely affect our ability to compete 

effectively, our revenue, our financial condition, and our results of operations. 
 

We may be unable to obtain intellectual property rights to effectively protect our branding, products, and other 

intangible assets. Our ability to compete effectively may be affected by the nature and breadth of our intellectual property 

rights. While we intend to defend against any threats to our intellectual property rights, there can be no assurance that any 

such actions will adequately protect our interests. If we are unable to secure intellectual property rights to effectively protect 

our branding, products, and other intangible assets, our revenue and earnings, financial condition, or results of operations 

could be adversely affected.  
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We also rely on non-disclosure and non-competition agreements to protect portions of our intellectual property 

portfolio. There can be no assurance that these agreements will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for 

any breach, that third parties will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or proprietary knowledge, or that third 

parties will not independently develop competitive products with similar intellectual property. 

 

We may become subject to additional regulation of CEA facilities. 

 

Our engineering and design services and solutions are focused on CEA facilities that are able to grow a wide 

variety of crops such as leafy greens (kale, Swiss chard, mustard, cress), microgreens (leafy greens harvested at the first 

true leaf stage), ethnic vegetables and small fruits (such as strawberries, blackberries and raspberries), bell peppers, 

cucumbers, and tomatoes. Some of these crops and their growing methodologies are subject to regulation by the United 

States Food and Drug Administration, environmental agencies, public utility agencies and other federal, state or foreign 

agencies. Changes to any regulations and laws that complicate the design and engineering of a subject CEA facility, such 

as waste water treatment and electricity-related mandates, make it possible that potential related zoning and enforcement 

could decrease the demand for our services, and in turn negatively impact our revenues and business opportunities. 

 

The CEA industry is highly competitive, and we have less capital and resources than many of our competitors, 

which may give them an advantage in developing and marketing products similar to ours or make our products obsolete. 

 

There are many competitors in the CEA industry, including some companies that focus on the cannabis industry. 

These companies generally offer products and services similar or the same as those offered by us. There can be no 

guarantees that in the future other companies will not enter this arena by developing products that are in direct competition 

with us or even superior in quality or price. The barriers to entry into the CEA industry are not overly significant. Over 

time we anticipate growth in our competition. Some of our current and future competition may have longer operating 

histories, greater name recognition, larger client bases and significantly greater financial, technical, sales and marketing 

resources. One or more of these qualities may allow them to respond more quickly than us to market opportunities. They 

may be able to devote greater resources to the marketing, promotion and sale of their products and/or services. Competitors 

may also adopt more aggressive pricing policies and make more attractive offers to clients, employees, strategic partners, 

distribution channels and advertisers. Increased competition is likely to result in price reductions, reduced gross margins 

and a potential loss of market share. 

 

While we believe we are better positioned to meet the exacting demands of a cannabis cultivation environment 

through precise temperature, humidity, light, and process controls and to satisfy the evolving code and regulatory 

requirements being imposed at the state and local levels, there can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully 

compete against these other contractors and suppliers. 

 

We will be required to attract and retain top quality talent to compete in the marketplace. 

 

We believe our future growth and success will depend in part on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled 

managerial, product development, sales and marketing, and finance personnel. Our ability to attract and retain personnel 

with the requisite credentials, experience and skills will depend on several factors including, but not limited to, our ability 

to offer competitive wages, benefits and professional growth opportunities. There can be no assurance of success in 

attracting and retaining such personnel. Shortages in qualified personnel could limit our ability to increase sales of existing 

products and services and launch new product and service offerings. 

 

We are dependent upon certain key sales, managerial and executive personnel for our future success. If we 

lose any of our key personnel, our ability to implement our business strategy could be significantly harmed. 

 

We depend on the industry knowledge, technical and financial skill, and network of business contacts of certain 

key employees. Our future success will depend on the continued service of these key employees or our ability to engage 

others who are similarly situated in the industry. While we may have employment agreements with certain of these key 

employees, they are free to terminate their employment with us at any time, although they may be subject to certain 

restrictive covenants on their post-termination activities. We do not carry key-man life insurance on the lives of our key 

employees. The departure of any one of our key employees could have a material adverse effect on our ability to achieve 

our business objective and maintain the specialized services that we offer our customers. 
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System security risks, data protection breaches, cyber-attacks and systems integration issues could disrupt our 

internal operations or services provided to customers, and any such disruption could reduce our expected revenue, 

increase our expenses, damage our reputation and adversely affect our stock price. 

 

Experienced computer programmers and hackers may be able to penetrate our network security and 

misappropriate or compromise our confidential information or that of third parties, create system disruptions or cause 

shutdowns. Computer programmers and hackers also may be able to develop and deploy viruses, worms, and other 

malicious software programs that attack or otherwise exploit any security vulnerabilities of the products that we may sell 

in the future, especially our recently launched SentryIQ® sensors, controls and automation platform. The costs to us to 

eliminate or alleviate cyber or other security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs and security 

vulnerabilities could be significant, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful and could result in 

interruptions, delays, cessation of service and loss of existing or potential customers that may impede our engineering, 

sales, manufacturing, distribution or other critical functions. 

 

Portions of our IT infrastructure may also experience interruptions, delays or cessations of service or produce 

errors in connection with systems integration or migration work that takes place from time to time. We may not be 

successful in implementing new systems and transitioning data, which could cause business disruptions and be more 

expensive, time consuming, disruptive and resource intensive. Such disruptions could adversely impact our ability to fulfill 

orders and interrupt other processes. Delayed sales, lower profits, or lost customers resulting from these disruptions could 

adversely affect our financial results, stock price and reputation. 

 

We incur significant costs as a result of being a public company, which will make it more difficult for us to 

achieve profitability. 

 

As a public company, we incur legal, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated with the periodic 

reporting requirements applicable to a company whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act, as well as 

additional corporate governance requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and other rules 

implemented by the SEC. These costs will make it more difficult for us to achieve profitability. 

 

Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to limitations. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has U.S. federal and state net operating losses (“NOLs”) of approximately 

$19,322,000, of which $11,196,261 will expire, if not utilized, in the years 2034 through 2037, however, NOLs generated 

subsequent to December 31, 2017 do not expire but may only be used against taxable income to 80%. In response to the 

novel coronavirus COVID-19, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act temporarily repealed the 80% 

limitation for NOLs arising in 2018, 2019 and 2020. It is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the 

newly enacted federal tax law. In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”), and corresponding provisions of state law, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” which is generally 

defined as a greater than 50% change, by value, in its equity ownership over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability 

to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change income 

or taxes may be limited. We have experienced ownership changes in the past and we may experience additional ownership 

changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which may be outside of our control. 

If an ownership change occurs and our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards is materially limited, it would 

harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations. 

 

Risks Related to the Cannabis Industry 

 

U.S. federal laws, regulations and enforcement may adversely affect the implementation of state and local 

cannabis laws and regulations and, correspondingly, may adversely impact our customers. Such impact may negatively 

affect our revenue and profits, or we may be found to be in violation of the Controlled Substances Act or other U.S. 

federal, state or local laws. 

 

Currently, a majority of the states and the District of Columbia permit some form of whole-plant cannabis use and 

cultivation either for medical or recreational use. There are efforts in other states to begin permitting cannabis use and/or 

cultivation in various contexts, and there are a number of states actively considering bills to permit recreational use. 

Nevertheless, the U.S. federal law continues to prohibit cannabis in all its forms as well as its derivatives. Under the federal 

Controlled Substances Act (the “CSA”), the policy and regulations of the U.S. federal government and its agencies is that 

marihuana (cannabis), or its more commonly spelled name marijuana, has no currently accepted medical use and a high 

potential for abuse, and a range of activities, including cultivation and use of marijuana, is prohibited. 
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In December of 2018, the Agricultural Improvement Act of 2018 (the “2018 Farm Act”) was enacted into law 

which included an amendment to wholly remove “hemp” from the CSA and defined “hemp” as all parts of a cannabis plant 

containing less than 0.3% of tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) thereby excluding hemp and its derivatives, including hemp-

derived cannabidiol (“CBD”) oil, as a “controlled substance.” Under the 2018 Farm Act, the cultivation of hemp is no 

longer prohibited under federal law. Further, although hemp-derived CBD is now federally legal under the 2018 Farm Act, 

the U.S. Food and Drug Administration has regulatory oversight on the use of hemp-derived CBD in food, beverage and 

dietary products as well as any medical or therapeutic claims related thereto. Cannabis-derived CBD oil remains federally 

illegal in the U.S. However, state laws vary on the permitted sale and use of both hemp-and cannabis-derived CBD oil. 

 

In January 2021, the U.S. Department of Agriculture adopted a Final Rule addressing hemp producer licensing, 

recordkeeping, procedures for sampling and testing THC concentrations and harvesting procedures. The Rule was set to 

become effective on March 22, 2021. However, on January 20, 2021, the new administration instituted a regulatory freeze 

pending review for published rules that are not yet effective. The final rule requires all laboratories testing for THC 

concentration to be registered with the Drug Enforcement Agency. 

 

Until Congress amends the CSA or the executive branch de-schedules or reschedules marijuana under it, there is 

a risk that federal authorities may enforce current federal law. Enforcement of the CSA by federal authorities could impair 

our revenue and earnings, and it could even force us to cease operating entirely in the cannabis industry. The risk of strict 

federal enforcement of the CSA in light of congressional activity, judicial holdings and stated federal policy, including 

enforcement priorities, remains uncertain. 

 

In an effort to provide guidance to federal law enforcement, the U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) issued 

Guidance Regarding Marijuana Enforcement to all United States Attorneys in a memorandum from Deputy Attorney 

General David Ogden on October 19, 2009, in a memorandum from Deputy Attorney General James Cole on June 29, 

2011 and in a memorandum from Deputy Attorney General James Cole on August 29, 2013 (the “Cole Memo”). The Cole 

Memo also provided guidance to federal prosecutors concerning cannabis enforcement in light of state laws legalizing 

medical and recreational cannabis possession in small amounts. Each memorandum provided that the DOJ was committed 

to enforcement of the CSA, but the DOJ was also committed to using its limited investigative and prosecutorial resources 

to address the most significant threats in the most effective, consistent and rational way. 

 

The Cole Memo sets forth certain enforcement priorities that are important to the federal government: 

  

  ● Distribution of marijuana to children; 

  ● Revenue from the sale of marijuana going to criminals; 

  ● Diversion of medical marijuana from states where it is legal under state law to states where it is not; 

  ● Using state-authorized marijuana activity as a pretext for other illegal drug activity; 

  ● Violence in the cultivation and distribution of marijuana; 

  ● Drugged driving and other adverse public health consequences; 

  ● Growing marijuana on public lands; and 

  ● Possession or use of marijuana on federal property. 

 

On January 4, 2018, the Cole Memo was rescinded by Attorney General Jeff Sessions (the “Sessions Memo”). 

The effect of rescinding the Cole Memo guidance is that U.S. Attorneys now have greater discretion to prosecute CSA 

violations with respect to individuals and companies that are otherwise complying with state law and the tenets previously 

set forth in the Cole Memo. The DOJ has not historically devoted resources to prosecuting individuals whose conduct is 

limited to possession of small amounts of cannabis for use on private property but relied on state and local law enforcement 

to address that form of cannabis activity. In the event the DOJ goes beyond the objectives of the Cole Memo guidance and 

begins strict enforcement of the CSA in states that have laws legalizing medical and recreational cannabis in small amounts, 

there may be a direct and adverse impact to our revenue and earnings, and it could even force us to cease operating entirely 

in the cannabis industry. 

 

In 2014, the U.S. House of Representatives passed an amendment (the “Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment”) to the 

Commerce, Justice, Science, and Related Agencies Appropriations Bill, which funds the DOJ. The Rohrabacher-Farr 

Amendment prohibits the DOJ from using federally appropriated funds to prevent states with medical cannabis laws from 

implementing such laws by investigating and prosecuting individuals or businesses operating in accordance with applicable 

state laws. In August 2016, a Ninth Circuit federal appeals court ruled in United States v. McIntosh that the Rohrabacher-

Farr Amendment bars the DOJ from spending funds on the prosecution of conduct that is allowed by state medical cannabis 

laws, provided that such conduct is in strict compliance with applicable state law. In March 2015, bipartisan legislation 

titled the Compassionate Access, Research Expansion, and Respect States Act (the “CARERS Act”) was introduced, 

proposing to allow states to regulate the medical use of cannabis by changing applicable federal law, including reclassifying 

cannabis under the CSA to a Schedule II controlled substance and thereby changing the plant from a federally-criminalized 

substance to one that has recognized medical uses.  
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Although these developments have been met with a certain amount of optimism in the scientific community, the 

CARERS Act has not yet been adopted, and the Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment, as an amendment to an appropriations bill, 

must be renewed annually on a bipartisan basis in order to remain in effect. The Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment has been 

renamed the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment through the amendment language, but the intent remains the same. The 

currently enacted Commerce, Justice, Science, and Related Agencies Act, which includes the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer 

Amendment, is effective, by passage of continuing resolutions, through September 30, 2021. Following the Sessions 

Memo, however, the federal government could at any time change its enforcement priorities against the cannabis industry. 

Any change in enforcement priorities could render our operations unprofitable or even prohibit such operations. 

 

The former Obama administration effectively stated that it is not an efficient use of resources to direct federal law 

enforcement agencies to prosecute those lawfully abiding by state-designated laws allowing the use and distribution of 

medical marijuana. However, as discussed above, the Sessions Memo rescinded the Cole Memo enforcement guidance. 

Any further change in enforcement policy and a decision to enforce the federal laws more aggressively could cause 

significant financial damage to us and our shareholders and could adversely affect our ability to obtain equity or debt 

financing, or even prohibit our operating in the cannabis industry entirely. 

 

In June 2018, the Strengthening the Tenth Amendment Through Entrusting States (the “STATES Act”) was 

introduced that would recognize legalization of cannabis and the U.S. state laws that have legalized it through their 

legislatures or citizen initiatives. The STATES Act, if enacted into law, would amend the CSA to exempt from federal 

enforcement individuals or corporations in states who are in compliance with U.S. state, U.S. territory and the District of 

Columbia, or tribal law on cannabis, with certain additional provisions such as minimum ages. 

 

We have not requested or obtained any opinion of counsel or ruling from any authority to determine if our 

operations are in compliance with or violate any state or federal laws or whether we are assisting others to violate a state 

or federal law. In the event that our operations are deemed to violate any laws or if we are deemed to be assisting others to 

violate a state or federal law, we could have liability that could cause us to modify or cease our operations. 

 

Our business efforts in Canada present opportunities, but no assurance can be given that our revenues and 

earnings will be improved on the basis of our addressing the Canadian business. 

 

In addition to U.S. operations, we seek to sell products and services to cannabis growers in Canada, where medical 

and recreational cannabis has been legal since 2018 across the country both federally and provincially (subject to certain 

restrictions relating to CBD). We believe Canada, with its federal legal regime, represents a business opportunity for us, 

but we have noticed softening demand from Canadian prospects due, in part, to limited capital being available for new 

facilities and an overbuilding of cultivation capacity following federal legalization. As a result, Canada now appears to be 

in a period of correction. There can be no assurance that we will be able to make any additional sales of products or services 

in Canada. 

 

Successful litigation by non-cannabis states affected by cannabis legalization could have significant adverse 

effects on our business. 

 

Due to variations in state law among states sharing borders, certain states which have not approved any legal sale 

of cannabis may seek to overturn laws legalizing cannabis use in neighboring states. For example, in December 2014, the 

attorney general of each of Nebraska and Oklahoma filed a complaint with the U.S. Supreme Court against the state of 

Colorado arguing that the Supremacy Clause (Article VI of the U.S. Constitution) prohibits Colorado from passing laws 

that conflict with federal anti-drug laws and that Colorado’s laws are increasing cannabis trafficking in neighboring states 

that maintain cannabis bans, thereby putting pressure on such neighboring states’ criminal justice systems. In March 2016, 

the U.S. Supreme Court, voting 6-2, declined to hear this case, but there is no assurance that it will do so in the future. 

Additionally, nothing prevents states’ attorneys general from using the same or similar cause of action for a lawsuit in a 

lower federal or other court. 

 

Previously, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that drug prohibition is a valid exercise of federal authority under 

the commerce clause; however, it has also held that an individual state itself is not required to adopt or enforce federal laws 

with which it disagrees. If the U.S. Supreme Court rules that a legal cannabis state’s legislation is unconstitutional, that 

could result in legal action against other states with laws legalizing medical and/or recreational cannabis use. Successful 

prosecution of such legal actions by non-cannabis states could have significant adverse effects on our business. 
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Variations in state and local regulation and enforcement in states that have legalized cannabis may impose 

certain restrictions on cannabis-related activities that may adversely impact our revenue and earnings. 
 

Individual state laws do not always conform to the federal standard or to other states’ laws. A number of states 

have decriminalized cannabis to varying degrees; other states have created exemptions specifically for medical cannabis, 

and several have both decriminalization and medical laws. Seventeen states and the District of Columbia have legalized 

the recreational use of cannabis and various state legislatures are considering recreational in 2021. Variations exist among 

states that have legalized, decriminalized, or created medical cannabis exemptions. For example, Alaska and Colorado 

have limits on the number of cannabis plants that can be grown by an individual in the home. In most states, the cultivation 

of cannabis for personal use continues to be prohibited except by those states that allow small-scale cultivation by the 

individual in possession of cannabis for medicinal purposes or that person’s caregiver. Active enforcement of state laws 

that prohibit personal cultivation of cannabis may indirectly and adversely affect our revenue and earnings. 
 

The cannabis industry could face strong opposition from other industries. 
 

We believe that established businesses in other industries may have a strong economic interest in opposing the 

development of the cannabis industry. Cannabis may be seen by companies in other industries as an attractive alternative 

to their products, including recreational marijuana as an alternative to alcohol, and medical marijuana as an alternative to 

various commercial pharmaceuticals. Many industries that could view the emerging cannabis industry as an economic 

threat are well established, with vast economic and United States federal and state lobbying resources. It is possible that 

companies within these industries could use their resources to attempt to slow or reverse legislation legalizing cannabis. 

Any inroads these companies make in halting or impeding legislative initiatives that would be beneficial to the cannabis 

industry could have a detrimental impact on our clients and, in turn on our operations. 
 

The legality of cannabis uses could be reversed in one or more states. 
 

The voters or legislatures of states in which various marijuana uses have been legalized could potentially repeal 

applicable laws which permit the operation of both medical and retail marijuana and cannabis related businesses. These 

actions might force us to cease aspects of our operations in one or more states entirely. 
 

Changing legislation and evolving interpretations of law, which could negatively impact our clients and, in 

turn, our operations. 
 

Laws and regulations affecting the medical and adult-use marijuana industry are constantly changing, which could 

detrimentally affect our clients involved in that industry and, in turn, our operations. Local, state and federal cannabis laws 

and regulations are often broad in scope and subject to constant evolution and inconsistent interpretations, which could 

require our clients and ourselves to incur substantial costs associated with modification of operations to ensure compliance. 

In addition, violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our clients’ business and result in a 

material adverse effect on our operations. In addition, it is possible that regulations may be enacted in the future that will 

limit the amount of cannabis growth or related products that our commercial clients are authorized to produce. We cannot 

predict the nature of any future laws, regulations, interpretations or applications, nor can it determine what effect additional 

governmental regulations or administrative policies and procedures, when and if promulgated, could have on our 

operations. 
 

As the possession and use of marijuana is illegal under the CSA, it is possible that our manufacture and sale 

of equipment that is used to cultivate marijuana may be deemed to be aiding and abetting illegal activities. It is also 

possible that our products could be considered “drug paraphernalia.” 
 

Federal practices could change with respect to providers of equipment potentially usable by cultivators in the 

medical and recreational cannabis industry, which could adversely impact us. Cannabis growers use equipment that we 

offer for sale. While we are not aware of any threatened or current federal or state law enforcement actions against any 

supplier of equipment that might be used for cannabis growing, law enforcement authorities, in their attempt to regulate 

the illegal use of cannabis, may seek to bring an action or actions against us, including but not limited to a claim of aiding 

and abetting, or being an accessory to, another’s criminal activities or that our products are considered “drug 

paraphernalia.” 
 

The federal aiding and abetting statute, U.S. Code Title 18 Section 2(a), provides that anyone who “commits an 

offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as 

a principal.” Under U.S. Code Title 21 Section 863, the term “drug paraphernalia” means “any equipment, product or 

material of any kind which is primarily intended or designed for use in manufacturing, compounding, converting, 

concealing, producing, processing, preparing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing into the human body 

a controlled substance.” Any drug paraphernalia involved in any violation of Section 863 shall be subject to seizure and 

forfeiture upon the conviction of a person for such violation. While Section 863(f) contains an exemption for any person 

authorized by local, state or federal law to manufacture, possess, or distribute such items, any such action may force us to 

cease operations and our investors could lose their entire investment.  
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A risk exists that our activities could be deemed to be facilitating the selling or distribution of cannabis in violation 

of the CSA, or to constitute aiding or abetting, or being an accessory to, a violation of the CSA. There is also a risk that 

our products could be considered drug paraphernalia and could be subject to seizure. We believe, however, that such risks 

are relatively low. Federal authorities have not focused their resources on such tangential or secondary violations of the 

CSA, nor have they threatened to do so, with respect to the sale of equipment that might be used by cannabis cultivators, 

or with respect to any supplies marketed to participants in the medical and recreational cannabis industry. We are unaware 

of such a broad application of the CSA or the seizure of drug paraphernalia by federal authorities, and we believe that such 

an attempted application would be uncustomary. 

 

If the federal government were to change its practices, or were to expend its resources investigating and 

prosecuting providers of equipment that could be usable by participants in the medical or recreational cannabis industry, 

such action could have a materially adverse effect on our operations, our customers, or the sales of our products. As a result 

of such an action, we may be forced to cease operations and our investors could lose their entire investment. 

 

The fact that we provide products and services to companies in the cannabis industry may impact our ability to 

raise adequate capital for future expansion, which could hinder our growth potential as well as our revenue and 

earnings. 

 

A very large percentage, if not all, of our customers are operating in an industry that is still illegal under U.S. 

federal law. With the lingering uncertainty of federal enforcement, many potential investors, especially institutional 

investors, either refuse to invest in the industry or are very reluctant to make such investments. Our inability to raise 

adequate capital for future expansion could substantially hinder our growth potential as well as our revenue and earnings. 

 

Our success may be dependent on additional states legalizing recreational and/or medical cannabis use. 

 

Continued development of the recreational and medical cannabis markets is dependent upon continued legislative 

authorization of cannabis at the state level for recreational and/or medical purposes. Any number of factors could slow or 

halt the progress. Furthermore, progress, while encouraging, is not assured, and the process normally encounters setbacks 

before achieving success. While there may be ample public support for legislative proposals, key support must be created 

in the relevant legislative committee or a bill may never advance to a vote. Numerous factors impact the legislative process. 

Any one of these factors could slow or halt the progress and adoption of cannabis for recreational and/or medical purposes, 

which would limit the overall available market for our products and services, which could adversely impact our business, 

revenue and earnings. 

 

Our customers may have difficulty accessing the service of banks, which may make it difficult for them to 

purchase our products and services. 

 

As a result of the federal illegality of marijuana, many banks do not provide banking services to the cultivation 

and distribution segments of the cannabis industry, the argument being that they would be accepting for deposit funds 

derived from the operation of a federally illegal business. On February 14, 2014, the U.S. Department of the Treasury 

Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”) released guidance to banks “clarifying Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”) 

expectations for financial institutions seeking to provide services to marijuana-related businesses.” In addition, there have 

been legislative attempts to allow banks to transact business with state-authorized cannabis businesses. While these are 

positive developments, there can be no assurance that legislation will be successful, or that, even with the FinCEN 

guidance, banks will decide to do business with cannabis companies, or that, in the absence of actual legislation, state and 

federal banking regulators will not strictly enforce current prohibitions on banks handling funds generated from an activity 

that is illegal under federal law. Moreover, the FinCEN guidance may be rescinded or amended at any time in order to 

reconcile the now conflicting guidance of the Sessions Memo. At present, few banks have taken advantage of the FinCEN 

guidance, resulting in many cannabis businesses still operating on an all-cash basis. This makes it difficult for cannabis 

businesses to manage their businesses, pay their employees and taxes, and having so much cash on hand also creates 

significant public safety issues. Many ancillary businesses that service cannabis businesses have to deal with the 

unpredictability of their clients or customers not having a bank account. The inability of our customers to open bank 

accounts and otherwise access the services of banks, including obtaining credit, may make it more difficult and costly for 

them to operate and more difficult for such customers to purchase our products and services, which could materially harm 

our business, revenue and earnings. 
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We are subject to certain federal regulations relating to cash reporting. 

 

The BSA, enforced by FinCEN, requires us to report currency transactions in excess of $10,000, including 

identification of the customer by name and social security number, to the Internal Revenue Service. This regulation also 

requires us to report certain suspicious activity, including any transaction that exceeds $5,000 that we know, suspect or 

have reason to believe involves funds from illegal activity or is designed to evade federal regulations or reporting 

requirements and to verify sources of funds. Substantial penalties can be imposed against us if we fail to comply with this 

regulation. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, the imposition of a substantial penalty could have a material 

adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 

State and municipal governments in which our customers do business or seek to do business may have or may 

adopt laws that adversely affect our ability to do business with such customers. 

 

While the federal government has the right to regulate and criminalize cannabis, state and municipal governments 

may adopt or amend additional laws and regulations that further criminalize or adversely affect cannabis businesses. States 

that currently have laws that decriminalize or legalize certain aspects of cannabis, such as medical marijuana, could in the 

future, reverse course and adopt new laws that further criminalize or adversely affect cannabis businesses. Additionally, 

municipal governments in certain states may have laws that adversely affect cannabis businesses, even though there are no 

such laws at the state level. For example, municipal governments may have zoning laws that restrict where cannabis 

operations can be located and the manner and size of which they can expand and operate. These municipal laws, like the 

federal laws, may adversely affect our customers’ ability to do business. Also, given the complexity and rapid change of 

the federal, state and local laws pertaining to cannabis, our customers may incur substantial legal costs associated with 

complying with these laws and in acquiring the necessary state and local licenses required by their business endeavors. All 

of the foregoing may impact our customers’ ability to purchase our products and services, which may adversely affect our 

business, revenue and earnings. 

 

Most, if not all, of our customers are impacted by Section 280E of the Code, which limits certain expenses 

marijuana companies can deduct. This negative impact could affect the financial condition of our customers, which in 

turn may negatively affect the ability of our customers to purchase our products and services. 

 

Section 280E of the Code forbids businesses from deducting otherwise ordinary business expenses from gross 

income associated with the “trafficking” of Schedule I or II substances, as defined by the CSA. The Internal Revenue 

Service (the “IRS”) has subsequently applied Section 280E to state-legal cannabis businesses since marijuana is still a 

Schedule I substance. Section 280E states that no deductions should be allowed on any amount “in carrying on any trade 

or business if such trade or business consists of trafficking in controlled substances.” Section 280E affects all businesses 

that engage in the cultivation, sale or processing of marijuana. This includes cultivators, medical dispensaries, marijuana 

retail stores and infused product manufacturers, as well as marijuana-derived concentrates and oil manufacturers. Because 

Section 280E limits certain deductions, it can have a dramatic effect on the profitability of these businesses, which in turn 

may adversely affect their ability to purchase our products and services. Such result may adversely impact our revenue and 

earnings. 

 

Our contracts may not be legally enforceable in the United States. 

 

Many of our historic contracts, and those we may enter into in the future, relate to services that are ancillary to 

the cannabis industry, which industry or aspects of the industry are not legal under U.S. federal law and under some state 

laws. As a result, we may face difficulties in enforcing our contracts in U.S. federal and certain state courts. 

 

Due to our involvement in the cannabis industry, we may have a difficult time obtaining the various insurances 

that are desired to operate our business, which may expose us to additional risk and financial liability. 

 

Insurance that is otherwise readily available, such as general liability and directors’ and officers’ insurance, is 

more difficult for us to find, and more expensive, because we are product and service providers to companies in the cannabis 

industry. There are no guarantees that we will be able to find such insurances in the future, or that the cost will be affordable 

to us. If we are forced to go without such insurances, it may prevent us from entering into certain business sectors, may 

inhibit our growth, and may expose us to additional risk and financial liabilities. 

 

A drop in the retail price of cannabis products may negatively impact our business. 

 

The fluctuations in economic and market conditions that impact the prices of commercially grown cannabis, such 

as increases in the supply of cannabis and decreases in demand for cannabis, could have a negative impact on our clients 

that are cannabis producers, and therefore could negatively impact our business. 
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock 
 

Our common stock price may be volatile and may decrease substantially. 
 

The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated substantially, and we expect that it will continue to do so. 

The price of our common stock in the market on any particular day depends on many factors including, but not limited to, 

the following: 
  

  ● price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time; 

  ● investor demand for our shares; 

  ● significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of companies in the cannabis industry;  

  ● variations in our operating results and market conditions specific to our business; 

  ● the emergence of new competitors or new technologies; 

  ● operating and market price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable; 

  ● changes in our Board of Directors or management; 

  

● sales or purchases of our common stock by insiders, including sales of our common stock issued to 

employees, directors and consultants under our equity incentive plan which were registered under the 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) under our S-8 registration statement;  

  ● commencement of, or involvement in, litigation; 

  ● changes in governmental regulations, in particular with respect to the cannabis industry;  

  ● actual or anticipated changes in our earnings, and fluctuations in our quarterly operating results;  

  ● market sentiments about the cannabis industry;  

  ● general economic conditions and trends; and 

  ● departures of any of our key employees.  
 

Presently, an exchange listing of our common stock is not likely since we are a U.S.-based company focused on 

the cannabis industry, which remains illegal under federal law. Moreover, we may not be able to attract institutional 

ownership of our stock or research analysts to cover our stock in the foreseeable future. 
 

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action 

litigation has often been brought against that company. Due to the potential volatility of our stock price, we may therefore 

be the target of securities litigation in the future. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert 

management’s attention and resources from our business. 
 

In addition, if the market for stocks in our industry, or the stock market in general, experiences a loss of investor 

confidence, the market price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition, 

or results of operations. If any of the foregoing occurs, it could cause the price of our common stock to fall and may expose 

us to lawsuits that, even if unsuccessful, could be costly to defend and a distraction to our Board of Directors and 

management. 
 

The application of the “penny stock” rules could adversely affect the market price of our common shares and 

increase an investor’s transaction costs to sell those shares. 
 

The SEC has adopted Rule 3a51-1, which establishes the definition of a “penny stock,” for the purposes relevant 

to us, as any equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 

per share, subject to certain exceptions. For any transaction involving a penny stock, unless exempt, Rule 15g-9 requires: 
  

  ● that a broker or dealer approve a person’s account for transactions in penny stocks, and 

  
● the broker or dealer receives from the investor a written agreement to the transaction, setting forth the 

identity and quantity of the penny stock to be purchased. 
 

In order to approve a person’s account for transactions in penny stocks, the broker or dealer must: 
 

  ● obtain financial information and investment experience objectives of the person, and 

  

● make a reasonable determination that the transactions in penny stocks are suitable for that person and the 

person has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial matters to be capable of evaluating the risks 

of transactions in penny stocks. 
 

The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to any transaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prescribed 

by the SEC relating to the penny stock market, which, in highlight form: 
  

  ● sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determination, and 

  ● that the broker or dealer received a signed, written agreement from the investor prior to the transaction. 
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Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute transactions in securities subject to the “penny stock” rules or 

involving the cannabis industry. This may make it more difficult for investors to dispose of our common stock and may 

cause a decline in the market value of our stock. 

 

Our Board of Directors is authorized to reclassify any unissued shares of our preferred stock into one or more 

classes, which could convey special rights and privileges to its owners. 

 

Our articles of incorporation permit our Board of Directors to reclassify any authorized but unissued shares of 

preferred stock into one or more classes. Our Board of Directors will generally have broad discretion over the size and 

timing of any such classification, subject to a finding that the classification and issuance of preferred stock is in our best 

interests. We are authorized to issue up to 350,000,000 shares of common stock and 150,000,000 shares of preferred stock. 

As of December 31, 2020, we had 236,526,638 shares of common stock issued and outstanding and 42,030,331 shares of 

preferred stock issued and outstanding. In the event our Board of Directors opts to classify a portion of our unissued shares 

of preferred stock into a class of preferred stock, those preferred shares would have a preference over our common stock 

with respect to dividends and liquidation. The cost of any classification would be borne by our existing common 

stockholders. The class voting rights of any preferred shares we may issue could make it more difficult for us to take some 

actions that may, in the future, be proposed by the Board of Directors and/or the holders of our common stock, such as a 

merger, exchange of securities, liquidation, or alteration of the rights of a class of our securities, if these actions were 

perceived by the holders of preferred shares as not in their best interests. These effects, among others, could have an adverse 

effect on your investment in our common stock. 

 

Rule 144 contains risks for certain shareholders. 

 

From time to time, we issue shares on an unregistered basis, which may be eligible for resale under SEC Rule 144 

promulgated under the Securities Act. In the event there are shares outstanding that can be sold under Rule 144, there may 

be market pressure on our stock. 

 

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock. 

 

We currently are not profitable and do not expect to achieve profitability in the foreseeable future. We have never 

declared or paid dividends on our common stock. We intend to invest any available funds to continue to grow our revenue. 

Accordingly, we do not expect to pay cash dividends to our stockholders now or in the foreseeable future. 

 

The market price of our shares of common stock may be adversely affected by the sale of shares by our 

management or large stockholders. 

 

Sales of our shares of common stock by our officers or senior managers through 10b5-1 plans or otherwise or by 

large stockholders could adversely and unpredictably affect the price of our common stock. Additionally, the price of our 

shares of common stock could be affected even by the potential for sales by these persons. We cannot predict the effect 

that any future sales of our common stock, or the potential for those sales, will have on our share price. Furthermore, due 

to relatively low trading volume of our stock, should one or more large stockholders seek to sell a significant portion of 

their stock in a short period of time, the price of our stock may decline. 

 

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and therefore we are not 

required to provide information under this item. 

 

Item 2. Properties 

 

We own no real property. On June 27, 2017, we executed a lease, which became effective September 29, 2017, 

for our manufacturing and office space at 1780 55th Street, Boulder, Colorado 80301. The term of the lease commenced 

September 29, 2017 and continues through August 31, 2022. Our leased space is approximately 18,600 square feet. We 

believe that our lease is at market rates and that there is sufficient space available in the Boulder, Colorado area to obtain 

additional or other space if and when required. 
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

 

As of December 31, 2019, there were 6,750,000 restricted stock units that had not been settled due to a dispute 

with a former employee over the required withholding taxes to be paid to the Company for remittance to the appropriate 

tax authorities. The Company commenced an arbitration action against the former employee regarding the dispute. The 

former employee also made claims in the arbitration action against the Company for unpaid wages. As stated in a pleading 

in the arbitration, on March 9, 2020, the Company issued the former employee 6,750,000 shares of the Company’s common 

stock in settlement of these restricted stock units after taking measures to mitigate the Company’s exposure to penalties 

and liability for the failure to properly withhold income taxes. The Arbitrator issued an interim award of approximately 

$10,000 in the Company’s favor and a finding against the former employee. Effective June 9, 2020, the Arbitrator issued 

his final award in the Company’s favor, in the Colorado arbitration. The Arbitrator found against the former employee and 

awarded the Company costs of $33,985, with interest at 8% per year. Effective July 22, 2020, the Colorado Court confirmed 

the Arbitration award and entered a final judgement in favor of the Company and against the former employee. The 

Company pursued collection of this debt and has now collected the debt owed. This former employee is continuing to 

pursue separate litigation against the Company for recovery of alleged consulting fees owed to him for the 2015 calendar 

year prior to his appointment as an executive officer of the Company. The Company strongly disputes the ongoing litigation 

and in the remote event of an adverse outcome, the amount of any settlement loss for this case is not reasonably estimable 

as of the date of the issuance of these financial statements. 

 

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings, nor, to our knowledge, is any material legal 

proceeding threatened against us. From time to time, we may be a party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course 

of business, including proceedings relating to the enforcement of our rights under contracts with our customers. While the 

outcome of these legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect that these proceedings will have 

a material effect upon our financial condition or results of operations. 

 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 
 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 

Securities 
 

Common Stock 
 

Our shares of common stock are quoted on the OTCQB operated by The OTCMarkets under the symbol “SRNA.” 

Over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may 

not necessarily represent actual transactions. 
 

We have approximately 130 shareholders of record and approximately 15,400 beneficial shareholders. 
 

Equity Compensation Plans 
 

On August 1, 2017, our Board of Directors adopted and approved the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 

Equity Plan”) in order to attract, motivate, retain, and reward high-quality executives and other employees, officers, 

directors, consultants, and other persons who provide services to us by enabling such persons to acquire an equity interest 

in us. Under the 2017 Equity Plan, our Board of Directors may award stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), 

restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs”), shares granted as a bonus or in lieu of another 

award, and other stock-based performance awards. The 2017 Equity Plan allocates 50,000,000 shares of our common stock 

(“Plan Shares”) for issuance of equity awards under the 2017 Equity Plan. As of December 31, 2020, we have granted, 

under the 2017 Equity Plan, awards in the form of RSAs for services rendered by independent directors and consultants, 

non-qualified stock options, RSUs and stock bonus awards. 
 

The information for our 2017 Equity Plan as of December 31, 2020 is summarized as follows: 
  

    

Number of 

shares to be 

issued upon 

exercise of 

outstanding 

options     

Weighted-

average exercise 

price of 

outstanding 

options     

Number of 

securities remaining 

available for future 

issuance 

under equity 

compensation plans 

(excluding 

securities reflected 

in first column)   

Equity compensation plans approved by 

shareholders ................................................      -       -       -   

Equity compensation plans not approved 

by shareholders (1) .......................................      21,651,000     $ 0.078       3,795,182   

Total ...........................................................      21,651,000     $ 0.078       3,795,182   

 

(1) Of the 50,000,000 Plan Shares allocated for issuance under the 2017 Equity Plan, as of December 31, 

2020, 24,553,818 shares have been issued, options over 21,651,000 shares were issued and outstanding 

and securities in respect of the remaining 3,795,182 shares were available for future issuance. 
 

Refer to Note 14 – Equity Incentive Plan of our consolidated financial statements, which are included as part of 

this Annual Report for the further details on our 2017 Equity Plan. 
 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 
 

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, and therefore we are not 

required to provide the information under this item. 
 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related 

notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report, which include additional information 

about our accounting policies, practices, and the transactions underlying our financial results. In addition to historical 

information, this Annual Report contains forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties. Our actual 

results could differ materially from those anticipated by such forward-looking information due to the factors discussed 

under “Cautionary Statements” appearing elsewhere herein and the risks and uncertainties described or identified in 

“Item 1A – Risk Factors” in this Annual Report.   
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Please also refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Item 1 – Business in this Annual Report, and our 

consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included in this Annual 

Report. Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is 

segregated into four sections, including: 

 

Executive Overview. This section provides a summary of our operating performance and cash flows, industry 

trends and our strategic initiatives. 

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates. This section describes the accounting areas where management 

makes critical estimates to report our financial condition and results of operations. 

 

Results of Operations. This section provides an analysis of our consolidated results of operations for the two 

comparative periods presented in our consolidated financial statements. 

 

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Position. This section provides an analysis of cash flow, contractual 

obligations, and certain other matters affecting our financial position. 

 

Executive Overview 

 

Our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $8,514,000 compared to $15,224,000 for the year ended 

December 31, 2019, a decrease of $6,710,000, or 44%. Overall, we had a net loss of $1,759,000 for the year ended 

December 31, 2020 as compared to a net loss of $1,339,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $420,000, 

or 31%. Our 2020 adjusted net loss was $1,239,000 compared to a 2019 adjusted net income of $92,000. Our adjusted net 

income (loss) is our GAAP net income (loss) after addback for our non-cash equity compensation expenses, debt-related 

items and depreciation expense. Historically, one of the most significant financial challenges we face is the inconsistent 

and unpredictable revenue we generate quarter-over-quarter, and our revenue and cash flow remain difficult to predict. 

 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Our Business 

 

The impact of the government and the business economic response to the COVID-19 pandemic has affected 

demand across the majority of our markets and disrupted work on projects. The COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have 

continued adverse effects on our sales, project implementation, operating margins, and working capital. As of the date of 

this filing, uncertainty continues to exist concerning the magnitude and duration of the economic impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic. 

 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its changing conditions the Company reduced its operational expenses 

to conserve its cash resources. Many expenses, including travel, marketing, headcount, work hours, and compensation were 

reduced, deferred, or eliminated while still allowing us to meet our customer obligations and develop new business. As the 

fiscal year progressed and our sales rebounded, and we were able to obtain additional funds through a forgivable bank loan, 

we restored our workforce and compensation. 

 

Due to the speed with which the COVID-19 pandemic developed and the resulting uncertainties, including the 

depth and duration of the disruptions to customers and suppliers, its future effect on our business, on our results of 

operations, and on our financial condition, cannot be predicted. We expect that the economic disruptions will continue to 

have an effect on our business over the longer term. Despite this uncertainty, we continue to monitor costs and continue to 

take actions to reduce costs so as to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to the best of our ability, although they 

may not be sufficient in the long-run for us to avoid reduced sales, increased losses and reduced operating cash flows. 

 

Refer to Risk Factors, included in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K above, for further 

discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business. 

 

We have a three-prong growth strategy. 

 

1. Expand our Customer Base. We have a sales and marketing program that generates many prospect 

relationships. However, our limited range of higher cost products, mostly chilled water systems, reduces the number of 

customer prospects who can afford to buy from us. This year, we will broaden our product line to include lower- and mid-

cost products, such as split systems and packaged roof top units. We believe these new products and services will increase 

our addressable market and sales, further leveraging our investment in sales and marketing. 
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One of our key 2019 and 2020 goals was to obtain more business from MFOs, which have greater financial 

resources, are more sophisticated, buy more and larger systems, and are less prone to project delays and cancellations, 

compared to the smaller cultivators that had been our primary customers in the past. Although we booked fewer projects 

with MFOs in 2020 than we did in 2019, we, booked three projects representing $3.5 million in potential future revenue. 

We recorded $2.9 million in revenue from these projects, or 35% of our total 2020 revenue. However, we still have 

significant work ahead of us to fill our sales pipeline with MFO customers that we believe will result in more consistent 

and predictable revenue and cash flow. 

 

2. Sell More Automation and Control Systems. In 2019 we fulfilled a key goal by launching our SentryIQ® 

sensors, controls and automation (“SCA”) platform—a turnkey, single-vendor HVACD equipment and controls integration 

solution. We continued the rollout in 2020 and to date we have entered into thirteen contracts with twelve different 

companies to implement our SentryIQ® SCA platform. This product line is important for tactical and strategic reasons, 

and we hope to offer this as a standalone offering in the future. These systems provide a steady stream of data that our 

customers can use to make daily cultivation decisions. Additionally, we can use this data to track trends and apply future 

enhancements to our products and services, fostering closer relationships with our customers throughout their facilities’ 

life cycles. This product line is important for tactical and strategic reasons previously discussed. 

 

We plan to continue to develop technology and innovations that provide value-add to our customers. We also 

intend to seek out “best-in-class” partners to help us automate and control the indoor grow facilities of the future. 

 

3. Engage in Strategic Relationships with other Technology Leaders. During 2019, we identified several 

business verticals that we believe could be logical and natural complements to our climate control business, including: 

lighting, fertigation (automated process of delivering nutrients and water to plants), benches (customized systems to 

optimize use of the growing space), cultivation management technology (software), consumables (growing, packaging, 

facility and lab supplies), and operational improvement analytics (modeling, data aggregation and artificial intelligence). 

We intend to work with “best-in-class” vendors to develop more comprehensive, end-to-end, integrated solutions and 

specialized products and services that can help our cultivators compete in the market, whether through automation, software 

or operating efficiencies. We hope to establish one or more strategic alliances, such as reseller, distribution, co-marketing 

or product development agreements, with select companies which are consistent with our strategic direction. In 2020 we 

were unable to find suitable partners for such strategic relationships, but we continue to pursue this growth initiative. 

 

Over time, if some of these strategic alliances are successful in driving top-line revenue for us and our partners, 

such relationships could develop into more exclusive arrangements or evolve into possible acquisitions or a source of 

strategic capital for us. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully execute any of these strategic 

initiatives. Our efforts will be primarily focused on working with new strategic partners to co-market each other’s products 

and services and possibly jointly develop new and improved products and services with CEA-specific applications, as 

opposed to seeking acquisitions. 

 

******* 

 

Revenue. Our 2020 revenue was $8,514,000. Our 2020 revenue represents a decrease of 44% compared to 2019. 

One of our MFO customers accounted for 28% of our 2020 revenue. We believe, among other things, that we need to build 

a diversified sales pipeline of MFOs, which we believe will increase our consistency and predictability of revenue. 

 

Gross Margin. Our 2020 gross margin was 18.2%, a decrease from 29.9% in 2019. This decrease was primarily 

due to our fixed cost base, a lower margin on equipment sales, and an increase in variable costs as a percent of revenue as 

described in Results of Operations below. 

 

Profitability. Our 2020 adjusted net loss was $1,239,000 compared to a 2019 adjusted net income of $92,000. Our 

adjusted net income (loss) is a key management metric and point of focus for us because it provides a proxy for the cash 

we generate from operations. 

 

Capital Resources. Our working capital remains negative, and we have limited capital resources, which are 

impediments to the overall viability of our business as planned. The effect of the COVID-19 response has presented further 

challenges for us in 2020. Without increasing our current revenue and adding new sources of revenue, we cannot predict 

our future. As discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report, we have taken steps to reduce costs. We cannot predict how long 

our cost cutting measures will sustain the Company or how long the current economic situation will last. 

 

Contract Bookings. Our bookings dropped significantly in the first half of 2020 but recovered in the second half, 

and our backlog at December 31, 2020, was $8,448,000, a decrease of $1,110,000, or 12%, from our December 31, 2019 

backlog. During 2020, we had net bookings of $7,404,000, consisting of: (i) $10,343,000 of new sales contracts executed 

in 2020, (ii) $151,000 net positive changes orders, and (iii) $3,089,000 in project cancellations. 
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The following table sets forth: (i) our beginning backlog (the remaining contract value of outstanding sales 

contracts for which we have received an initial deposit as of the previous period), (ii) our net bookings for the period (new 

sales contracts executed during the period for which we received an initial deposit, net of any adjustments including 

cancellations and change orders during the period), (iii) our recognized revenue for the period, and (iv) our ending backlog 

for the period (the sum of the beginning backlog and net bookings, less recognized revenue). Based on the current economic 

climate and our cost cutting measures, there is no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain the level of bookings 

that we have had in the past and or fulfill our current backlog, and we may experience contract cancellations, project scope 

reductions and project delays. 

  

    For the quarter ended    

    

December 

31, 2019     

March 31, 

2020     

June 30, 

2020     

September 30, 

2020     

December 31, 

2020   

Backlog, beginning balance .............    $ 10,143,000     $ 9,558,000     $ 8,875,000     $        5,592,000     $         8,198,000   

Net bookings, current period ...........    $ 3,134,000     $ 1,127,000     $ (1,601,000 )   $ 4,241,000     $ 3,637,000   

Recognized revenue, current period    $ 3,719,000     $ 1,810,000     $ 1,682,000     $ 1,635,000     $ 3,387,000   

Backlog, ending balance ..................    $ 9,558,000     $ 8,875,000     $ 5,592,000     $ 8,198,000     $ 8,448,000   

 

As has historically been the case at each quarter-end, there remains significant uncertainty regarding the timing 

of revenue recognition of our backlog as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, $2,643,000 of our backlog, or 

31%, was attributable to customer contracts for which we have only received an initial advance payment to cover our 

engineering services (“engineering only paid contracts”). There are always risks that the equipment portion of our 

engineering only paid contracts will not be completed or will be delayed, which could occur if the customer is dissatisfied 

with the quality or timeliness of our engineering services, there is a delay or abandonment of the project due to the 

customer’s inability to obtain project financing or licensing, or the customer determines not to proceed with the project due 

to economic factors, such as declining cannabis wholesale prices in the state. 

 

We have provided an estimate in our consolidated financial statements for when we expect to recognize revenue 

on our remaining performance obligations (i.e., our Q4 2020 backlog), using separate time bands, with respect to 

engineering only paid contracts and partial equipment paid contracts. However, there continues to be significant uncertainty 

regarding the timing of our recognition of revenue in our Q4 2020 backlog. Refer to the Revenue Recognition section of 

Note 2 in our consolidated financial statements, included as part of this Annual Report for additional information on our 

estimate of future revenue recognition on our remaining performance obligations. 

 

Our backlog, remaining performance obligations and net bookings may not be indicative of future operating 

results, and our customers may attempt to renegotiate or terminate their contracts for a number of reasons, including delays 

in or inability to obtain project financing or licensing or abandonment of the project entirely. Accordingly, there can be no 

assurance that contracts included in backlog or remaining performance obligations will actually generate revenues or when 

the actual revenues will be generated. Net bookings and backlog are considered non-GAAP financial measures, and 

therefore, they should be considered in addition to, rather than as a substitute for, our GAAP measures for recognized 

revenue, deferred revenue and remaining performance obligations. Further, we can provide no assurance as to the 

profitability of our contracts reflected in remaining performance obligations, backlog and net bookings. 

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

 

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated 

financial statements, which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America. Certain accounting policies are particularly important to the understanding of our financial position and 

results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our management or can be materially affected 

by changes from period to period in economic factors or conditions that are outside of our control. As a result, they are 

subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. In applying these policies, management uses their judgment to determine the 

appropriate assumptions to be used in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are based on our historical 

operations, our future business plans and projected financial results, the terms of existing contracts, observance of trends 

in the industry, information provided by our customers, and information available from other outside sources, as 

appropriate. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. For information regarding our critical accounting 

policies as well as recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements. 

 

Our management has discussed the development and selection of critical accounting estimates with the Board of 

Directors and the Board of Directors has reviewed our disclosure relating to critical accounting estimates in this Annual 

Report. We believe the following are the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our 

consolidated financial statements. 
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Allowance for accounts receivable. Accounts receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount or based on revenue 

earned for items not yet invoiced, and generally do not bear interest. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established, as 

necessary, based on past experience and other factors, which, in management’s judgment, deserve current recognition in 

estimating bad debts. Based on its review, we establish or adjust the allowance for specific customers and the accounts 

receivable portfolio as a whole. As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts 

was $165,098 and $151,673, respectively. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an 

impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. 

 

Excess and obsolete inventory. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The inventory is 

valued based on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. Lower of cost or net realizable value is evaluated by considering 

obsolescence, excessive levels of inventory, deterioration and other factors. Adjustments to reduce the cost of inventory to 

its net realizable value, if required, are made for estimated excess, obsolescence or impaired inventory. Excess and obsolete 

inventory is charged to cost of revenue and a new lower-cost basis for that inventory is established and subsequent changes 

in facts and circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly established cost basis. As of December 

31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the allowance for excess and obsolete inventory was $93,045 and $71,376, respectively. 

 

Goodwill impairment. Goodwill, defined as unidentified asset(s) acquired in conjunction with a business 

acquisition, is tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. We recorded goodwill in connection with our 

acquisition of Hydro Innovations in July 2014. We perform a quantitative impairment test annually during the fourth quarter 

by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the 

reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is considered not impaired. An impairment charge would be 

recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. We completed this 

assessment as of December 31, 2020 and concluded that no impairment existed. 

 

Product warranty. We warrant the products that we manufacture for a warranty period equal to the lesser of 12 

months from start-up or 18 months from shipment. Our warranty provides for the repair, rework, or replacement of products 

(at our option) that fail to perform within stated specification. Our third-party suppliers also warrant their products under 

similar terms, which are passed through to our customers. We assess the historical warranty claims on our manufactured 

products and, since 2016, warranty claims have been approximately 1% of annual revenue generated on these products. 

We continue to assess the need to record a warranty reserve at the time of sale based on historical claims and other factors. 

As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, we had an accrued warranty reserve amount of $173,365 and $185,234, 

respectively, which are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. 

 

Income taxes. We account for deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future consequences of events that have 

been recognized in our consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Measurement of the deferred items is based on 

enacted tax laws. In the event the future consequences of differences between financial reporting bases and tax bases of 

our assets and liabilities result in a deferred tax asset, we perform an evaluation of the probability of being able to realize 

the future benefits indicated by such asset. A valuation allowance related to a net deferred tax asset is recorded when it is 

more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred tax asset will not be realized. Management’s judgment is 

required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance 

recorded against the net deferred tax assets. We recorded a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2020 and December 

31, 2019. Based on the available evidence, we believe it is more likely than not that we will not be able to utilize our net 

deferred tax assets in the foreseeable future. We intend to maintain valuation allowances until sufficient evidence exists to 

support the reversal of such valuation allowances. We make estimates and judgments about our future taxable income that 

are based on assumptions that are consistent with our plans. Should the actual amounts differ from our estimates, the 

carrying value of our deferred tax assets could be materially impacted. 

 

Share-based compensation. We recognize the cost resulting from all share-based compensation arrangements, 

including stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units that we grant under our equity incentive plan in 

our consolidated financial statements based on their grant date fair value. The expense is recognized over the requisite 

service period or performance period of the award. The service inception date is typically the grant date, but the service 

inception date may be prior to the grant date. Awards with a graded vesting period based on service are expensed on a 

straight-line basis for the entire award. Awards with performance-based vesting conditions which require the achievement 

of a specific company financial performance goal at the end of the performance period and required service period are 

recognized over the performance period. Each reporting period, we reassess the probability of achieving the respective 

performance goal. If the goals are not expected to be met, no compensation cost is recognized, and any previously 

recognized amount recorded is reversed. If the award contains market-based vesting conditions, the compensation cost is 

based on the grant date fair value and expected achievement of market condition and is not subsequently reversed if it is 

later determined that the condition is not likely to be met or is expected to be lower than initially expected. The grant date 

fair value of stock options is based on the Black-Scholes Model. The Black-Scholes Model requires judgmental 

assumptions including volatility and expected term, both based on historical experience. The risk-free interest rate is based 

on U.S. Treasury interest rates whose term is consistent with the expected term of the option.  
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Allocation of transaction price; standalone selling price. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct 

performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. When there are 

multiple performance obligations within a contract, we allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation based 

on standalone selling price. When estimating the selling price, we use various observable inputs. The best observable input 

is our actual selling price for the same good or service, however, this input is generally not available for our contracts 

containing multiple performance obligations. For engineering services, we estimate the standalone selling price by 

reference to certain physical characteristics of the project, such as facility size and mechanical systems involved, which are 

indicative of the scope and complexity of the mechanical engineering services to be provided. For equipment sales, the 

standalone selling price is determined by forecasting the expected costs of the equipment and then adding an appropriate 

margin, based on a range of acceptable margins established by management. Depending on the nature of the performance 

obligations, we may use a combination of different methods and observable inputs if certain performance obligations have 

highly variable or uncertain standalone selling prices. Once the selling prices are determined, we apply the relative values 

to the total contract consideration and estimates the amount of the transaction price to be recognized as each promise is 

fulfilled. 

 

Remaining performance obligations. The revenue standard requires certain quantitative and qualitative 

disclosures about our remaining performance obligations, which are defined as performance obligations that are unsatisfied 

(or partially unsatisfied) as of the end of the reporting period, including (i) the aggregate amount of the transaction price 

allocated to the remaining performance obligations, and (ii) when we expect to recognize as revenue with respect to such 

amounts on either: (x) a quantitative basis using appropriate time bands for the duration of the remaining performance 

obligations, or (y) by using qualitative information. Industry uncertainty, project financing concerns, and the licensing and 

qualification of our prospective customers, which are out of our control, make it difficult for us to predict when we will 

recognize revenue on our remaining performance obligations. There are risks that we may not realize the full contract value 

on customer projects in a timely manner or at all, and completion of a customer’s cultivation facility project is dependent 

upon the customer’s ability to secure funding and real estate, obtain a license and then build their cultivation facility so 

they can take possession of the equipment. Accordingly, the time it takes for customers to complete a project, which 

corresponds to when we are able to recognize revenue, is driven by numerous factors including: (i) the large number of 

first-time participants interested in the indoor cannabis cultivation business; (ii) the complexities and uncertainties involved 

in obtaining state and local licensure and permitting; (iii) local and state government delays in approving licenses and 

permits due to lack of staff or the large number of pending applications, especially in states where there is no cap on the 

number of cultivators; (iv) the customer’s need to obtain cultivation facility financing; (v) the time needed, and coordination 

required, for our customers to acquire real estate and properly design and build the facility (to the stage when climate 

control systems can be installed); (vi) the large price tag and technical complexities of the climate control and air sanitation 

system; (vii) the availability of power; and (viii) delays that are typical in completing any construction project. Further, 

based on the current economic climate, the uncertainty regarding the COVID-19 virus, and the Company’s recent cost 

cutting measures, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to fulfill its backlog, and the Company may 

experience contract cancellations, project scope reductions and project delays. 

 

There is significant uncertainty regarding the timing of our recognition on all remaining performance obligations 

as of December 31, 2020. Customer contracts for which we have only received an initial advance payment to cover the 

allocated value of our engineering services (“engineering only paid contracts”) carry enhanced risks that the equipment 

portion of these contracts will not be completed or will be delayed, which could occur if the customer is dissatisfied with 

the quality or timeliness of our engineering services or there is a delay or abandonment of the project due to the customer’s 

inability to obtain project financing or licensing. In contrast, after the customer has made an advance payment for a portion 

of the equipment to be delivered under the contract (“partial equipment paid contracts”), we are typically better able to 

estimate the timing of revenue recognition since the risks and delays associated with licensing, permitting and project 

funding are typically mitigated once the initial equipment payment is received. 

 

Commitments and contingencies. In the normal course of business, we are subject to loss contingencies, such as 

legal proceedings and claims arising out of our business, that cover a wide range of matters, including, among others, 

customer disputes, government investigations and tax matters. An accrual for a loss contingency is recognized when it is 

probable that an asset had been impaired, or a liability had been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably 

estimated. 
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Results of Operations 

 

Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

Revenues and Cost of Goods Sold 

 

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $8,514,000 compared to $15,224,000 for the year ended 

December 31, 2019, a decrease of $6,710,000, or 44%. This revenue decrease was partly the result of our decreased net 

bookings in 2020, which fell from $16,300,000 in 2019 to $7,405,000 in 2020, or 55%. We remain unable to consistently 

convert our backlog into revenue on a quarter-over-quarter basis. Our revenue conversion is largely dependent on customer-

centric factors—outside of our control—such as industry uncertainty, project financing concerns, the licensing and 

qualification of our prospective customers, and other reasons such as a challenging business climate including an overall 

post-COVID-19 economic downturn, which makes it difficult for us to predict when we will recognize revenue on our 

backlog. 

 

Cost of revenue decreased by $3,714,000 from $10,676,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $6,961,000 

for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 

The gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $1,553,000 compared to $4,549,000 for the year ended 

December 31, 2019. Gross profit margin decreased by approximately twelve percentage points from 29.9% for the year 

ended December 31, 2019 to 18.2% for the year ended December 31, 2020. This decrease was primarily due to our fixed 

cost base, a lower margin on equipment sales, and an increase in variable costs as a percent of revenue as described below. 

 

Our revenue cost structure is comprised of both fixed and variable components. The fixed cost component 

represents engineering, manufacturing and project management salaries and benefits and manufacturing overhead that 

totaled $1,167,000, or 13.7% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to $1,426,000, or 9.4% 

of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease of $259,000 was primarily due to a decrease in 

salaries and benefits (including stock-based compensation) of $277,000, offset by an increase of $18,000 in fixed overhead. 

The variable cost component, which represents our cost of equipment, outside engineering costs, shipping and handling, 

travel and warranty costs, totaled $5,795,000, or 68.1% of total revenue, in the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared 

to $9,250,000, or 60.8% of total revenue, in the year ended December 31, 2019. In the year ended December 31, 2020 as 

compared to the prior year, our cost of equipment decreased by $3,331,000 primarily due to the decrease in revenue and a 

decrease in our equipment margin of 3.5 percentage points. Additionally in the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared 

to the year ended December 31, 2019: (i) our warranty costs increased by $144,000, (ii) our excess and obsolete inventory 

and other variable overheads increased by $45,000, which were offset by (iii) a reduction in outside engineering costs of 

$156,000, (iv) a reduction in shipping and handling costs of $89,000 and, (v) decreased travel of $69,000. 

 

Operating Expenses 

 

Operating expenses decreased by 33% from $5,859,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $3,916,000 for 

the year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease of $1,944,000. The operating expense decrease consisted primarily of: (i) a 

decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A expenses”) of $1,567,000, (ii) a decrease in advertising 

and marketing expenses of $246,000 and, (iii) a decrease in product development expenses of $131,000. 

 

The decrease in SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 

31, 2019, was due primarily to: (i) a decrease of $762,000 in stock-based compensation, (ii) a decrease of $191,000 in 

commissions, (iii) a decrease in travel of $122,000, (iv) a decrease of $138,000 in accounting and other professional fees, 

(v) a decrease of $111,000 in loss on asset disposal, (vi) a decrease of $69,000 in board fees, (vii) a decrease of $57,000 in 

salaries, benefits and other employee related costs, (viii) a decrease of $44,000 in bad debt expense, (ix) a decrease in 

depreciation of $40,000, (x) a decrease of $17,000 in facilities, insurance and office supplies and, (xi) a decrease in investor 

relations costs of $15,000. 

 

The decrease in marketing expenses were due primarily to: (i) a decrease of $205,000 for industry trade shows 

and events, (ii) a decrease in stock-based compensation of $26,000, (iii) a decrease of $17,000 in travel, (iv) a decrease of 

$15,000 in collateral and other marketing expenses, offset by (v) an increase of $20,000 for web development. 

 

The decrease in product development costs was due to (i) a decrease in materials costs of $88,000, (ii) a decrease 

in stock-based compensation of $23,000, (iii) a decrease in salaries and benefits of $12,000 and, (iv) a decrease in travel 

of $7,000. 
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Operating Loss 
 

We had an operating loss of $2,363,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to an operating loss 

of $1,311,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $1,052,000, or 80%. The operating loss included 

$406,000 of non-cash, stock-based compensation expenses and $114,000 for depreciation and amortization in the year 

ended December 31, 2020 as compared to $1,277,000 for stock-based compensation and $154,000 of depreciation and 

amortization for the year ended December 31, 2019. Excluding these non-cash items, our operating loss increased by 

$1,964,000. 
 

Other Income (Expense) 
 

Our other income (net) increased by $632,000 from other expense (net) of $28,000 for the year ended December 

31, 2019 to other income (net) of $604,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020. This change is primarily due to loan 

forgiveness of $557,000 and income from a legal judgement of $35,000. 
 

Net Loss 
 

Overall, we had a net loss of $1,759,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to a net loss of 

$1,339,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $420,000. The net loss included $406,000 of non-cash, 

stock-based compensation costs and depreciation and amortization expense of $114,000 in the year ended December 31, 

2020 as compared to non-cash, stock-based compensation expense of $1,277,000 and depreciation and amortization of 

$154,000 in the year ended December 31, 2019. Excluding these non-cash items, our net loss increased by $1,332,000. 
 

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Position 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2,285,000, compared to cash and cash equivalents 

of $922,000 as of December 31, 2019, an increase of 148%. The $1,363,000 increase in cash and cash equivalents during 

the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily the result of cash provided by our operating and financing activities. Our 

cash is held in bank depository accounts in certain financial institutions. We currently have deposits in financial institutions 

that exceed the federally insured amount. 
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) of $33,000, 

inventory (net of excess and obsolete allowance) of $327,000, and prepaid expenses and other of $1,038,000 (including 

$916,000 in advance payments on inventory purchases). While we typically require advance payment before we commence 

engineering services or ship equipment to our customers, we have made exceptions requiring us to record accounts 

receivable, which carry a risk of non-collectability especially since most of our customers are funded on an as-needed basis 

to complete facility construction. We expect our exposure to accounts receivable risk to increase as we pursue larger 

projects. 
 

As of December 31, 2020, we had no indebtedness, total accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $1,785,000, 

deferred revenue of $3,724,000, accrued equity compensation of $128,000, and the current portion of operating lease 

liability of $266,000. As of December 31, 2020, we had a working capital deficit of $2,220,000, compared to a working 

capital deficit of $1,437,000 as of December 31, 2019. 
 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all 

available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying 

any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 
 

Because of the economic situation that developed during 2020, we cannot predict the continuing level of working 

capital that we will have in the future. Additionally, we cannot predict that our future financial position will not deteriorate 

due to cancelled or delayed contract fulfillment, reduced sales and our ability to perform our contracts. 
 

Summary of Cash Flows 
 

The following summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
  

    

For the Years Ended 

December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Net cash provided by operating activities ...............    $ 818,000     $ 672,000   

Net cash used in investing activities .......................      (9,000 )     (3,000 ) 

Net cash provided by financing activities ...............      554,000       -   

Net increase in cash ................................................    $ 1,363,000     $ 669,000   
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Operating Activities 
 

We incurred a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $1,759,000 compared to a net loss for the year 

ended December 31, 2019 of $1,339,000. We had an accumulated deficit of $27,444,000 as of December 31, 2020. 
 

Cash provided by operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $818,000 compared to cash provided by 

operations of $672,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $146,000. The increase was primarily 

attributable to: (i) an increase in cash from working capital of $1,370,000, offset by, (ii) a decrease in non-cash operating 

charges of $804,000, and (iii) an increase in net loss of $420,000. Significant non-cash items included: (i) a gain on note 

payable forgiveness of $557,000, (ii) stock-related compensation of $277,000, (iii) $190,000 for amortization of ROU 

asset, and (iv) depreciation and amortization expense of $120,000. 
 

Investing Activities 
 

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $9,000, compared to cash used in 

investing activities of $3,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The change related to purchases of property and 

equipment. 
 

Financing Activities 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, cash from financing activities was $554,000 and $0, 

respectively. The cash from financing activities was the result of a loan received from our bank on April 22, 2020 which 

was subsequently forgiven on December 11, 2020. See Note 9 – Note Payable and Accrued Interest. 
 

Going Concern 
 

Our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, have been presented on a going 

concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of 

business. Our independent registered public accounting firm included in its audit opinion on our consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, a statement that there is substantial doubt as to our ability to continue 

as a going concern, and our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 were prepared 

assuming that we would continue as a going concern. We have determined that our ability to continue as a going concern 

is dependent on raising additional capital to fund our operations and ultimately on generating future profitable operations. 

There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient additional capital or eventually have positive cash flow 

from operations to address all of our cash flow needs. If we are not able to generate positive cash flow from operations or 

find alternative sources of cash, our business and shareholders will be materially and adversely affected. The foregoing 

factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the date our 

condensed consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, are issued. Our condensed consolidated 

financial statements do not include any adjustment that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 

The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to those of other similar stage and situated companies, 

including general economic conditions, its customers’ operations and prospects for and ability to obtain project financing, 

and market and business disruptions, that include the outbreak of COVID-19, dependence on key individuals, successful 

development, marketing and branding of products; uncertainty of product development and generation of revenues; 

dependence on outside sources of financing; risks associated with research, development; dependence on third-party 

suppliers and collaborators; protection of intellectual property; and competition with larger, better-capitalized companies. 

Ultimately, the attainment of profitable operations is dependent on future events, including obtaining adequate financing 

to fulfill its development activities and generating a level of revenues adequate to support the Company’s cost structure. 
 

The Company also will be affected by constraints on the availability of capital to its customers and prospects who 

have commenced, or are contemplating, new or expanded cultivation facilities and the overall impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic. The extent to which COVID-19 will impact the Company’s business and financial results will depend on future 

developments, which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. See Note 16. The duration and likelihood of operational 

success going forward resulting from the fiscal year 2020 measures of adjusting the workforce reductions and cost-cutting 

measures are uncertain. If these actions do not meet management’s expectations, or additional capital is not available, there 

is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Other factors that will impact the 

Company’s ability to continue operations include the market demand for the Company’s products and services, the ability 

to service its customers and prospects, potential contract cancellations, project scope reductions and project delays, the 

Company’s ability to fulfill its backlog, the management of working capital, and the continuation of normal payment terms 

and conditions for purchase of the Company’s products. The Company believes its cash balances and cash flow from 

operations will be insufficient to fund its operations for the next twelve months. If the Company is unable to increase 

revenues, or otherwise generate cash flows from operations, there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the date the financial statements are issued. These consolidated 

financial statements do not include any adjustment that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.  
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Capital Raising 
 

We believe our cash balances and cash flow from operations will be insufficient to fund our operations for the 

next 12 months. If we are unable to increase revenues or otherwise generate cash flows from operations, we will need to 

raise additional funding to continue as a going concern. Based on management’s estimate for our operational cash 

requirements, during the first quarter of 2020, we took steps to downsize and reorient our operations to reduce costs. We 

will need to obtain financing in order to continue our operations and achieve our growth strategies. There can be no 

assurance that we will be able to raise the necessary financing, when and if needed, on acceptable terms or at all. If our 

operating results do not meet management’s expectations, or additional capital is not available, management believes it 

can downsize or reorient operations to reduce certain expenditures. The precise amount and timing of our financing needs 

cannot be determined accurately at this time, and will depend on a number of factors, including the market demand for our 

products and services, management of working capital, and continuation of normal payment terms and conditions for 

purchase of our products and services. 
 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise debt or equity financing in sufficient amounts, 

when and if needed, on acceptable terms or at all. The Company’s ability to raise equity capital is also limited by the 

Company’s stock price, and any such issuance could be highly dilutive to existing shareholders. 
 

Inflation 
 

In the opinion of management, inflation has not and will not have a material effect on our operations in the 

immediate future. Management will continue to monitor inflation and evaluate the possible future effects of inflation on 

our business and operations. 
 

Contractual Payment Obligations 
 

Refer to Note 4 – Leases of our consolidated financial statements, which are included as part of this Annual Report 

for the further details on our obligations under a lease for our manufacturing and office space. 
 

Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Litigation 
 

As of December 31, 2019, there were 6,750,000 restricted stock units that had not been settled due to a dispute 

with a former employee over the required withholding taxes to be paid to the Company for remittance to the appropriate 

tax authorities. The Company commenced an arbitration action against the former employee regarding the dispute. The 

former employee also made claims in the arbitration action against the Company for unpaid wages. As stated in a pleading 

in the arbitration, on March 9, 2020, the Company issued the former employee 6,750,000 shares of the Company’s common 

stock in settlement of these restricted stock units after taking measures to mitigate the Company’s exposure to penalties 

and liability for the failure to properly withhold income taxes. The Arbitrator issued an interim award of approximately 

$10,000 in the Company’s favor and a finding against the former employee. Effective June 9, 2020, the Arbitrator issued 

his final award in the Company’s favor in the Colorado arbitration. The Arbitrator found against the former employee and 

awarded the Company costs of $33,985, with interest at 8% per year. Effective July 22, 2020, the Colorado Court confirmed 

the Arbitration award and entered a final judgement in favor of the Company and against the former employee. The 

Company pursued collection of this debt and has now collected the debt owed. This former employee is continuing to 

pursue separate litigation against the Company for recovery of alleged consulting fees owed to him for the 2015 calendar 

year prior to his appointment as an executive officer of the Company. The Company strongly disputes the ongoing litigation 

and in the remote event of an adverse outcome, the amount of any settlement loss for this case is not reasonably estimable 

as of the date of the issuance of these financial statements. 
 

From time to time, in the normal course of our operations, we are subject to litigation matters and claims. 

Litigation can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the results of complex legal 

proceedings are difficult to predict and our view of these matters may change in the future as the litigation and events 

related thereto unfold. An unfavorable outcome to any legal matter, if material, could have an adverse effect on our 

operations or our financial position, liquidity or results of operations. 
 

Other Commitments 
 

In the ordinary course of business, we may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to customers, 

vendors, lessors, business partners, and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses 

arising out of our breach of such agreements, services to be provided by us, or from intellectual property infringement 

claims made by third parties. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and certain 

of our officers and employees that will require us to, among other things, indemnify them against certain liabilities that 

may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers, or employees. We maintain director and officer 

insurance, which may cover certain liabilities arising from our obligation to indemnify our directors and certain of our 

officers and employees, and former officers, directors, and employees of acquired companies, in certain circumstances.  
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

We are required to disclose any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current 

or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, 

liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources that are material to investors. As of December 31, 2020, we had no off-

balance sheet arrangements. During 2020 and 2019, we did not engage in any off-balance sheet financing activities. 

 

Recent Developments 

 

Refer to Note 16 - Subsequent Events of our consolidated financial statements, included as part of this Annual 

Report, for the more significant events occurring since December 31, 2020. 

 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

 

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, therefore are not required to 

provide the information under this item. 

 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

 

Our consolidated financial statements are included herein, beginning on page F-1. The information required by 

this item is incorporated herein by reference to the consolidated financial statements set forth in Item 15. “Exhibits and 

Financial Statement Schedules” of this Annual Report. 

 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

 

See Item 14. 

 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 

Our management conducted an evaluation, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Principal 

Financial and Accounting Officer, which positions are currently held by the same person, of the effectiveness of our 

disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of 

the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our 

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer concluded that as a result of the material weakness in our internal control over 

financial reporting described below, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2020. 

 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation of our financial statements and related information. Management 

uses its best judgment to ensure that the financial statements present fairly, in material respects, our financial position and 

results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as 

defined in the Exchange Act. These internal controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the reported 

financial information is presented fairly, that disclosures are adequate and that the judgments inherent in the preparation of 

financial statements are reasonable. There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal controls 

including the possibility of human error and overriding of controls. Consequently, an effective internal control system can 

only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to reporting financial information. 

 

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to maintaining 

records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that 

transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles and that the receipts and expenditures of company assets are made in accordance with our 

management and directors authorization; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention of or timely 

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on our financial 

statements. 
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Under the supervision of management, by our Chief Executive Officer and our Principal Financial and Accounting 

Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the 

framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (“COSO”) published in 2013 and subsequent guidance prepared by COSO specifically for smaller 

public companies. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting 

was not effective as of December 31, 2020 for the reasons discussed below. 

 

A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 

such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim consolidated financial 

statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

 

Management identified the following material weakness in its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control 

over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020: 

 

The Company did not maintain effective controls over certain aspects of the financial reporting process because: 

(i) we lack a sufficient complement of personnel with a level of accounting expertise and an adequate supervisory review 

structure that is commensurate with our financial reporting requirements, (ii) there is inadequate segregation of duties due 

to the limitation on the number of our accounting personnel, and (iii) we have insufficient controls and processes in place 

to adequately verify the accuracy and completeness of spreadsheets that we use for a variety of purposes including revenue, 

taxes, stock-based compensation and other areas, and place significant reliance on, for our financial reporting. 

 

We intend to take appropriate and reasonable steps to make the necessary improvements to remediate these 

deficiencies. We are committed to continuing to improve our financial organization including, without limitation, 

expanding our accounting staff and improving our systems and controls to reduce our reliance on the manual nature of our 

existing systems. However, due to our size and our financial resources, remediating the several identified weaknesses has 

not always been possible and may not be economically feasible now or in the future. 

 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Principal Financial and Accounting Officer, does 

not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error 

and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that 

there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent 

limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and 

instances of fraud, if any, within our Company have been detected. 

 

The material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, remained 

unchanged from December 31, 2019. Management believes that the material weaknesses set forth above did not have an 

effect on our financial reporting for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 

We will continue to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an 

ongoing basis and are committed to taking further action and implementing additional enhancements or improvements, as 

necessary and as funds allow. We do not, however, expect that the material weaknesses in our disclosure controls will be 

remediated until such time as we have improved our internal control over financial reporting. In January of 2020, we 

implemented an inventory management system and perpetual inventory which we believe has addressed some of our 

weaknesses. 

 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm 

regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered 

public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only management’s report in this Annual 

Report on Form 10-K. 

 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 

There were no changes identified in connection with our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter 

ended December 31, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control 

over financial reporting. 

 

Item 9B. Other Information 

 

None. 
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PART III 

 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

 

Information about our Directors 

 

The Company’s current directors are set forth below: 

  

Name   Age   Positions & Committees 

Anthony K. McDonald    62   Chairman of the Board; Chief Executive Officer and President 

James R. Shipley    65   Director 

Nicholas J. Etten   52   Director 

 

Certain information, as of March 23, 2021, with respect to the Company’s current directors is set forth below. The 

business address of each of the directors is 1780 55th Street, Boulder, Colorado 80301. 

  

Name and Year First Elected 

Director   

Background Information and Principal Occupation(s) During Past Five 

Years and Beyond 

      

Anthony K. McDonald (2018)   Mr. McDonald was appointed a director on September 12, 2018. On November 28, 

2018, Mr. McDonald was appointed our Chief Executive Officer and President. On 

June 24, 2020, Mr. McDonald was appointed Chairman of the Board. Mr. 

McDonald has been involved in building businesses in the cleantech, energy 

efficiency and heating, ventilation and air conditioning (“HVACD”) industries over 

the past 10 years. From 2008 to 2018, Mr. McDonald led sales and business 

development as Vice-President—Sales for Coolerado Corp., a manufacturer and 

marketer of innovative, energy-efficient air conditioning systems for commercial, 

government, and military use. Along with Coolerado’s CEO, Mr. McDonald was 

instrumental in growing the business to become an INC. 600 high-growth company 

award winner and assisted in raising $15 million of private funding from a cleantech 

investment fund. In 2015, Coolerado was acquired by Seeley International, 

Australia’s largest air conditioning manufacturer and an innovative global leader in 

the design and production of energy-efficient cooling and heating products, where 

Mr. McDonald served as National Account Manager. He is also the founder and 

Managing Partner of Cleantechsell.com and the author of Cleantech Sell: The 

Essential Guide To Selling Resource Efficient Products In The B2B Market. 

 

Prior to joining Coolerado, Mr. McDonald spent over ten years in the private equity 

industry where he was involved in numerous transactions in the technology, 

manufacturing, and power development industries. As a business development 

officer at several private equity acquisitions groups Mr. McDonald identified, 

financed, or acquired numerous transactions with total enterprise value in excess of 

$200 million. 

 

Mr. McDonald was also a consultant to international banks with KMPG from 1994 

to 1997 and served as a director for Keating Capital, Inc., a publicly traded business 

development company that made investments in pre-IPO companies. He previously 

served as a mentor for companies in the Clean Tech Open competition. 

 

Mr. McDonald is a U.S. Army veteran and a graduate of the U.S. Military Academy 

at West Point, N.Y. where he earned a B.S. degree in Engineering and Economics. 

He also received an M.B.A. degree from the Harvard Business School. 

 

Among the reasons for Mr. McDonald to be selected for service on the Board is his 

experience in sales, sales and operations management, mergers and acquisitions, the 

HVACD industry, his in-depth knowledge of climate control systems and 

technologies. 
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Name and Year First Elected 

Director 

  Background Information and Principal Occupation(s) During Past Five 

Years and Beyond 

   

James R. Shipley (2020)   Mr. Shipley was appointed a director on June 24, 2020. Mr. Shipley recently retired 

from AgTech Holdings where he was the Chief Strategy Officer of GroAdvisor and 

the Vice-President of Sales VividGro since 2017. Since 2017, Mr. Shipley has 

assisted in design and build consulting along with supply chain management for 

cultivation operations in 12 states covering more than 500,000 square feet of 

warehouse indoor cultivation and continues to consult independently with operators 

in North America. From 2014 to 2017 Mr. Shipley, acting in several executive roles, 

helped build multiple business lines for MJIC Inc. (now CNSX: MSVN); these roles 

included being a member of the board of directors, Chairman and President. Mr. 

Shipley is currently president and a principal in RSX Enterprises Inc., a sales agency 

and marketing firm that sells and markets equipment for use in controlled 

environment agriculture on behalf of various manufacturers. Mr. Shipley has been 

active in the cannabis business, where he has founded various summits such as the 

Marijuana Investor Summit and been involved in many educational workshops and 

business expos. Previously, Mr. Shipley was an officer and chief revenue officer 

with Carrier Access Corporation (CACS), a public company trading on Nasdaq. 

Prior to Carrier Access, Mr. Shipley worked at Williams Companies in their 

telecommunications divisions. 

 

Mr. Shipley has been selected for service on the Board because of his experience in 

and commitment to the cannabis industry, his demonstrated and consistent record 

of success as an executive and entrepreneur, and his extensive network of contacts 

in the cannabis industry. 

      

Nicholas J. Etten (2020)   Mr. Etten was appointed a director on June 24, 2020. Mr. Etten joined Acreage 

Holdings in 2018 where he is currently the Head of Government Affairs. Acreage 

is a vertically integrated, multi-state operator of cannabis licenses and assets in the 

U.S. In 2017 he founded the Veterans Cannabis Project where he continues to serve 

as Chairman. Veterans Cannabis Project (VCP) is an organization dedicated to 

advocating on behalf of cannabis access issues for U.S. military veterans. From 

2015 to 2017, Mr. Etten set aside his career to provide care for his seriously ill son. 

Mr. Etten’s career has been focused on the growth equity market, and prior to 

Acreage, he held positions including Vice President of Global Business 

Development for FreightWatch International, and Director of Corporate 

Development for Triple Canopy. Mr. Etten was an investment professional at 

Trident Capital, where he focused on the cyber-security space, and an investment 

banker at Thomas Weisel Partners. Mr. Etten served on active duty as a U.S. Navy 

SEAL officer. He earned an MBA from the J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of 

Management at Northwestern University, and a BS in political science from the 

United States Naval Academy. 

 

Mr. Etten has been selected for service on the Board because of his experience in 

and commitment to the cannabis industry, his experience with multi-site cannabis 

operators, his demonstrated and consistent record of success as an executive, and 

his extensive network of contacts in the cannabis industry and investment banking 

world. 

 

Each of the directors on our Board of Directors was elected or appointed because he has demonstrated an ability 

to make meaningful contributions to our business and affairs and has skills, experience and background that are 

complementary to those of our other Board members. 

 

Director Independence 

 

The Board annually determines each director’s independence, although we are not required to have any 

independent directors because the common stock of the Company is not listed on a national exchange. We do not consider 

a director independent unless the Board has determined that the person has no material relationship with us. We intend to 

monitor the relationships of our directors and officers through a questionnaire each director completes no less frequently 

than annually and updates periodically as information provided in the most recent questionnaire changes. 
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In order to evaluate the materiality of any such relationship, the Board uses the definition of director independence 

set forth in Rule 5605(a)(2) promulgated by the Nasdaq Stock Market. The Board has determined that Messrs. Shipley and 

Etten are independent directors. Mr. McDonald is not an independent director as a result of his position as an executive 

officer. 

Audit Committee Functions 

 

The Board currently does not have an Audit Committee. Rather, the functions that an audit committee would carry 

out are handled by the Board. These responsibilities include recommending the selection of our independent registered 

public accounting firm; evaluating the appointment, compensation and retention of our registered public accounting firm; 

receiving formal written statements from our independent registered public accounting firm regarding its independence, 

including a delineation of all relationships between it and the Company; reviewing with such independent registered public 

accounting firm the planning, scope and results of their audit of our financial statements; pre-approving the fees for services 

performed; reviewing with the independent registered public accounting firm the adequacy of internal control systems; 

reviewing our annual financial statements and periodic filings, and receiving our audit reports and financial statements. 

The Board also considers the effect on the Company of any changes in accounting principles or practices proposed by 

management or the independent registered public accounting firm, any changes in service providers, such as the 

accountants, that could impact the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and any changes in schedules (such 

as fiscal or tax year-end changes) or structures or transactions that required special accounting activities, services or 

resources. 

 

Nominations for Directors 

 

The Company has not established a nominating committee. Accordingly, the Board is responsible for identifying 

individuals qualified to serve on the Board as directors and on committees of the Board, establishing procedures for 

evaluating the suitability of potential director nominees consistent with the criteria approved by the Board, reviewing the 

suitability for continued service as a director when his or her term expires and at such other times as the Board deems 

necessary or appropriate, and determining whether or not the director should be re-nominated, and reviewing the 

membership of the Board and its committees and making changes, if any. 

 

In evaluating director nominees, the Board of Directors will generally consider the following factors: 

  

  ● the appropriate size and composition of our Board of Directors; 

  ● whether or not the person is an “independent” director as defined in Rule 5605(a)(2) promulgated by the 

Nasdaq Stock Market; 

  ● the needs of the Company with respect to the particular talents and experience of its directors; 

  ● the knowledge, skills and experience of nominees in light of prevailing business conditions and the 

knowledge, skills and experience already possessed by other members of the Board of Directors; 

  ● familiarity with national and international business matters and the requirements of the industry in which 

we operate; 

  ● experience with accounting rules and practices; 

  ● the desire to balance the considerable benefit of continuity with the periodic injection of the fresh 

perspective provided by new members; and 

  ● all applicable laws, rules, regulations and listing standards, if applicable. 

 

There are no stated minimum criteria for director nominees, although the Board may consider such factors as it 

may deem are in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. The Board also believes it is appropriate for certain 

key members of our management to participate as members of the Board of Directors. 

 

The Board identifies nominees by first evaluating the current members of the Board willing to continue in service. 

Current members of the Board with skills and experience that are relevant to our business and who are willing to continue 

in service are considered for re-nomination, balancing the value of continuity of service by existing members of the Board 

with that of obtaining a new perspective. If any member of the Board does not wish to continue in service, or if the Board 

decides not to re-nominate a member for re-election, the Board identifies the desired skills and experience of a prospective 

director nominee in light of the criteria above, or determines to reduce the size of the Board. Research may also be 

performed to identify qualified individuals. To date, we have not engaged third parties to identify or evaluate or assist in 

identifying potential nominees, nor do we anticipate doing so in the future. 
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Stockholder Communications with Directors 

 

Stockholders may communicate with the Board by sending a letter to the Corporate Secretary, Surna Inc., 1780 

55th Street, Boulder, Colorado 80301. Each communication must set forth the name and address of the stockholder on 

whose behalf the communication is sent and should indicate in the address whether the communication is intended for the 

entire Board, the non-employee directors as a group or an individual director. Each communication will be screened by the 

Corporate Secretary or his designee to determine whether it is appropriate for presentation to the Board or any specified 

director(s). Examples of inappropriate communications include junk mail, spam, mass mailings, resumes, job inquiries, 

surveys, business solicitations and advertisements, as well as unduly hostile, threatening, illegal, unsuitable, frivolous, 

patently offensive or otherwise inappropriate material. Communications determined to be appropriate for presentation to 

the Board, or the director(s) to whom they are specifically addressed, will be submitted to the Board or such director(s) on 

a periodic basis. Any communications that concern accounting, internal control or auditing matters will be handled in 

accordance with procedures adopted by the Board of Directors. 
 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

 

Our Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is available for review on our website at 

www.surna.com and is also available in print, without charge, to any stockholder who requests a copy by writing to us at 

Surna Inc., 1780 55th Street, Boulder, Colorado 80301, Attention: Corporate Secretary. Each of our directors, employees 

and officers, including our Chief Executive Officer, and all of our other principal executive officers, are required to comply 

with the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. There have not been any waivers of the Code of Business Conduct and 

Ethics relating to any of our executive officers or directors in the past year. 
 

Meetings and Committees of the Board 

 

Our Board is responsible for overseeing the management of our business. We keep our directors informed of our 

business at meetings and through reports and analyses presented to the Board and the committees of the Board, if any. 

Regular communications between our directors and management also occur outside of formal meetings of the Board and 

committees of the Board. 
 

Meeting Attendance 

 

Our Board generally holds meetings on a quarterly basis but may hold additional meetings as required. In 2020, 

the Board held four meetings. Each of our directors attended 100% of the Board meetings that were held during the periods 

when he was a director and 100% of the meetings of each committee of the Board on which he served that were held during 

the periods that he served on such committee. We do not have a policy requiring that directors attend our annual meetings 

of stockholders. We did not hold a 2020 annual meeting of stockholders. 
 

Board Leadership Structure 

 

The Board may, but is not required to, select a Chairman of the Board who presides over the meetings of the 

Board and meetings of the stockholders and performs such other duties as may be assigned to him by the Board. The 

positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer may be filled by one individual or two different 

individuals. Currently the positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. McDonald. 
 

Board’s Role in Risk Oversight 

 

While risk management is primarily the responsibility of the Company’s management team, the Board is 

responsible for the overall supervision of the Company’s risk management activities. The Board as a whole has 

responsibility for risk oversight, and each Board committee has responsibility for reviewing certain risk areas and reporting 

to the full Board. The oversight responsibility of the Board and its committees is enabled by management reporting 

processes that are designed to provide visibility to the Board about the identification, assessment, and management of 

critical risks and management’s risk mitigation strategies in certain focus areas. These areas of focus include strategic, 

operational, financial and reporting, succession and compensation and other areas. 
 

The Board oversees risks associated with their respective areas of responsibility. The Board oversees: (i) risks and 

exposures associated with our business strategy and other current matters that may present material risk to our financial 

performance, operations, prospects or reputation, (ii) risks and exposures associated with management succession planning 

and executive compensation programs and arrangements, including equity incentive plans, and (iii) risks and exposures 

associated with director succession planning, corporate governance, and overall board effectiveness. 
 

Management provides regular updates to the Board regarding the management of the risks they oversee at each 

regular meeting of the Board. We believe that the Board’s role in risk oversight must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis 

and that our existing Board’s role in risk oversight is appropriate. However, we continually re-examine the manners in 

which the Board administers its oversight function on an ongoing basis to ensure that they continue to meet the Company’s 

needs.  
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

 

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires our executive 

officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of our common stock to file initial reports of ownership 

and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC. Such persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies 

of all Section 16(a) reports filed by such persons. 
 

Based solely on our review of the copies of such reports furnished to us, we believe that during the fiscal year 

ended December 31, 2020, all executive officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners of our common stock 

complied with the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, except as stated hereinafter, Mr. 

McDonald, the Chief Executive Officer, filed a late Form 4 report, on March 12, 2021, indicating and acquisition of 268,700 

nonqualified stock options on February 16, 2021. 
 

Executive Officer 

 

Executive officers are appointed by our Board and serve at its discretion. Set forth below is information regarding 

our executive officers as of March 22, 2021. 

  

Name   Age   Positions  

Anthony K. McDonald*    62   Chief Executive Officer and President; Director 

 

* Mr. McDonald currently also serves as our Principal Financial and Accounting Officer. 
 

Mr. McDonald’s biographical information is included with such information for the other members of our Board. 
 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

 

Director Compensation Program 

 

On January 2, 2020, the Board approved a revised compensation plan for independent directors. Under this plan, 

the Company was to pay its independent directors an annual cash fee of $30,000, payable quarterly in advance, covering 

attendance at all regular or special meetings of the Board or any committee thereof (including telephonic meetings) and 

any other services provided by them as a director (other than services as the Chairman of the Board and lead independent 

director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee). 
 

Under this plan, the Company was to pay the Chairman of the Board and lead independent director an additional 

annual fee of $15,000, payable in cash quarterly in advance. 
 

Also, under this plan, the Company was to pay the Audit Committee Chairman an additional annual fee of 

$15,000, payable in cash quarterly in advance, for his services as the Audit Committee Chairman. There was no additional 

compensation paid to members of the Audit Committee. 
 

For independent directors elected or appointed on or after January 1, 2020, at the time of initial election or 

appointment, the independent director received an equity award consisting of a grant of non-qualified stock options to 

purchase 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The options vested 50% upon grant and 50% on the first 

anniversary of the grant date, had a term of 10 years, and an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s 

common stock on The OTC Markets on the day immediately preceding the grant date. 
 

In addition, on the first business day of January each year, each independent director received a grant of non-

qualified stock options to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, which options immediately vested on 

the date of grant, had a term of 10 years, and an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock 

on The OTC Markets on the day immediately preceding the grant date. In the case of a mid-year election or appointment, 

the 250,000 options were pro-rated for each full quarter of service in the year of appointment. 
 

For each of the two independent directors serving on January 1, 2020, Messrs. Keating and Simonton, the Board 

also approved a special one-time grant of non-qualified stock options to purchase 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s 

common stock, in recognition of the prior services of each such independent director. These non-qualified stock options 

were granted January 2, 2020, were immediately vested on the date of grant, had a term of 10 years, and had an exercise 

price of $0.07 per share, the closing price of the Company’s common stock on The OTC Markets on the day immediately 

preceding the grant date. 
 

On March 26, 2020, Timothy J. Keating resigned as Chairman of the Board and a member of the Board and J. 

Taylor Simonton resigned as a member of the Board. 
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On June 24, 2020, the Board adopted a new plan for Director compensation (the “Plan”) related to the appointment 

of Messrs. Shipley and Etten as directors. Under the Plan, each such independent director will receive an equity award 

consisting of a grant of non-qualified stock options to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The 

options will vest 50% upon grant and 50% on April 1, 2021, if the Director remains on the Board up to that time. The 

options have a term of 5 years and have an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on 

The OTC Markets on the day immediately preceding the grant date. Options will also provide that they will expire 3 months 

after the termination of service to the Company for any reason. The directors will not receive any cash payment for meeting 

attendance. 

 

Effective June 24, 2020, the Company appointed two new independent directors, James R. Shipley and Nicholas 

J. Etten, and Mr. McDonald was appointed Chairman of the Board. 

 

Both new independent directors, Messrs. Shipley and Etten, are subject to the Plan. 

 

The board of directors, acting unanimously, may also grant additional stock options to the independent directors, 

no more frequently than every six months in recognition of special services as a director to the Company, which award will 

not be greater than 1,000,000 per award, with an exercise period of not greater than three years, on the same general terms 

as the award on initial election or appointment. 

 

Each independent director is responsible for the payment of any and all income taxes arising with respect to the 

issuance of any equity awarded under the plan, including the exercise of any non-qualified stock options. 

 

The Company also reimburses independent directors for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending Board and 

committee meetings and undertaking certain matters on the Company’s behalf. 

 

Employee directors do not receive separate fees for their services as directors. 

 

Under the Nevada Revised Statutes and pursuant to our charter and bylaws, as currently in effect, the Company 

may indemnify the Company’s officers and directors for various expenses and damages resulting from their acting in these 

capacities. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our officers and 

directors pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification 

is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is therefore unenforceable. 

 

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and executive officers. The 

indemnification agreements are intended to provide the Company’s directors the maximum indemnification permitted 

under the Nevada Revised Statutes, unless otherwise limited by the Company’s charter and bylaws. Each indemnification 

agreement provides that the Company shall indemnify the director or executive officer who is a party to the agreement (an 

“Indemnitee”), including the advancement of legal expenses, if, by reason of his corporate status, the Indemnitee is, or is 

threatened to be, made a party to or a witness in any threatened, pending, or completed proceeding. Each indemnification 

agreement further provides that the applicable provisions of the Company’s charter and bylaws regarding indemnification 

shall control in the event of any conflict with any provisions of such indemnification agreements. 

 

Director Compensation Table 

 

The following table sets forth the compensation earned by or awarded or paid in 2020 to the individuals who 

served as our independent directors during such period. 

  

Name   

Fees Earned 

or Paid in 

Cash     

Stock 

Awards     

Option 

Awards 
(1), (2)     Total   

James R. Shipley .........................................    $ -     $ -     $ 19,800     $ 19,800   

Nicholas J. Etten .........................................    $ -     $ -     $ 19,800     $ 19,800   

 
(1) Reflects the dollar amount of the grant date fair value of awards, measured in accordance with FASB 

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718 (“Topic 718”) without adjustment for estimated 

forfeitures. For a discussion of the assumptions used to calculate the value of equity awards, refer to Note 

14 to our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 included in this 

Annual Report. 
(2) Reflects grant to each independent director on June 24, 2020 of non-qualified stock options to purchase 

1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. 
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Disclosure Relating to Former Directors 

 

Mr. Keating was a Director of the Company until his resignation in March 2020. During the period from January 

1, 2020 until his resignation, Mr. Keating received $7,500 fees paid or earned in cash and stock option non-qualified stock 

options to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $14,625 in respect of the annual 2020 grant 

in recognition of his prior services to the Company. 

 

Mr. Simonton was a Director of the Company until his resignation in March 2020. During the period from January 

1, 2020 until his resignation, Mr. Keating received $7,500 fees paid or earned in cash and stock option non-qualified stock 

options to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $14,625 in respect of the annual 2020 grant 

in recognition of his prior services to the Company. 

 

The aggregate number of non-qualified stock options held as of December 31, 2020 by each independent director 

are as follows: 

  

Name   

Shares 

Underlying 

Non-Qualified 

Stock 

Options (1)     

Shares 

Underlying 

Restricted 

Stock Units     Total   

James R. Shipley ..........................      1,000,000       –       1,000,000   

Nicholas J. Etten ..........................      1,000,000       –       1,000,000   

 

(1) Includes grant to each independent director on June 24, 2020 of non-qualified stock options to purchase 

1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. 

 

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives 

 

The Company has not established a compensation committee. Accordingly, the Board is responsible for setting 

compensation policies for executive officers which has two fundamental objectives: (i) to provide a competitive total 

compensation package that enables the Company to attract and retain highly qualified executives with the skills and 

experience required for the achievement of business goals; and (ii) to align certain compensation elements with the 

Company’s annual performance goals. The Board considers, with respect to each of the Company’s executive officers, the 

total compensation that may be awarded, including base salary, discretionary cash bonuses, annual stock incentive awards, 

stock options, restricted stock units and other equity awards, and other benefits and perquisites. Under certain 

circumstances, the Board may also award compensation payable upon termination of the executive officer under an 

employment agreement or severance agreement (if applicable). The Board recognizes that its overall goal is to award 

compensation that is reasonable when all elements of potential compensation are considered. The Board believes that cash 

compensation in the form of base salary and discretionary cash bonuses provides our executives with short-term rewards 

for success in operations, and that long-term compensation through the award of stock options, restricted stock units and 

other equity awards aligns the objectives of management with those of our stockholders with respect to long-term 

performance and success. 

 

The Board also has historically focused on the Company’s financial condition when making compensation 

decisions and approving performance objectives. Because the Company has historically sought to preserve cash and 

currently does not operate at a profit, overall compensation traditionally has been weighted more heavily toward equity-

based compensation. The Board will continue to periodically reassess the appropriate weighting of cash and equity 

compensation in light of the Company’s expenditures in connection with commercial operations and its cash resources and 

working capital needs. 

  



52 

Summary Executive Compensation Table 

 

The following table summarizes compensation earned by or awarded or paid to our named executive officers for 

the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

  

Name and Principal 

Position   Year   Salary     Bonus     

Stock 

Awards 
(1)     

Option 

Awards 
(1)     

Non-equity 

Incentive Plan 

Compensation     

Non-qualified 

Deferred 

Compensation 

Earnings     

All Other 

Compensation     Total   

Anthony K. McDonald - 

Chief Executive Officer 

and President (2) .............    2020   $ 174,593     $ 20,000     $ -     $ 33,333     $ -     $ -     $ 15,314     $ 243,240   

    2019   $ 180,000     $ -     $ -     $ 58,532     $ -     $ -     $ 13,900     $ 252,432   

 
(1) Reflects the dollar amount of the grant date fair value of awards granted in 2019 or 2020, measured in 

accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718 (“Topic 718”) without 

adjustment for estimated forfeitures. For a discussion of the assumptions used to calculate the value of 

equity awards, refer to Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2020 included in this Annual Report. 
(2) Mr. McDonald was appointed Chief Executive Officer and President in November 2018. Amounts 

presented include all compensation for Mr. McDonald for the full 2019 and 2020 years. Bonus includes 

cash bonus paid in recognition of services rendered and contributions to the Company’s performance in 

2019. 2019 option awards include non-qualified stock options to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common 

stock awarded in January 2020, based on our 2019 performance and Mr. McDonald’s contributions to 

such performance, some of which options are subject to certain to vesting (see Outstanding Equity 

Awards table, below). 2020 option awards include non-qualified stock options to purchase 268,700 

shares of common stock awarded in February 2021, based on Mr. McDonald’s 2020 performance. The 

options vested and became exercisable on the grant date. Other compensation in 2019 and 2020 includes 

(i) employer-paid portion of health plan benefits ($6,700 and $7,780, respectively), and (ii) employer 

matching contributions under our 401(k) plan ($7,200 and $7,535, respectively). 

 

Disclosure Relating to Former Executives 

 

Mr. Bechtel was Chief Executive Officer and President from August 2017 until his resignation in November 2018. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. Bechtel received salary of $7,561 in respect of services provided in the 

prior year. 

 

Mr. Smiens was Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer from July 2018, and Secretary from September 2018, until 

his termination of employment in December 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. Smiens received slasy 

of $18,454 in respect of services provided in the prior year. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards 

 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding outstanding equity awards held by our named 

executive officers as of December 31, 2020. 

  
      Option Awards     Stock Awards     

Name     

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options 

Exercisable       

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options 

Unexercisable       

Equity 

Incentive 

Plan 

Awards: 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Unearned 

Options       

Option 

Exercise 

Price     

Option 

Expiration 

Date     

Number 

of 

Shares 

or Units 

of Stock 

That 

Have 

Not 

Vested       

Market 

Value 

of 

Shares 

or 

Units 

of 

Stock 

That 

Have 

Not 

Vested       

Equity 

Incentive 

Plan 

Awards: 

Number 

of 

Unearned 

Shares, 

Units or 

Other 

Rights 

That 

Have Not 

Vested       

Equity 

Incentive 

Plan 

Awards: 

Market 

or Payout 

Value of 

Unearned 

Shares, 

Units or 

Other 

Rights 

That 

Have Not 

Vested   

Anthony K. 

McDonald (1) .........      5,000,000       –       –     $ 0.089     11/28/2028     –       –       –       –   

      1,000,000       –       –     $ 0.070     1/2/2030     –       –       –       –   

      268,700       –       –     $ 0.130     2/16/2031                                 

 
(1) On November 28, 2018, we granted to Mr. McDonald non-qualified stock options to purchase 5,000,000 

shares of common stock under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, of which: (i) 1,000,000 options vested 

and became exercisable on the grant date, (ii) 2,000,000 options vested and became exercisable on 

December 31, 2019, and (iii) 2,000,000 options vested and became exercisable on December 31, 2020. 

On January 2, 2020, we granted to Mr. McDonald non-qualified stock options to purchase 1,000,000 

shares of common stock under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan in recognition of his performance during 

2019, which options vested and became exercisable on the grant date. On February 16, 2021, we granted 

to Mr. McDonald non-qualified stock options to purchase 268,700 shares of common stock under our 

2017 Equity Incentive Plan in recognition of his performance during 2020, which options vested and 

became exercisable on the grant date. 

 

Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Officers 

 

Anthony K. McDonald 

 

On November 28, 2018, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. McDonald, the Company’s 

Chief Executive Officer and President. The initial term of the employment agreement commenced on November 28, 2018 

and was to continue until December 31, 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the term of Mr. McDonald’s 

employment agreement was extended to December 31, 2021. However, the Company and Mr. McDonald may terminate 

the employment agreement, at any time, with or without cause, by providing the other party with 30-days’ prior written 

notice. In the event Mr. McDonald’s employment is terminated by the Company during the initial term without cause, Mr. 

McDonald will be entitled to receive his base salary for an additional 30 days. Following the initial term, the Company and 

Mr. McDonald may extend the employment agreement for additional one-year terms by mutual written agreement. Under 

the employment agreement, Mr. McDonald received in 2019 an annualized base salary of $180,000. Effective January 1, 

2020, the annualized base salary was increased to $200,000. 

 

Under the employment agreement, the Board approved an award of non-qualified stock options to purchase 

5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as may be modified 

and amended by the Company from time to time (the “2017 Equity Plan”), which vest as follows: (i) 1,000,000 options 

vested and became exercisable on November 28, 2018, the grant date, (ii) 2,000,000 options vested and became exercisable 

on December 31, 2019, and (iii) 2,000,000 options vested and became exercisable on December 31, 2020. The exercise 

price of these options is $0.089, based on the closing of the Company’s common stock on November 27, 2018. In the event 

of a change of control involving the Company, any non-qualified stock options not already vested will become vested, 

provided Mr. McDonald continues to provide services to the Company on the date immediately preceding the date of the 

change of control. 
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In consideration of the grant of the above non-qualified stock options, Mr. McDonald agreed to cancel 197,368 

RSUs, which were granted to him as an equity retention award in connection with Mr. McDonald’s appointment to the 

Board on September 12, 2018 and which had not vested as of November 28, 2018. 

 

On January 2, 2020, the Board also awarded Mr. McDonald a special one-time grant of non-qualified stock options 

to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and a $20,000 cash bonus, in recognition of his services as 

the Company’s Chief Executive Officer during 2019. These non-qualified stock options were immediately vested on the 

date of grant, had a term of 10 years, and had an exercise price of $0.07 per share, the closing price of the Company’s 

common stock on The OTC Markets on the day immediately preceding the grant date. 

 

On February 16, 2021, Mr. McDonald was awarded non-qualified stock options to purchase 268,700 shares of 

common stock under our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. This grant was based on his performance during 2020. The options 

vested and became exercisable on the grant date. The associated equity compensation expense was accrued during 2020. 

 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

 

The following table sets forth the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by (i) each of our directors, (ii) 

each of our named executive officers, (iii) all of our directors and executive officers as a group, and (iv) all persons known 

by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our outstanding common stock. The Company has determined the beneficial 

ownership shown on this table in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Under these rules, shares are considered beneficially 

owned if held by the person indicated, or if such person, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, 

understanding, relationship or otherwise, has or shares the power to vote, to direct the voting of and/or to dispose of or to 

direct the disposition of such shares. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of shares if that person has the right 

to acquire such shares within 60 days through the exercise of any warrant, option or right or through conversion of a 

security. Except as otherwise indicated in the accompanying footnotes, the information in the table below is based on 

information as of March 23, 2021. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the following table, each person named 

in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to shares of common and preferred stock and the address 

for such person is c/o Surna Inc. 1780 55th Street, Boulder, Colorado 80301. 

  

    Common Stock     Preferred Stock   

Name of Beneficial Owner   

Number of 

Shares 

Owned 

Beneficially 
(1)     

Percentage 

of Class (2)     

Number of 

Shares 

Owned 

Beneficially 
(1)     

Percentage 

of Class (3)   

                          

Directors                                 

Anthony K. McDonald (4) ...........      6,466,068       2.7 %     -       -   

James R. Shipley (5) ....................      1,000,000       0.4 %                 

Nicholas J. Etten (6) .....................      1,000,000       0.4 %                 

                                  

Executive Officers who are not 

Directors ........................................      -       -       -       -   

                                  

Executive Officers and Directors 

as a Group .....................................      8,466,068       3.5 %     -       -   

                                  

5% or More Stockholders                                 

John F. Jansen (7).........................      15,253,546       6.4 %     -       -   

Brandy M. Keen (8) .....................      13,020,614       5.5 %     -       -   

Morgan Paxhia (9) .......................      -       -       33,428,023       79.5 % 

 

 (1) Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act. 

 (2) Based on a total of 236,526,638 shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding as of 

March 23, 2021. 

 (3) Based on a total of 42,030,331 shares of the Company’s preferred stock issued and outstanding as of 

March 23, 2021. The holders of preferred stock vote as a separate class on matters affecting the preferred 

stock. 

 (4) Includes 6,268,700 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 

days of which 268,700 were granted on 02/16/21. 

 (5) Includes 1,000,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 

days. 
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 (6) Includes 1,000,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 

days. 

 (7) Beneficial ownership based on Schedule 13G dated May 25, 2018 filed by Mr. Jansen with the SEC, and 

share ownerhsip reported by Mr. Jansen to the Company as of March 8, 2020. Includes 2,500,000 shares 

of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants exercisable within 60 days. The address for Mr. 

Jansen is 4910 Kaylan Court, Richmond, TX 77407. 

 (8) Beneficial ownership based on share ownership reported by Ms. Keen to the Company as of March 4, 

2021. Includes shares of common stock held jointly with her spouse, Stephen B. Keen. The address for 

the Keens is 359 Ash Juniper Dr., New Braunfels, TX 78132. 

 (9) Includes 33,428,023 shares of preferred stock owned by Demeter Capital Group LP (“Demeter”). Mr. 

Paxhia and his sister, Emily Paxhia, are the managing members of Poseidon Asset Management, LLC 

(“Poseidon”), which is the general partner and/or investment manager of Demeter and in such capacity 

exercises voting and dispositive power over the securities beneficially owned by Demeter. The address 

for Mr. Paxhia, Ms. Paxhia, Poseidon and Demeter is 130 Frederick Street, #102, San Francisco, CA 

94117. 
 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

 

Transactions with Related Parties 

 

The following describes certain agreements and transactions between the Company and its co-founders, Brandy 

and Stephen Keen (the “Co-founders”). The Co-founders held various executive officer and director positions with the 

Company until May 2018. One of the Co-founders also was a consultant to the Company until May 2018. The Co-founders 

are also shareholders of the Company. Based on information available to the Company, the Co-founders did not own more 

than 10% of the Company’s outstanding common stock at any time during 2020 or 2019. 

 

Equipment, Demonstration and Product Testing Agreement. In May 2017, we entered into a three-year 

equipment, demonstration and product testing agreement with a licensed cannabis cultivation company affiliated with Mr. 

Keen. Under this agreement, we agreed to lease the cultivation company certain cultivation equipment in exchange for a 

quarterly fee of $16,500, which was increased to $18,330 to reflect additional leased equipment requested by the cultivation 

company (the “Lease Fee”). In consideration for access to the cultivation facility to conduct demonstration tours and for 

the product testing and data to be provided by the cultivation company, we agreed to pay the cultivation company a 

quarterly fee of $12,000 (the “Demo and Testing Fee”). 

 

The parties each made their respective payments under this agreement through June 30, 2018. Thereafter, the 

cultivation company failed to make any subsequent payments of the Lease Fee and, as a result, the Company did not pay 

the Demo and Testing Fee. During the second quarter of 2019, we notified the cultivation company of its breach for non-

payment of the Lease Fee. In February 2020, the parties mutually agreed to terminate this agreement and release each other 

from all claims related to this agreement, including any unpaid Lease Fees or Demo and Testing Fees. We also agreed to 

transfer the equipment to the cultivation company for no additional consideration. 

 

Employment Agreement. In May 2018, we entered into an employment agreement with Ms. Keen, which 

provided for an initial base salary of $150,000 per year and certain sales incentive. Pursuant to the employment agreement, 

we awarded 4,800,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to Ms. Keen that vested at certain dates in the future, subject to her 

continued employment. These RSU’s have now fully vested and Ms. Keen continues her employment with the Company 

under this agreement. 

 

*************** 

 

During 2020, except as discussed above, there have been no transactions in which the Company was or is a 

participant, and there are no currently proposed transactions in which the Company is to be a participant, in which the 

amount involved exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the Company’s average assets at year-end for the last two 

completed fiscal years, and in which any director, executive officer or beneficial holder of more than 5% of any class of 

our voting securities or member of such person’s immediate family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. 

 

On January 7, 2021, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with RSX Enterprises, Inc. (RSX), a 

company controlled by Mr. James R. Shipley, a director of the Company. RSX will provide consulting services to the 

Company focused on product offerings, engineering requirements, key customer marketing outreach, and related matters, 

as mutually determined by the Company and RSX. The Company will pay a monthly consulting fee of $6,500 for up to 50 

hours per month for the various consulting activities undertaken and provide for reimbursement of expenses. The term of 

the agreement is set for three months. Any intellectual property developed by RSX will belong to the Company, and the 

contract provides for typical indemnification obligations and confidentiality provisions. 
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Company Policy Regarding Related Party Transactions 

 

The Company has procedures in place for the review, approval and monitoring of transactions involving the 

Company and certain persons related to the Company. For example, the Company has a code of business conduct and 

ethics that generally prohibits any employee, officer or director from engaging in any transaction where there is a conflict 

between such individual’s personal interest and the interests of the Company. Waivers to the code of business conduct and 

ethics can generally only be obtained from the Board and are publicly disclosed as required by applicable law and 

regulations. 

 

In addition, our Board will review all related party transactions for potential conflict of interest situations on an 

ongoing basis (if such transactions are not reviewed and overseen by another independent body of the Board). In accordance 

with that policy, the Board’s general practice is to review and oversee any transactions that are reportable as related party 

transactions under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and SEC rules and regulations. Management 

advises the Board on a regular basis of any such transaction that is proposed to be entered into or continued and seeks 

approval. 

 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

 

ACM LLP (“ACM”) acted as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year 

ended December 31, 2019. ACM has advised us that neither the firm nor any present member or associate of it has any 

material financial interest, direct or indirect, in the Company or its affiliates. 

 

Sadler, Gibb & Associates, L.L.C. (“SGA”) has acted as the Company’s independent registered public accounting 

firm for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. SGA has advised us that neither the firm nor any present member or 

associate of it has any material financial interest, direct or indirect, in the Company or its affiliates. 

 

The following table summarizes the fees of SGA and ACM for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 

respectively: 

  

    2020     2019   

Audit Fees .........................................................................    $ 116,000     $ 135,000   

Audit-Related Fees ............................................................              -   

Tax Fees ............................................................................      21,000 (1)     16,960 (2) 

Other Fees .........................................................................      -       -   

Total ..................................................................................    $ 137,000     $ 151,960   

 
(1) Tax fees in 2020 relate to tax returns for the 2019 year 
(2) Tax fees in 2019 relate to tax returns for the 2018 year 

 

Audit Fees. Audit fees consist of fees billed by our independent registered public accounting firms for professional 

services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, and the review of our 

consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports. 

 

Audit-Related Fees. Audit-related services consist of fees billed by our independent registered public accounting 

firms for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the 

Company’s financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.” These services include the review of our 

registration statements on Forms S-8. 

 

Tax Fees. Tax fees consist of fees billed by our independent registered public accounting firms for professional 

services rendered for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice. These services include assistance regarding federal, 

state, and local tax compliance. 

 

All Other Fees. All other fees would include fees for products and services other than the services reported above. 

 

Pre-Approval Policy 

 

Our Board of Directors pre-approves all services to be provided by our independent registered public accounting 

firm. 
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Change in Accountants Disclosure 

 

On May 26, 2020, the Company notified ACM, that the Company had dismissed ACM as its independent 

registered public accounting firm. The dismissal of ACM was approved by the Board of the Company. 

 

ACM served as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm since 2017 until its dismissal. 

 

ACM’s reports on the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the fiscal years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or 

modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, except that such reports contained explanatory paragraphs 

in respect to uncertainty as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and the change in its method of 

accounting for leases due to the adoption of the Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases, which was discussed 

in Footnote 4 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. During the fiscal years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, and through May 26, 2020, there were no disagreements with ACM on any matter of 

accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which if not resolved to 

ACM’s satisfaction would have caused it to make reference thereto in connection with its reports on the financial statements 

for such years. 

 

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and through May 26, 2020, there were no events of 

the type described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, other than certain material weaknesses in respect of effectiveness 

of internal controls over certain aspects of the financial reporting process because: (i) the Company lacked a sufficient 

complement of personnel with a level of accounting expertise and an adequate supervisory review structure that was 

commensurate with the financial reporting requirements of the Company, (ii) there was inadequate segregation of duties 

due to the limited number of accounting personnel, and (iii) the Company has insufficient controls and processes in place 

to adequately verify the accuracy and completeness of spreadsheets that management uses for a variety of purposes 

including revenue, taxes, stock-based compensation and other areas, and place significant reliance on, for our financial 

reporting. 

 

On May 28, 2020, the Company engaged SGA, as its new independent registered public accounting firm. The 

engagement of SGA was approved by the Board. 

 

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and thereafter through May 28, 2020, the Company 

did not consult with SGA with respect to any matter whatsoever including without limitation with respect to any of (i) the 

application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; (ii) the type of audit opinion 

that might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements; or (iii) any matter that was either the subject of a 

disagreement (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) or an event of the type described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) 

of Regulation S-K. 

 

The Company provided ACM with a copy of the foregoing disclosure and requested that it furnish the Company 

with a letter addressed to the Securities and Exchange Commission stating whether it agrees with the statements made 

therein. A copy of such letter, dated May 28, 2020, was filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, dated 

May 26, 2020, filed with the SEC on May 29, 2020. 
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PART IV 

 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

 

a. Documents Filed as Part of this Report 

 

The following consolidated financial statements of Surna Inc. are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 

10- K: 

 

Financial Statements Page(s) 

    

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms ..................................................................................  F-2 - F-4 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 ............................................................................  F-5 

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 ...................................  F-6 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  F-7 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  .................................  F-8 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .............................................................................................................  F-9 

 

b. Exhibits 

 

See “Exhibit Index” on the page following the consolidated financial statements and related footnotes and the 

signature page to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 

c. Financial Statement Schedules 

 

No financial statement schedules are filed herewith because (i) such schedules are not required, or (ii) the 

information has been presented in the aforementioned financial statements. 

 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

 

The Company has elected not to provide the summary of information under this item. 
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Surna Inc. 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 

Financial Statements Page(s) 

  
 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms ..................................................................................  F-2 - F-4 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 ............................................................................  F-5 

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 ...................................  F-6 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  F-7 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  .................................  F-8 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .............................................................................................................  F-9 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Surna Inc.: 
 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Surna Inc. (“the Company”) as of December 

31, 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year 

ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the 

financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 

December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, in conformity 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 

Explanatory Paragraph Regarding Going Concern 
 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going 

concern. As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Company has experienced losses since its inception, has a 

net working capital deficiency and has an accumulated deficit, which creates substantial doubt about its ability to continue 

as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 3. The financial statements 

do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 

Basis for Opinion 
 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect 

to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 

and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 

audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of 

internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
 

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining 

on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included 

evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 

Critical Audit Matters 
 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial 

statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) related to accounts 

or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 

complex judgements. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial 

statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical matters below, providing separate opinions on 

the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. 
 

Revenue Recognition – Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations 
 

Critical Audit Matter Description 
 

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company’s contracts with customers often include the 

promise to transfer multiple goods and services to a customer. Distinct promises within a contract are referred to as 

performance obligations and are accounted for as separate units of account. Management assesses whether each promised 

good or service is distinct for the purpose of identifying the performance obligations in the contract. This assessment 

involves subjective determinations and requires management to make judgments about the individual promised goods or 

services and whether such goods or services are separable from the other aspects of the contractual relationship. The 

Company’s performance obligations include various distinct goods and services such as equipment and various engineering 

services. When multiple performance obligations are identified within a contract, management exercises judgement in 

allocating the transaction price amongst the various performance obligations. In addition, when discounts are provided for 

a particular contract, the discount is allocated to each performance obligation proportionally based upon the stand-alone 

selling price of each performance obligation.  
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We determined that performing procedures related to the identification of performance obligations in revenue 

contracts and allocation of the transaction price to the respective performance obligations is a critical audit matter as there 

was significant judgment by management in identifying performance obligations in revenue contracts and allocating the 

consideration, which in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures to 

evaluate whether performance obligations in revenue contracts were appropriately identified by management and 

consideration was appropriately allocated. 

 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

 

Our audit procedures related to the following: 

  

  ● We gained an understanding of the internal controls related to the revenue recognition process, including 

controls related to the proper identification of performance obligations and allocation of the transaction 

price to the various performance obligations. 

  ● We examined revenue contracts, on a test basis, to test the accuracy and completeness of management’s 

identification of the performance obligations. 

  ● We evaluated management’s process for allocation of the transaction price to the identified performance 

obligations including evaluating the reasonableness of management’s estimate of stand-alone selling 

prices. 

 

/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC 

 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020. 

 

Draper, UT 

March 23, 2021 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 

Surna Inc. 

Boulder, Colorado 

 

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Surna Inc. and subsidiary (the “Company”) as 

of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ (deficit) equity, and cash flows for 

the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our 

opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company 

at December 31, 2019, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Going Concern Uncertainty 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will 

continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered 

recurring losses from operations and has a working capital deficiency and a shareholders’ deficit as of December 31, 2019 

that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters 

are also described in Note 3. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from 

the outcome of this uncertainty. 

 

Change in Accounting Principle 

 

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2019, the Company changed its 

method of accounting for leases due to the adoption of the Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting 

firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be 

independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 

regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 

material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to 

perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an 

understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

 

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our 

audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion. 

 

/s/ ACM LLP 

 

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2017 to 2020. 

 

Greeley, Colorado 

March 24, 2020 
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Surna Inc. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 

  

    December 31,     December 31,   

    2020     2019   

              

ASSETS                 

Current Assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents .....................................................................    $ 2,284,881     $ 922,177   

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 

$165,098 and $151,673, respectively) ...................................................      33,480       138,357   

Inventory, net .........................................................................................      327,109       1,231,243   

Prepaid expenses and other ....................................................................      1,037,823       269,491   

Total Current Assets ..................................................................................      3,683,293       2,561,268   

Noncurrent Assets                 

Property and equipment, net ..................................................................      147,732       257,923   

Goodwill ................................................................................................      631,064       631,064   

Intangible assets, net ..............................................................................      7,227       11,930   

Deposits .................................................................................................      -       51,000   

Operating lease right-of-use asset ..........................................................      343,950       534,133   

Total Noncurrent Assets ............................................................................      1,129,973       1,486,050   

                  

TOTAL ASSETS .....................................................................................    $ 4,813,266     $ 4,047,318   

                  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT                 

                  

CURRENT LIABILITIES                 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ...............................................    $ 1,784,961     $ 1,832,959   

Deferred revenue ...................................................................................      3,724,189       1,444,472   

Accrued equity compensation ................................................................      128,434       503,466   

Current portion of operating lease liability ............................................      266,105       217,843   

Total Current Liabilities.............................................................................      5,903,689       3,998,740   

                  

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES                 

Other liabilities ......................................................................................      74,156       -   

Operating lease liability, net of current portion .....................................      169,119       404,209   

Total Noncurrent Liabilities .......................................................................      243,275       404,209   

                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES ............................................................................      6,146,964       4,402,949   

                  

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11) ..............................................      -       -   

                  

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT                 

Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 

42,030,331 shares issued and outstanding .............................................      420       420   

Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 350,000,000 shares authorized; 

236,526,638 and 228,216,638 shares issued and outstanding, 

respectively ............................................................................................      2,366       2,283   

Additional paid in capital .......................................................................      26,107,159       25,326,593   

Accumulated deficit ...............................................................................      (27,443,643 )     (25,684,927 ) 

Total Shareholders’ Deficit ........................................................................      (1,333,698 )     (355,631 ) 

                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT .............    $ 4,813,266     $ 4,047,318   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Surna Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 
 

  

    

For the Years Ended 

December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Revenue, net ..............................................................................................    $ 8,514,272     $ 15,224,454   

                  

Cost of revenue ..........................................................................................      6,961,305       10,675,601   

                  

Gross profit ................................................................................................      1,552,967       4,548,853   

                  

Operating expenses:                 

Advertising and marketing expenses .....................................................      430,012       675,703   

Product development costs ....................................................................      390,229       521,044   

Selling, general and administrative expenses ........................................      3,095,350       4,662,695   

Total operating expenses ...........................................................................      3,915,591       5,859,442   

                  

Operating loss ............................................................................................      (2,362,624 )     (1,310,589 ) 

                  

Other income (expense):                 

Other income (expense), net ..................................................................      621,340       (27,977 ) 

Interest expense .....................................................................................      (17,432 )     -   

Total other income (expense) ....................................................................      603,908       (27,977 ) 

                  

Loss before provision for income taxes .....................................................      (1,758,716 )     (1,338,566 ) 

                  

Income taxes ..............................................................................................      -       -   

                  

Net loss ......................................................................................................    $ (1,758,716 )   $ (1,338,566 ) 

                  

Loss per common share – basic and dilutive .............................................    $ (0.01 )   $ (0.01 ) 

                  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, basic and 

dilutive .......................................................................................................      236,168,059       227,662,184   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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    Preferred Stock     Common Stock                     

    

Number of 

Shares     Amount     

Number of 

Shares     

Number of 

Shares to 

be Issued     Amount     

Additional 

Paid in 

Capital     

Accumulated 

Deficit     

Shareholders’ 

Deficit   

Balance December 31, 

2018 .................................      42,030,331     $ 420       224,989,794       1,000,000     $ 2,250     $ 24,538,027     $ (24,346,361 )   $ 194,336   

Common shares issued on 

settlement of restricted 

stock units and award of 

stock bonuses, vested 

restricted stock units 

canceled ...........................      -       -       2,240,000       560,000       23       (23 )     -       -   

Common shares issued as 

compensation for services      -       -       986,844       -       10       74,990       -       75,000   

Fair value of vested 

restricted stock units 

awarded to employees......      -       -       -       -       -       278,906       -       278,906   

Fair value of vested stock 

options granted to 

employees and 

consultants .......................      -       -       -       -       -       390,484       -       390,484   

Fair value of vested 

incentive stock bonuses 

awarded to employees......      -       -       -       -       -       44,209       -       44,209   

Net loss ............................      -       -       -       -       -       -       (1,338,566 )     (1,338,566 ) 

Balance December 31, 

2019 .................................      42,030,331     $ 420       228,216,638       1,560,000     $ 2,283     $ 25,326,593     $ (25,684,927 )   $ (355,631 ) 

Common shares issued or 

to be issued on settlement 

of restricted stock units 

and award of stock 

bonuses ............................      -       -       8,310,000       (1,560,000 )     83       (83 )     -       -   

Fair value of vested 

restricted stock units 

awarded to employees......      -       -       -       -       -       25,163       -       25,163   

Fair value of vested stock 

options accrued in 2019 

and issued to employees 

and directors in 2020 .......                                              503,466               503,466   

Fair value of vested stock 

options granted to 

employees and directors ..      -       -       -       -       -       252,020       -       252,020   

Net loss ............................      -       -       -       -       -       -       (1,758,716 )     (1,758,716 ) 

Balance December 31, 

2020 .................................      42,030,331     $ 420       236,526,638       -     $ 2,366     $ 26,107,159     $ (27,443,643 )   $ (1,333,698 ) 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the Twelve Months Ended 

December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:                 

Net loss ......................................................................................................    $ (1,758,716 )   $ (1,338,566 ) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities:                 

Depreciation and intangible asset amortization expense ........................      120,103       161,180   

Gain on forgiveness of note payable ......................................................      (557,203 )     -   

Share-based compensation .....................................................................      277,183       788,599   

Provision for doubtful accounts .............................................................      13,425       32,651   

Provision for excess and obsolete inventory ..........................................      21,669       (223,971 ) 

Loss on disposal of assets ......................................................................      4,124       115,359   

Amortizion of ROU Asset .....................................................................      190,183       -   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 

Accounts receivable ...............................................................................      91,452       39,179   

Inventory ................................................................................................      882,466       (71,386 ) 

Prepaid expenses and other ....................................................................      (768,333 )     (141,143 ) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ...............................................      26,157       23,830   

Deferred revenue ...................................................................................      2,279,717       802,674   

Accrued interest .....................................................................................      3,203       -   

Operating lease liability, net ..................................................................      (135,828 )     (20,039 ) 

Accrued equity compensation ................................................................      128,434       503,466   

Net cash provided by operating activities ..................................................      818,036       671,833   

                  

Cash Flows From Investing Activities                 

Purchases of property and equipment ....................................................      (9,332 )     (3,043 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities ..........................................................      (9,332 )     (3,043 ) 

                  

Cash Flows From Financing Activities                 

Proceeds from issuance of note payable ................................................      554,000       -   

Net cash provided by financing activities ..................................................      554,000       -   

                  

Net increase in cash ...................................................................................      1,362,704       668,790   

Cash, beginning of period ..........................................................................      922,177       253,387   

Cash, end of period ....................................................................................    $ 2,284,881     $ 922,177   

                  

Non-cash investing and financing activities:                 

Interest paid ...........................................................................................    $ -     $ -   

Income taxes paid ..................................................................................    $ -     $ -   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 1 – Description of Business 

 

Surna Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Nevada on October 15, 2009. We design, engineer and sell 

environmental control and other technologies for the Controlled Environment Agriculture (CEA) industry. The CEA 

industry is one of the fastest-growing sectors of the United States’ economy. From leafy greens (kale, Swiss chard, mustard, 

cress), microgreens (leafy greens harvested at the first true leaf stage), ethnic vegetables and small fruits (such as 

strawberries, blackberries and raspberries) to bell peppers, cucumbers, tomatoes and cannabis and hemp, some producers 

grow crops indoors in response to market dynamics or as part of their preferred farming practice. In service of the CEA 

industry, our principal technologies include: (i) liquid-based process cooling systems and other climate control systems, 

(ii) air handling equipment and systems, (iii) a full-service engineering package for designing and engineering commercial 

scale thermodynamic systems specific to cultivation facilities, and (iv) automation and control devices, systems and 

technologies used for environmental, lighting and climate control. Our customers include commercial, state- and 

provincial-regulated CEA growers in the U.S. and Canada as well as other international locations. Customers are those 

growers building new facilities and those expanding or retrofitting existing facilities. Currently, our revenue stream is 

derived primarily from supplying our products, services and technologies to commercial indoor facilities ranging from 

several thousand to more than 100,000 square feet. Headquartered in Boulder, Colorado, we leverage our experience in 

this space to bring value-added climate control solutions to our customers that help improve their overall crop quality and 

yield, optimize energy and water efficiency, and satisfy the evolving state and local codes, permitting and regulatory 

requirements. Although our customers do, we neither produce nor sell cannabis or its related products. 

 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Our Business 

 

The impact of the government and the business economic response to the COVID-19 pandemic has affected 

demand across the majority of our markets and disrupted work on projects. The COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have 

continued adverse effects on our sales, project implementation, operating margins, and working capital. As of the date of 

this filing, uncertainty continues to exist concerning the magnitude and duration of the economic impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic. 

 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its changing conditions the Company reduced its operational expenses 

to conserve its cash resources. Many expenses, including travel, marketing, headcount, work hours, and compensation were 

reduced, deferred, or eliminated while still allowing us to meet our customer obligations and develop new business. As the 

fiscal year progressed and our sales rebounded, and we were able to obtain additional funds through a forgivable bank loan, 

we restored our workforce and compensation. 

 

Due to the speed with which the COVID-19 pandemic developed and the resulting uncertainties, including the 

depth and duration of the disruptions to customers and suppliers, its future effect on our business, on our results of 

operations, and on our financial condition, cannot be predicted. We expect that the economic disruptions will continue to 

have an effect on our business over the longer term. Despite this uncertainty, we continue to monitor costs and continue to 

take actions to reduce costs so as to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to the best of our ability, although they 

may not be sufficient in the long-run for us to avoid reduced sales, increased losses and reduced operating cash flows. 

 

Refer to Risk Factors, included in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K above, for further 

discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business. 

 

Note 2 – Basis of Presentation; Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

Financial Statement Presentation 

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

reported amounts and related disclosures. 

 

As further discussed in Note 3 Going Concern below, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared on a going-concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in 

the normal course of business. The Company has not generated sufficient revenue and has historically funded its operations 

through the sale of common stock, the issuance of debt and the receipt of advance payments from customers. The Company 

is subject to risks, expenses and uncertainties similar to those encountered by similarly situated companies. 
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Principles of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled and wholly owned 

subsidiary, Hydro Innovations, LLC (“Hydro”). Intercompany transactions, profit, and balances are eliminated in 

consolidation. 
 

Use of Estimates 
 

Management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and that affect the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various 

other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 

judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. Key estimates include: allocation of transaction prices to performance obligations under 

contracts with customers, standalone selling prices, timing of expected revenue recognition on remaining performance 

obligations under contracts with customers, valuation of intangible assets as it applies to impairment analysis, valuation of 

equity-based compensation, valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, warranty accruals, inventory allowances, and 

legal contingencies. 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase are considered 

to be cash equivalents. The Company may, from time to time, have deposits in financial institutions that exceed the 

federally insured amount. The Company has not experienced any losses to date on depository accounts. 
 

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 

Accounts receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount or based on revenue earned for items not yet invoiced, 

and generally do not bear interest. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established, as necessary, based on past experience 

and other factors, which, in management’s judgment, deserve current recognition in estimating bad debts. Based on the 

Company’s review, it establishes or adjusts the allowance for specific customers and the accounts receivable portfolio as 

a whole. As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $165,098 and 

$151,673, respectively. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their 

ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. 
 

Inventory 
 

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The inventory is valued based on a first-in, first-out 

(“FIFO”) basis. Lower of cost or net realizable value is evaluated by considering obsolescence, excessive levels of 

inventory, deterioration and other factors. Adjustments to reduce the cost of inventory to its net realizable value, if required, 

are made for estimated excess, obsolescence or impaired inventory. Excess and obsolete inventory is charged to cost of 

revenue and a new lower-cost basis for that inventory is established and subsequent changes in facts and circumstances do 

not result in the restoration or increase in that newly established cost basis. As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 

2019, the allowance for excess and obsolete inventory was $93,045 and $71,376, respectively. 
 

Property and Equipment 
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. For financial statement purposes, property and equipment are recorded 

at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which is generally five years. 

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of their useful lives or the life of the lease. 

Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the 

balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as 

incurred. 
 

Long-lived Assets 
 

Long-lived tangible assets, including property and equipment, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in business circumstances indicate the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. When such an event 

occurs, management determines whether there has been impairment by comparing the anticipated undiscounted future net 

cash flows to the related asset’s carrying value. If an asset is considered impaired, the asset is written down to fair value, 

which is determined based either on discounted cash flows or appraised value, depending on the nature of the asset. The 

Company has not identified any indicators of impairment during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 

The Company recorded goodwill in connection with its acquisition of Hydro in July 2014. Goodwill is reviewed 

for impairment annually on December 31st or more frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that fair 

value of the reporting unit has been reduced to less than its carrying value. The Company performs a quantitative 

impairment test annually during the fourth quarter by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying 

amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is considered not 

impaired. An impairment charge would be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting 

unit’s fair value. The Company determined that it has one reporting unit. The Company completed this assessment as of 

December 31, 2020 and concluded that no impairment existed. 

 

Separable identifiable intangibles consist of intellectual property such as patents and trademarks, and capitalized 

website costs. Except for trademarks, which are not amortized, the Company’s separable identifiable intangible assets are 

subject to amortization on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Trademarks are tested annually for 

impairment. Separable identifiable intangibles are also subject to evaluation for potential impairment if events or 

circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 

Fair Value Measurement 

 

The Company records its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The accounting standard for fair value 

provides a framework for measuring fair value, clarifies the definition of fair value, and expands disclosures regarding fair 

value measurements. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

(an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the reporting date. The accounting standard 

establishes a three-tier hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value: 

 

Level 1 - inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 

Level 2 - inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term 

of the financial instrument. 

 

Level 3 - inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company’s assumptions used to measure assets and 

liabilities at fair value. 

 

A financial asset or liability’s classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level of input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the 

fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or 

liability. 

 

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 

payable, and accrued expenses, approximate fair value. 

 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

 

The Company evaluates its financial instruments to determine if such instruments are derivatives or contain 

features that qualify as embedded derivatives. For derivative financial instruments that are accounted for as liabilities, the 

derivative instrument is initially recorded at its fair value and is then re-valued at each reporting date, with changes in the 

fair value reported in the statements of operations. For stock-based derivative financial instruments, the Company uses the 

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model (the “Black-Scholes Model”) to value the derivative instruments. The classification 

of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is evaluated at 

the end of each reporting period. Derivative instrument liabilities are classified in the balance sheet as current or non-

current based on whether or not net-cash settlement of the derivative instrument could be required within twelve months 

of the balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, there were no derivative financial instruments. 
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Revenue Recognition 

 

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09 (Topic 606), Revenue 

from Contracts with Customers and all the related amendments (“ASC 606” or the “revenue standard”) to all contracts and 

elected the modified retrospective method. 

 

The following table sets forth the Company’s revenue by source: 

  

    

For the Years Ended 

December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Equipment and systems sales .................    $ 7,730,371     $ 13,692,863   

Engineering and other services ...............      568,131       1,239,130   

Shipping and handling ............................      215,770       292,461   

Total revenue ..........................................    $ 8,514,272     $ 15,224,454   

 

Revenue Recognition Accounting Policy Summary 

 

The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with ASC 606. Under the revenue standard, a performance 

obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. Most of the 

Company’s contracts contain multiple performance obligations that include engineering and technical services as well as 

the delivery of a diverse range of climate control system equipment and components, which can span multiple phases of a 

customer’s project life-cycle from facility design and construction to equipment delivery and system installation and start-

up. The Company does not provide construction services or system installation services. Some of the Company’s contracts 

with customers contain a single performance obligation, typically engineering only services contracts. 

 

A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, 

or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. When there are multiple performance obligations within a contract, the 

Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on standalone selling price. When estimating 

the selling price, the Company uses various observable inputs. The best observable input is the Company’s actual selling 

price for the same good or service, however, this input is generally not available for the Company’s contracts containing 

multiple performance obligations. For engineering services, the Company estimates the standalone selling price by 

reference to certain physical characteristics of the project, such as facility size and mechanical systems involved, which are 

indicative of the scope and complexity of the mechanical engineering services to be provided. For equipment sales, the 

standalone selling price is determined by forecasting the expected costs of the equipment and components and then adding 

an appropriate margin, based on a range of acceptable margins established by management. Depending on the nature of 

the performance obligations, the Company may use a combination of different methods and observable inputs if certain 

performance obligations have highly variable or uncertain standalone selling prices. Once the selling prices are determined, 

the Company applies the relative values to the total contract consideration and estimates the amount of the transaction price 

to be recognized as each promise is fulfilled. 

 

Generally, satisfaction occurs when control of the promised goods is transferred to the customer or as services are 

rendered or completed in exchange for consideration in an amount for which the Company expects to be entitled. The 

Company recognizes revenue for the sale of goods when control transfers to the customer, which primarily occurs at the 

time of shipment. The Company’s historical rates of return are insignificant as a percentage of sales and, as a result, the 

Company does not record a reserve for returns at the time the Company recognizes revenue. The Company has elected to 

exclude from the measurement of the transaction price all taxes (e.g., sales, use, value added, and certain excise taxes) that 

are assessed by a governmental authority in connection with a specific revenue-producing transaction and collected by the 

Company from the customer. Accordingly, the Company recognizes revenue net of sales taxes. The revenue and cost for 

freight and shipping is recorded when control over the sale of goods passes to the Company’s customers. 

 

The Company also has performance obligations to perform certain engineering services that are satisfied over a 

period of time. Revenue is recognized from this type of performance obligation as services are rendered based on the 

percentage completion towards certain specified milestones. 

 

The Company offers assurance-type warranties for its products and products manufactured by others to meet 

specifications defined by the contracts with customers and does not have any material separate performance obligations 

related to these warranties. The Company maintains a warranty reserve based on historical warranty costs.  
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Other Judgments and Assumptions 
 

The Company typically receives customer payments in advance of its performance of services or transfers of 

goods. Applying the practical expedient in ASC 606-10-32-18, which the Company has elected, the Company does not 

adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component since the Company 

expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the Company transfers a promised good or service to a 

customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less. Accordingly, the remaining 

performance obligations related to customer contracts does not consider the effects of the time value of money. 
 

Applying the practical expedient in ASC 340-40-25-4, the Company recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining 

contracts as an expense when incurred since the amortization period of the assets that the Company otherwise would have 

recognized is one year or less. These costs include certain sales commissions and incentives, which are included in selling, 

general and administrative expenses, and are payable only when associated revenue has been collected and earned by the 

Company. 
 

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities 
 

Contract assets reflect revenue recognized and performance obligations satisfied in advance of customer billing. 

Contract liabilities relate to payments received in advance of the satisfaction of performance under the contract. The 

Company receives payments from customers based on the terms established in its contracts. 
 

Contract assets include unbilled amounts where revenue recognized exceeds the amount billed to the customer 

and the right of payment is conditional, subject to completing a milestone, such as a phase of a project. The Company 

typically does not have material amounts of contract assets since revenue is recognized as control of goods are transferred 

or as services are performed. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company had no contract assets. 
 

Contract liabilities consist of advance payments in excess of revenue recognized. The Company’s contract 

liabilities are recorded as a current liability in deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheets since the timing of when 

the Company expects to recognize revenue is generally less than one year. As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 

2019, deferred revenue, which was classified as a current liability, was $3,724,189 and $1,444,472, respectively. 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized revenue of $1,103,447 related to the deferred 

revenue at January 1, 2020, or 76%. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized revenue of $473,682 

related to the deferred revenue at January 1, 2019, or 74%. 
 

Remaining Performance Obligations 
 

Remaining performance obligations, or backlog, represents the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated 

to the remaining obligations that the Company has not performed under its customer contracts. The Company has elected 

not to use the optional exemption in ASC 606-10-50-14, which exempts an entity from such disclosures if a performance 

obligation is part of a contract with an original expected duration of one year or less. Accordingly, the information disclosed 

about remaining performance obligations includes all customer contracts, including those with an expected duration of one 

year or less. 
 

Industry uncertainty, project financing concerns, and the licensing and qualification of our prospective customers, 

which are out of the Company’s control, make it difficult for the Company to predict when it will recognize revenue on its 

remaining performance obligations. There are risks that the Company may not realize the full contract value on customer 

projects in a timely manner or at all, and completion of a customer’s cultivation facility project is dependent upon the 

customer’s ability to secure funding and real estate, obtain a license and then build their cultivation facility so they can 

take possession of the equipment. Accordingly, the time it takes for customers to complete a project, which corresponds to 

when the Company is able to recognize revenue, is driven by numerous factors including: (i) the large number of first-time 

participants interested in the indoor cannabis cultivation business; (ii) the complexities and uncertainties involved in 

obtaining state and local licensure and permitting; (iii) local and state government delays in approving licenses and permits 

due to lack of staff or the large number of pending applications, especially in states where there is no cap on the number of 

cultivators; (iv) the customer’s need to obtain cultivation facility financing; (v) the time needed, and coordination required, 

for our customers to acquire real estate and properly design and build the facility (to the stage when climate control systems 

can be installed); (vi) the large price tag and technical complexities of the climate control and air sanitation system; (vii) 

the availability of power; and (viii) delays that are typical in completing any construction project. Further, based on the 

current economic climate, the uncertainty regarding the COVID-19 virus, and the Company’s recent cost cutting measures, 

there is no assurance that the Company will be able to fulfill its backlog, and the Company may experience contract 

cancellations, project scope reductions and project delays.  
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As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s remaining performance obligations, or backlog, was $8,448,000, of 

which $2,643,000, or 31%, was attributable to customer contracts for which the Company has only received an initial 

advance payment to cover the allocated value of the Company’s engineering services (“engineering only paid contracts”). 

There is the risk that the equipment portion of these engineering only paid contracts will not be completed or will be 

delayed. The reasons include the customer being dissatisfied with the quality or timeliness of the Company’s engineering 

services, delay or abandonment of the project because of the customer’s inability to obtain project financing or licensing, 

or other reasons such as a challenging business climate including an overall post-COVID-19 economic downturn, or change 

in business direction. After the customer has made an advance payment for a portion of the equipment to be delivered 

under the contract (“partial equipment paid contracts”), the Company is typically better able to estimate the timing of 

revenue recognition since the risks and delays associated with licensing, permitting and project funding are typically 

mitigated once the initial equipment payment is received. There is significant uncertainty regarding the timing of the 

Company’s recognition of revenue on its remaining performance obligations, and there is no certainty that these will result 

in actual revenues. The backlog at December 31, 2020, includes booked sales orders of $390,000 from several customers 

that the Company does not expect to be realized until 2022, if at all. Given the present economic uncertainty arising from 

the impact of the novel coronavirus COVID-19, the Company believes that several of its current contracts may be delayed 

or canceled. 

 

The remaining performance obligations expected to be recognized through 2022 are as follows: 

  

    2021     2022     Total   

Remaining performance obligations related 

to engineering only paid contracts ...............    $ 2,355,000     $ 288,000     $ 2,643,000   

Remaining performance obligations related 

to partial equipment paid contracts ..............      5,703,000       102,000     $ 5,805,000   

Total remaining performance obligations ....    $ 8,058,000     $ 390,000     $ 8,448,000   

 

Product Warranty 

 

The Company warrants the products that it manufactures for a warranty period equal to the lesser of 12 months 

from start-up or 18 months from shipment. The Company’s warranty provides for the repair, rework, or replacement of 

products (at the Company’s option) that fail to perform within stated specification. The Company’s third-party suppliers 

also warrant their products under similar terms, which are passed through to the Company’s customers. 

 

The Company assesses the historical warranty claims on its manufactured products and, since 2016, warranty 

claims have been approximately 1% of annual revenue generated on these products. Based on the Company’s warranty 

policy, an accrual is established at 1% of the trailing 18 months revenue. The Company continues to assess the need to 

record a warranty reserve at the time of sale based on historical claims and other factors. As of December 31, 2020, and 

December 31, 2019, the Company had an accrued warranty reserve amount of $173,365 and $185,234, respectively, which 

are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

 

Cost of Sales 

 

Cost of sales includes product costs (material, direct labor and overhead costs), shipping and handling expense, 

outside engineering costs, engineering, project management and service salaries and benefits, client visits and warranty. 

 

Concentrations 

 

Three customers accounted for 28%, 11% and 10% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 

2020. One customer accounted for 44% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

The Company’s accounts receivable from two customers made up 48% and 38%, respectively, of the total balance 

as of December 31, 2020. The Company’s accounts receivable from three customers made up 59%, 16%, and 10%, 

respectively, of the total balance as of December 31, 2019. 

 

Three suppliers accounted for 27%, 25% and 12% of the Company’s purchases of inventory for the year ended 

December 31, 2020, and three suppliers accounted for 30%, 17% and 12% of the Company’s purchases of inventory for 

the year ended December 31, 2019.  
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Product Development 

 

The Company expenses product development costs as incurred. Internal product development costs are expensed 

as incurred, and third-party product developments costs are expensed when the contracted work has been performed or as 

milestone results have been achieved. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company 

incurred $390,229 and $521,044, respectively, on product development. 

 

Accounting for Share-Based Compensation 

 

The Company recognizes the cost resulting from all share-based compensation arrangements, including stock 

options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units that the Company grants under its equity incentive plan in its 

consolidated financial statements based on their grant date fair value. For awards subject to service conditions, 

compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Awards subject to performance 

conditions are attributed separately for each vesting tranche of the award and are recognized ratably from the service 

inception date to the vesting date for each tranche, based on the probability of vesting. The probability of awards with 

future performance conditions is evaluated each reporting period and compensation expense is adjusted based on the 

probability assessment. 

 

Awards are considered granted, and the service inception date begins, when mutual understanding of the key terms 

and conditions of the award between the Company and the recipient has been established. For awards that provide discretion 

to adjust the amount of the award, the service inception date for such awards could precede the grant date as a mutual 

understanding of the key terms and conditions of the award between the Company and the recipient has not yet been 

established. For awards in which the service inception date precedes the grant date, compensation cost is accrued beginning 

on the service inception date. 

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved annual incentive 

compensation awards to certain employees payable in non-qualified stock options, based on the Company’s performance 

and each employee’s contributions to such performance for the 2020 year. See Note 16. The non-qualified stock options 

were granted subsequent to December 31, 2020, were not subject to an additional service requirement and were 

immediately vested at the date of the grant. The final amount of the annual incentive compensation award, and number of 

non-qualified stock options granted, were determined, and communicated to the employee, subsequent to December 31, 

2020. The estimated compensation expense of $128,434 related to the 2020 incentive awards was accrued as of December 

31, 2020. Since such incentive awards will be settled in non-qualified stock options, the accrued compensation expense 

has been classified as a current liability until the number of non-qualified stock options is fixed pursuant to a grant by the 

Board. At that time, the incentive award becomes equity-classified. 

 

The grant date fair value of stock options is based on the Black-Scholes Model. The Black-Scholes Model requires 

judgmental assumptions including volatility and expected term, both based on historical experience. The risk-free interest 

rate is based on U.S. Treasury interest rates whose term is consistent with the expected term of the option. 

 

The grant date fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing price of the underlying 

stock on the date of the grant. 

 

The Company has elected to reduce share-based compensation expense for forfeitures as the forfeitures occur 

since the Company does not have historical data or other factors to appropriately estimate the expected employee 

terminations and to evaluate whether particular groups of employees have significantly different forfeiture expectations. 

 

Share-based compensation costs (including expenses from the accrued compensation liabilities related to the 

annual incentive awards subsequently settled in non-qualified stock options totaled $405,617 and $1,292,065 for the years 

ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Such share-based compensation costs are classified in the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements in the same manner as if such compensation was paid in cash. 
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The following is a summary of such share-based compensation costs included in the Company’s consolidated 

statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

  

    

For the Years Ended 

December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Share-based compensation expense included 

in:                 

Cost of revenue .................................................    $ 31,006     $ 91,081   

Advertising and marketing expenses ................      8,333       33,977   

Product development costs ...............................      21,882       45,330   

Selling, general and administrative expenses ....      344,396       1,121,677   

Total share-based compensation expense 

included in consolidated statement of 

operations ..........................................................    $ 405,617     $ 1,292,065   

 

Income Taxes 

 

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of 

deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial 

statements. Under this method, the Company determines deferred tax assets and liabilities on the basis of the differences 

between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in 

which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is 

recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 

 

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes that these assets are more 

likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, the Company considers all available positive and negative 

evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-

planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If the Company determines that it would be able to realize its deferred 

tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, the Company would make an adjustment to the deferred tax 

asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. 

 

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process in which: (i) the Company 

determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of 

the position, and (ii) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company 

recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the 

related tax authority. 

 

Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Common Share 

 

Basic income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common 

stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period without consideration of 

common stock equivalents. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the 

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and potentially dilutive common stock equivalents, including 

stock options, warrants and restricted stock units and other equity-based awards, except in periods when losses are reported 

where the effect of the common stock equivalents would be antidilutive. Potential common stock equivalents consist of 

common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options and warrants and the vesting of restricted stock units using the 

treasury method. As of December 31, 2020, 29,213,500 potential common shares equivalents from warrants and options 

were excluded from the diluted EPS calculations as their effect is anti-dilutive. 

 

Commitments and Contingencies 

 

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to loss contingencies, such as legal proceedings and 

claims arising out of its business, that cover a wide range of matters, including, among others, customer disputes, 

government investigations and tax matters. An accrual for a loss contingency is recognized when it is probable that an asset 

had been impaired or a liability had been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. 
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Other Risks and Uncertainties 

 

To achieve profitable operations, the Company must successfully develop, manufacture and market its products. 

There can be no assurance that any such products can be developed or manufactured at an acceptable cost and with 

appropriate performance characteristics, or that such products will be successfully marketed. These factors could have a 

material adverse effect upon the Company’s financial results, financial position, and future cash flows. 

 

The Company is subject to risks common to similarly-situated companies including, but not limited to, general 

economic conditions, its customers’ operations and access to capital, and market and business disruptions including severe 

weather conditions, natural disasters, health hazards, terrorist activities, financial crises, political crises or other major 

events, or the prospect of these events, new technological innovations, dependence on key personnel, protection of 

proprietary technology, compliance with government regulations, uncertainty of market acceptance of products, product 

liability, and the need to obtain additional financing. As a supplier of services and equipment to cannabis cultivators, the 

Company is also subject to risks related to the cannabis industry. Although certain states have legalized medical and/or 

recreational cannabis, U.S. federal laws continue to prohibit marijuana in all its forms as well as its derivatives. Any 

changes in the enforcement of U.S. federal laws may adversely affect the implementation of state and local cannabis laws 

and regulations that permit medical or recreational cannabis and, correspondingly, may adversely impact the Company’s 

customers. The Company’s success is also dependent upon its ability to raise additional capital and to successfully develop 

and market its products. See Note 3. 

 

Segment Information 

 

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is 

available that is evaluated regularly by the Company’s senior management team in deciding how to allocate resources and 

in assessing performance. The Company has one operating segment that is dedicated to the manufacture and sale of its 

products. 

 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

 

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06: “Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts In An 

Entity’s Own Equity” (“ASU 2020-06”) ASU 2020-04 simplifies the accounting for certain convertible instruments by 

removing the separation models for convertible debt with a cash conversion feature and for convertible instruments with a 

beneficial conversion feature. As a result, more convertible debt instruments will be reported as a single liability instrument 

with no separate accounting for embedded conversion features. Additionally, ASU 2020-04 amends the diluted earnings 

per share calculation for convertible instruments by requiring the use of the if-converted method. The treasury stock method 

is no longer available. Entities may adopt the ASU 2020-04 using either a full or modified retrospective approach, and it 

is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for 

interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company does not expect this ASU to have 

a material impact on its consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial position. 

 

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) – Simplifying the Accounting for 

Income Taxes, which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles 

in Topic 740. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by 

clarifying and amending existing guidance. ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. 

Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect this ASU to have a material impact on its consolidated results 

of operations, cash flows and financial position. 

 

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by FASB that do not require adoption until a future 

date are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements upon adoption. The Company does not discuss 

recent pronouncements that are not anticipated to have an impact on or are unrelated to its financial condition, results of 

operations, cash flows or disclosures. 

 

Note 3 – Going Concern 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will 

continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal 

course of business. 
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The Company has experienced recurring losses since its inception. The Company incurred a net loss of 

approximately $1,759,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and had an accumulated deficit of approximately 

$27,444,000 and a shareholders’ deficit of approximately $1,334,000 as of December 31, 2020. Since inception, the 

Company has financed its activities principally through debt and equity financing, advance payments from customers and 

revenues from completed contracts. Management expects to incur additional losses and cash outflows in the foreseeable 

future in connection with its operating activities. 

 

The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to those of other similar stage and situated companies, 

including general economic conditions, its customers’ operations and prospects for and ability to obtain project financing, 

and market and business disruptions, that include the outbreak of COVID-19, dependence on key individuals, successful 

development, marketing and branding of products; uncertainty of product development and generation of revenues; 

dependence on outside sources of financing; risks associated with research, development; dependence on third-party 

suppliers and collaborators; protection of intellectual property; and competition with larger, better-capitalized companies. 

Ultimately, the attainment of profitable operations is dependent on future events, including obtaining adequate financing 

to fulfill its development activities and generating a level of revenues adequate to support the Company’s cost structure. 

 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise debt or equity financing in sufficient amounts, 

when and if needed, on acceptable terms or at all. The Company’s ability to raise equity capital is also limited by the 

Company’s stock price, and any such issuance could be highly dilutive to existing shareholders. 

 

The Company’s 2020 revenue of approximately $8,514,000 which represents a decrease of 44% over the prior 

year. The Company’s revenue recognition on contracts continues to be unpredictable and inconsistent quarter-over-quarter, 

and the Company has incurred, and expects to incur, additional operating expenses to support such growth. The Company 

generated approximately $818,000 in cash flow from operating activities in 2020. However, as a result of the Company’s 

growth and its efforts to expand and upgrade its products, the Company’s working capital deficit as of December 31, 2020 

was approximately $2,220,000, compared to approximately $1,437,000 as of December 31, 2019. 

 

The Company also will be affected by constraints on the availability of capital to its customers and prospects who 

have commenced, or are contemplating, new or expanded cultivation facilities and the overall impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic. The extent to which COVID-19 will impact the Company’s business and financial results will depend on future 

developments, which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. See Note 16. The duration and likelihood of operational 

success going forward resulting from the fiscal year 2020 measures of adjusting the workforce reductions and cost-cutting 

measures are uncertain. If these actions do not meet management’s expectations, or additional capital is not available, there 

is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the issuance 

of these financial statements. Other factors that will impact the Company’s ability to continue operations include the market 

demand for the Company’s products and services, the ability to service its customers and prospects, potential contract 

cancellations, project scope reductions and project delays, the Company’s ability to fulfill its backlog, the management of 

working capital, and the continuation of normal payment terms and conditions for purchase of the Company’s products. 

The Company believes its cash balances and cash flow from operations will be insufficient to fund its operations for the 

next twelve months. If the Company is unable to increase revenues, or otherwise generate cash flows from operations, 

there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year from the date 

the financial statements are issued. These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustment that might result 

from the outcome of this uncertainty. 

 

Note 4 – Leases 

 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842)(“ASC 842” or the “new lease standard”). 

The Company adopted ASC 842 as of January 1, 2019, using the effective date method. Consequently, financial 

information will not be updated, and the disclosures required under the new lease standard will not be provided, for dates 

and periods prior to January 1, 2019. 

 

The new lease standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company has elected 

to apply the “package of practical expedients” which allow the Company to not reassess: (i) whether existing or expired 

arrangements contain a lease, (ii) the lease classification of existing or expired leases, or (iii) whether previous initial direct 

costs would qualify for capitalization under the new lease standard. The Company has also elected to apply the short-term 

lease exemption for all leases with an original term of less than 12 months, for purposes of applying the recognition and 

measurements requirements in the new lease standard. 
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On June 27, 2017, the Company entered into a lease for its manufacturing and office space (the “Facility Lease”), 

which commenced September 29, 2017 and continues through August 31, 2022. The Company occupied its 12,700 square 

foot space for $12,967 per month until January 1, 2018. On January 2, 2018, the leased space was expanded to 18,600 

square feet, and the monthly rental rate increased to $18,979 until August 31, 2018. Beginning September 1, 2018 and 

2019, the monthly rent increased to $19,549 and $20,135, respectively. On each September 1 through the end of the lease, 

the monthly rent will increase by 3%. Pursuant to the current lease, the Company made a security deposit of $51,000 on 

July 31, 2017. The deposit of $1,600 paid to the previous owner of the property was forwarded to the current landlord. The 

Company has the option to renew the Facility Lease for an additional five years. 

 

During 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with its landlord to apply its rent deposit of $52,600 to rent 

payments due during the period. The deposit required on the lease will be reduced to approximately $32,000 and will be 

payable in 12 monthly installments from January through December of 2021. Further, the landlord also agreed to defer 

payment of fifty percent of the three months of lease payments (base rent only) for the period July to September 2020. The 

deferred lease payments amount to approximately $30,000 and will be payable in 12 monthly installments from January to 

December 2021. 

 

Total rent under the Facility Lease is charged to expense over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis, resulting 

in the same monthly rent expense throughout the lease. The difference between the rent expense amount and the actual rent 

paid is recorded to operating lease liability on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of January 1, 

2019, the remaining deferred rent of $26,477 was reclassified to the operating lease liability under the new lease standard. 

 

Upon adoption of the new lease standard, the Company recognized its lease for manufacturing and office space 

(the “Facility Lease”) on the balance sheet as an operating lease right-of-use asset in the amount of $714,416 and as a lease 

liability of $822,374. The renewal option to extend the Facility Lease is not included in the right-of-use asset or lease 

liability as the option is not reasonably certain of exercise. The Company regularly evaluates the renewal option and when 

it is reasonably certain of exercise, the Company will include the renewal period in its lease term. 

 

Under the Facility Lease, the landlord agreed to pay the Company or the Company’s contractors for tenant 

improvements made by the Company not to exceed $100,000, which were used for normal tenant improvements. The 

Company determined that these improvements were not specialized and could be utilized by a subsequent tenant and, as 

such, the improvements were considered assets of the lessor. As of January 1, 2019, the unamortized amount of tenant 

improvement allowance of $81,481 was treated as a reduction in measuring the right-of-use asset. 

 

Under the Facility Lease, the Company pays the actual amounts for property taxes and insurance, excludes such 

payments from lease contract consideration, and records such payments as incurred. The Company also pays the landlord 

for common area maintenance, which is considered a non-lease component. For the Facility Lease, the Company has 

elected to exclude non-lease components from lease contract consideration. 

 

In determining the right-of-use asset and lease liability, the Company applied a discount rate to the minimum lease 

payments under the Facility Lease. ASC 842 requires the Company to use the rate of interest that the Company would have 

to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic 

environment. Since the discount rate is not implicit in the lease agreement, we utilized an estimated incremental borrowing 

rate provided by the Company’s depository bank. 

 

The lease cost, cash flows and other information related to the Facility Lease were as follows: 

  

    For the Year Ended   

    December 31, 2020   

Operating lease cost ......................................................    $ 216,889   

Operating cash outflow from operating lease ...............    $ 160,934   

  

      

As of 

December 31, 2020   

Operating lease right-of-use assset ...............................    $ 343,950   

Operating lease liability, current ...................................    $ 266,105   

Operating lease liability, long-term ..............................    $ 169,119   

          

Remaining lease term ....................................................      1.7 years   

Discount rate .................................................................      5.00 % 
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Future annual minimum lease payments on the Facility Lease as of December 31, 2020 were as follows: 
  

Years ended December 31,       

2021 ...........................................................................................      281,864   

2022 ...........................................................................................      170,891   

Total minimum lease payments .................................................      452,755   

Less imputed interest .................................................................      (17,531 ) 

Present value of minimum lease payments ................................    $ 435,224   

 

Note 5 – Inventory 
 

Inventory consisted of the following: 
  

    As of December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Finished goods ..................................................    $ 201,778     $ 1,041,369   

Work in progress ...............................................      4,231       3,851   

Raw materials ...................................................      214,145       257,399   

Allowance for excess & obsolete inventory ......      (93,045 )     (71,376 ) 

Inventory, net ....................................................    $ 327,109     $ 1,231,243   

 

Overhead expenses of $17,974 and $31,831 were included in the inventory balance as of December 31, 2020 and 

2019, respectively. 
 

Note 6 – Property and Equipment 
 

Property and equipment consisted of the following: 
  

    As of December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Furniture and equipment ...................................    $ 398,422     $ 389,090   

Vehicles ............................................................      15,000       15,000   

Leasehold improvements ..................................      215,193       215,193   

      628,615       619,283   

Accumulated depreciation.................................      (480,883 )     (361,360 ) 

Property and equipment, net .............................    $ 147,732     $ 257,923   

 

Depreciation expense amounted to $119,524 for the year ended December 31, 2020, of which $6,394 was 

allocated to cost of revenue. Depreciation expense amounted to $157,860 for the year ended December 31, 2019, of which 

$7,010 was allocated to cost of revenue. 
 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s property and equipment, net included the gross cost of the equipment 

leased to a cultivation company affiliated with one of the Co-founders of $176,042, and accumulated depreciation of 

$39,120. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company wrote-off the carrying value of the leased equipment. 

See Note 10. 
 

Note 7 – Intangible Assets 
 

Intangible assets consisted of the following: 
  

    As of December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Patents ...............................................................    $ 8,110     $ 12,234   

Website development costs ...............................      22,713       22,713   

Trademarks .......................................................      1,830       1,830   

      32,653       36,777   

Accumulated amortization ................................      (25,426 )     (24,847 ) 

Intangible assets, net .........................................    $ 7,227     $ 11,930   
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Patents when issued are amortized over 14 years, and web site development costs are amortized over five years. 

Trademarks are not amortized since they have an indefinite life. Amortization expense for intangibles amounted to $579 

and $3,320 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2020 

and 2019, the Company wrote-off $4,124 and $7,778, respectively, related to patents that had been abandoned. 

 

Note 8 – Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following: 

  

    As of December 31,   

    2020     2019   

Accounts payable ..............................................    $ 918,639     $ 1,299,015   

Sales commissions payable ...............................      48,263       69,532   

Accrued payroll liabilities .................................      288,071       169,052   

Product warranty accrual ..................................      173,365       185,234   

Other accrued expenses .....................................      356,623       110,127   

Total ..............................................................    $ 1,784,961     $ 1,832,959   

 

Accounts payable and other accrued expenses includes $402,651 relating to a one-time warranty issue experienced 

on three customers’ projects. The expenses related to parts and labor to repair units that had been delivered to these 

customers prior to year-end. Since the issue is limited to these three projects and is not anticipated to reoccur in the future, 

we have made no adjustment to the ongoing 1% warranty reserve that we accrue on all sales. 

 

Note 9 – Note Payable and Accrued Interest 

 

On April 22, 2020, the Company entered into a note payable with its current bank in the principal amount of 

$554,000, for working capital purposes. 

 

The loan amount was subject to interest at 1% and was initially due on April 20, 2022. Subsequently, the term of 

the loan was potentially to be extended to April 20, 2025. The loan could be repaid in advance without penalty. The loan 

was also potentially forgivable in full provided proceeds were used for payment of payroll expenses, rent, utilities and 

mortgage interest and certain other terms and conditions were met. The loan had typical default provisions, including for 

change of ownership, general lender insecurity as to repayment, non-payment of amounts due, defaults on other debt 

instruments, insolvency, dissolution or termination of the business as a going concern and bankruptcy. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, interest of $3,203 was accrued in respect of this note payable. 

 

On December 11, 2020, the Company received notice from the bank that its loan received on April 22, 2020, in 

the principal amount of $554,000 and all accrued interest of $3,203, was fully forgiven. This gain on loan forgiveness was 

recorded as Other Income in the Statement of Operations during the year. 

 

As further discussed in Note 16 Subsequent Events below, on February 10, 2021, we received funding based on a 

loan agreement entered into on February 5, 2021 with its current bank in the principal amount of $514,200 for working 

capital purposes. Consistent with the loan provisions, the Company will use the proceeds to meet payroll and benefit 

expenses as well as for rent and utilities. The loan amount bears interest at 1% and is due on February 5, 2026. The loan 

may be repaid in advance without penalty. The loan has typical default provisions, including for change of ownership, 

general lender insecurity as to repayment, non-payment of amounts due, defaults on other debt instruments, insolvency, 

dissolution or termination of the business as a going concern and bankruptcy. 

 

Note 10 – Related Party Agreements and Transactions 

 

Agreements and Transaction with Company’s Co-Founders 

 

The following describes certain agreements and transactions between the Company and its co-founders (the “Co-

founders”). The Co-founders held various executive officer and director positions with the Company until May 2018. One 

of the Co-founders also was a consultant to the Company until May 2018. The Co-founders are also shareholders of the 

Company. Based on information available to the Company, the Co-founders did not own more than 10% of the Company’s 

outstanding common stock at any time during 2019 or 2020.  
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Equipment, Demonstration and Product Testing Agreement 

 

In May 2017, the Company entered into a three-year equipment, demonstration and product testing agreement 

with a licensed cannabis cultivation company affiliated with one of the Co-founders. Under this agreement, the Company 

agreed to lease the cultivation company certain cultivation equipment in exchange for a quarterly fee of $16,500, which 

was increased to $18,330 to reflect additional leased equipment requested by the cultivation company (the “Lease Fee”). 

In consideration for access to the cultivation facility to conduct demonstration tours and for the product testing and data to 

be provided by the cultivation company, the Company agreed to pay the cultivation company a quarterly fee of $12,000 

(the “Demo and Testing Fee”). 

 

The Company and the cultivation company each made their respective payments under this agreement through 

June 30, 2018. Thereafter, the cultivation company failed to make any subsequent payments of the Lease Fee and, as a 

result, the Company did not pay the Demo and Testing Fee. During the second quarter of 2019, the Company notified the 

cultivation company of its breach for non-payment of the Lease Fee. In February 2020, the parties mutually agreed to 

terminate this agreement and release each other from all claims related to this agreement, including any unpaid Lease Fees 

or Demo and Testing Fees. The Company also agreed to transfer the equipment to the cultivation company for no additional 

consideration. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded Demo and Testing Fees of $32,000 as operating 

expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company also 

recorded Lease Fees of $48,880 as “Other income, net” in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 

2018, unpaid Lease Fees of $36,660 were included in accounts receivable and unpaid Demo and Testing Fees of $24,000 

were included in accounts payable. 

 

During the third quarter of 2019, the Company determined that it was unlikely that any further payment of Lease 

Fees would be paid by the cultivation company, and the Company: (i) wrote off the balance of the accounts receivable 

related to unpaid Lease Fees, with a corresponding charge to “Other income, net” in the consolidated statements of 

operations, (ii) reversed the accounts payable related to the unpaid Demo and Testing Fees, with a corresponding credit to 

operating expenses, and (iii) wrote-off the remaining carrying value of the leased equipment of $107,581, which was 

included in property and equipment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. For the year ended December 31, 2019, 

the net impact of the foregoing items on the consolidated statements of operations was a charge of $120,241. 

 

Employment Agreement 

 

In May 2018, the Company and one of the Co-founders entered into an employment agreement which provided 

for an initial base salary of $150,000 per year and certain sales incentive. Pursuant to the employment agreement, the 

Company awarded 4,800,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to the Co-founder that vested at certain dates in the future, 

subject to the co-founder’s continued employment. As of December 31, 2019: (i) the Company has issued 2,000,000 shares 

of common stock in settlement of vested RSUs, (ii) 1,000,000 shares of common stock in settlement of RSUs that vested 

December 31, 2019 were issued subsequent to December 31, 2019, (iii) the parties mutually agreed to cancel 1,000,000 

RSUs, and (iii) 800,000 RSUs vested on April 30, 2020, however, the holder elected to cancel the RSUs. 

 

Consulting Agreement 

 

As further discussed in Note 16 Subsequent Events below, on January 7, 2021, the Company entered into a 

consulting agreement with RSX Enterprises, Inc. (RSX), a company controlled by Mr. James R. Shipley, a director of the 

Company. RSX will provide consulting services to the Company focused on product offerings, engineering requirements, 

key customer marketing outreach, and related matters, as mutually determined by the Company and RSX. The Company 

will pay a monthly consulting fee of $6,500 for up to 50 hours per month for the various consulting activities undertaken 

and provide for reimbursement of expenses. The term of the agreement is set for three months. Any intellectual property 

developed by RSX will belong to the Company, and the contract provides for typical indemnification obligations and 

confidentiality provisions. 
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Note 11 – Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Litigation 
 

As of December 31, 2019, there were 6,750,000 restricted stock units that had not been settled due to a dispute 

with a former employee over the required withholding taxes to be paid to the Company for remittance to the appropriate 

tax authorities. The Company commenced an arbitration action against the former employee regarding the dispute. The 

former employee also made claims in the arbitration action against the Company for unpaid wages. As stated in a pleading 

in the arbitration, on March 9, 2020, the Company issued the former employee 6,750,000 shares of the Company’s common 

stock in settlement of these restricted stock units after taking measures to mitigate the Company’s exposure to penalties 

and liability for the failure to properly withhold income taxes. The Arbitrator issued an interim award of approximately 

$10,000 in the Company’s favor and a finding against the former employee. Effective June 9, 2020, the Arbitrator issued 

his final award in the Company’s favor in the Colorado arbitration. The Arbitrator found against the former employee and 

awarded the Company costs of $33,985, with interest at 8% per year. Effective July 22, 2020, the Colorado Court confirmed 

the Arbitration award and entered a final judgement in favor of the Company and against the former employee. The 

Company pursued collection of this debt and has now collected the debt owed. This former employee is continuing to 

pursue separate litigation against the Company for recovery of alleged consulting fees owed to him for the 2015 calendar 

year prior to his appointment as an executive officer of the Company. The Company strongly disputes the ongoing litigation 

and in the remote event of an adverse outcome, the amount of any settlement loss for this case is not reasonably estimable 

as of the date of the issuance of these financial statements. 
 

From time to time, in the normal course of its operations, the Company is subject to litigation matters and claims. 

Litigation can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the results of complex legal 

proceedings are difficult to predict and the Company’s view of these matters may change in the future as the litigation and 

events related thereto unfold. The Company expenses legal fees as incurred. The Company records a liability for contingent 

losses when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

An unfavorable outcome to any legal matter, if material, could have an adverse effect on the Company’s operations or its 

financial position, liquidity or results of operations. 
 

Other Commitments 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to 

customers, vendors, lessors, business partners, and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited 

to, losses arising out of the Company’s breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the Company, or from 

intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification 

agreements with its directors and certain of its officers and employees that will require the Company to, among other things, 

indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers, or 

employees. The Company maintains director and officer insurance, which may cover certain liabilities arising from its 

obligation to indemnify its directors and certain of its officers and employees, and former officers, directors, and employees 

of acquired companies, in certain circumstances. 
 

Note 12 – Preferred and Common Stock 
 

Preferred Stock 
 

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, there were 42,030,331 shares of Series A preferred stock, par value $0.00001 

per share, issued and outstanding. The holders of Series A preferred stock have one vote per share of Series A preferred 

stock equivalent to one vote of the Company’s common stock. The Series A preferred stock ranks senior to the Company’s 

common stock. The holders of shares of Series A preferred stock are not entitled to receive dividends and have no 

conversion or preemptive rights. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company’s business, after payment to 

the holders of any senior securities, the holders of Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive a preferential cash 

payment per share of Series A preferred stock equal to the stated value of the preferred stock, prior to any payment to the 

holders of common stock. 
 

Common Stock 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company did not issue any shares of its common stock in a private, 

non-registered transaction. 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company did not issue any shares of its common stock in a private, 

non-registered transaction.  
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued shares of its common stock under the 2017 Equity 

Plan as follows: 

  

  ● 1,000,000 shares to an employee in settlement of certain RSUs that vested December 31, 2019; 

  ● 560,000 shares pursuant to a special incentive stock bonus approved by the Board for the period ended 

December 31, 2019; and 

  ● 6,750,000 shares in settlement of restricted stock units to a former employee after taking measures to 

mitigate the Company’s exposure to penalties and liability for the failure to properly withhold income 

taxes, as further discussed in Note 11 – Commitments and Contingencies, Litigation above. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued shares of its common stock under the Company’s 

2017 Equity Plan as follows: 

  

  ● 197,370 shares of common stock were issued to independent directors in lieu of cash director fees;  

  ● 789,474 shares of common stock were issued to independent directors as the 2019 equity retainer fee;  

  ● 1,120,000 shares of common stock were issued to certain employees in settlement of vested restricted 

stock units; and 

  ● 1,120,000 shares of common stock were issued to certain employees as a stock incentive bonus. 

 

Note 13 – Outstanding Warrants 

 

The following table summarizes information with respect to outstanding warrants to purchase common stock 

during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

  

          Weighted     Weighted         

          Average     Average     Aggregate   

    Number     Exercise     Remaining Life     Intrincic   

    Outstanding     Price     In Months     Value   

                          

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 ........      40,010,250     $ 0.25       21     $ 0   

                                  

Issued .....................................................      -       -       -       -   

                                  

Exercised ................................................      -       -       -       -   

                                  

Expired ...................................................      (901,250 )   $ (0.66 )     -     $ 0   

                                  

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 ........      39,109,000     $ 0.24       9     $ 0   

                                  

Issued .....................................................      -       -       -       -   

                                  

Exercised ................................................      -       -       -       -   

                                  

Expired ...................................................      (31,546,500 )   $ (0.23 )     -     $ 0   

                                  

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 ........      7,562,500     $ 0.25       6     $ 0   

 

The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding at December 31, 2020. 

  

            

Weighted Average 

Life of   

      Warrants     Outstanding Warrants   

Exercise price     Outstanding     In Months   

                

  0.25       7,562,500       6   
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Series 2 Warrants 

 

In October 2014, the Company offered up to 60 investment units at a price per unit of $50,000. Each unit consisted 

of (i) 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, (ii) a $50,000 10% convertible promissory note (“Series 2 

Convertible Note”), and (iii) warrants for the purchase of 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (“Series 2 

Warrants”). As of December 31, 2018, Series 2 Warrants to purchase 901,250 shares of common stock were outstanding, 

all of which expired unexercised during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

Warrants Issued to Investment Bank 

 

Pursuant to a certain agreement for services rendered in connection with the conversion of the Series 2 Convertible 

Notes, during the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued to an investment bank or its designees a warrant 

(“Banker Warrant”) to purchase, at an exercise price $0.35 per share, 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. 

The Banker Warrants were fully vested on the date of issuance, were exercisable beginning December 20, 2017 and expired 

unexercised on June 20, 2020. 

 

Q1 2017 Warrants 

 

In March 2017, the Company issued 16,781,250 investment units, for aggregate gross proceeds of $2,685,000, or 

$0.16 per unit. Each unit consisted of one share of the Company’s common stock and one warrant for the purchase of one 

share of the Company’s common stock (“Q1 2017 Warrants”); however, one investor declined receipt of the warrant to 

purchase 468,750 shares of the Company’s common stock. Pursuant to the Q1 2017 Warrants, the holder thereof may at 

any time on or after six months after the issuance date and on or prior to the close of business on the date that is the third 

anniversary of the issuance date, purchase up to the number of shares of the Company’s common stock as set forth in the 

respective warrant. The exercise price per share of the common stock under the Q1 2017 Warrants is $0.26, subject to 

customary adjustments as provided in the warrant. Each Q1 2017 Warrant was callable at the Company’s option 

commencing six months from the issuance date, provided the closing price of the Company’s common stock was $0.42 or 

greater for five consecutive trading days. Commencing at any time after the date on which such call condition was satisfied, 

the Company had the right, upon 30 days’ notice to the holder, to redeem the warrant shares at a price of $0.01 per warrant 

share. The holder could have exercised the warrant at any time (in whole or in part) prior to the redemption date at the 

exercise price. These warrants expired unexercised in March 2020. 

 

Q4 2017 Warrants 

 

In December 2017, the Company issued 14,734,000 investment units for aggregate proceeds of $1,768,080, or 

$0.12 per unit. Each unit consisted of one share of the Company’s common stock and one warrant for the purchase of one 

share of the Company’s common stock (“Q4 2017 Warrants”). The Q4 2017 Warrants had an exercise price of $0.20 per 

share, subject to customary adjustments as provided in the warrant, and had a term of three years. The Q4 2017 Warrants 

were callable at the Company’s option, provided the closing price of the Company’s common stock was $0.36 or greater 

for five consecutive trading days. Commencing at any time after the date on which the call condition is satisfied, the 

Company had the right, upon notice to the holders, to redeem the shares of common stock underlying each warrant at a 

price of $0.01 per share, but such redemption could not occur earlier than sixty-one (61) days following the date of the 

receipt of notice by the holder. The holder could exercise the warrant at any time (in whole or in part) prior to the redemption 

date at the exercise price. These warrants expired unexercised in December 2020. 

 

Q2 2018 Warrants 

 

In June 2018, the Company completed a private placement offering of investment units, with each unit consisting 

of one share of the Company’s common stock and one Q2 2018 Warrant. The Q2 2018 Warrants have an exercise price of 

$0.25 per share of the common stock underlying each warrant, subject to customary adjustments as provided in the warrant. 

The Q2 2018 Warrants are exercisable commencing July 1, 2018 until June 30, 2021. The Q2 2018 Warrants are callable 

at the Company’s option, beginning on July 1, 2019 until the expiration thereof on June 30, 2021, provided the closing 

price of the Company’s common stock is $0.40 (subject to adjustment as provided in the warrant) or greater for five 

consecutive trading days. Commencing at any time after the date on which the call condition is satisfied, the Company has 

the right, upon notice to the holders, to redeem the shares of common stock underlying each warrant at a price of $0.01 per 

share, but such redemption may not occur earlier than sixty-one (61) days following the date of the receipt of notice by the 

holder. The holder may exercise the warrant (in whole or in part) prior to the redemption date at the exercise price. As of 

December 31, 2020, Q2 2018 Warrants to purchase 7,562,500 shares of common stock were outstanding. 
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Note 14 – Equity Incentive Plan 

 

On August 1, 2017, the Board adopted and approved the Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Equity 

Plan”) in order to attract, motivate, retain, and reward high-quality executives and other employees, officers, directors, 

consultants, and other persons who provide services to the Company by enabling such persons to acquire an equity interest 

in the Company. Under the 2017 Equity Plan, the Board (or the compensation committee of the Board, if one is established) 

may award stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock unit 

awards (“RSUs”), shares granted as a bonus or in lieu of another award, and other stock-based performance awards. The 

2017 Equity Plan allocates 50,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (“Plan Shares”) for issuance of equity 

awards under the 2017 Equity Plan. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has granted, under the 2017 Equity Plan, 

awards in the form of RSAs for services rendered by independent directors and consultants, non-qualified stock options, 

RSUs and stock bonus awards. 

 

The total unrecognized compensation expense for unvested non-qualified stock options at December 31, 2020 

was $6,412, which will be recognized over approximately 3 months. 

 

Restricted Stock Awards 

 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had accrued fees owed to the Company’s independent directors totaling 

$15,000, which were payable in equity. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 197,370 shares of 

restricted stock, which were fully vested at the time of the award, in settlement of these accrued fees. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company also awarded 789,474 shares of restricted stock under 

the 2017 Equity Plan to the Company’s independent directors and consultants as an equity retainer fee for 2019. These 

restricted shares were fully vested at the time of the award and the aggregate value attributable to these shares was $60,000, 

as calculated using the fair value of the Company’s common stock on date the Board approved these awards. 

 

Non-Qualified Stock Options 

 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes Model to determine the fair value of options granted. Option-pricing models 

require the input of highly subjective assumptions, particularly for the expected stock price volatility and the expected term 

of options. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate. The expected stock 

price volatility assumptions are based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock over periods that are 

similar to the expected terms of grants and other relevant factors. The Company derives the expected term based on an 

average of the contract term and the vesting period taking into consideration the vesting schedules and future employee 

behavior with regard to option exercise. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury yields for a maturity 

approximating the expected term calculated at the date of grant. The Company has never paid any cash dividends on its 

common stock and the Company has no intention to pay a dividend at this time; therefore, the Company assumes that no 

dividends will be paid over the expected terms of option awards. 

 

The Company determines the assumptions used in the valuation of option awards as of the date of grant. 

Differences in the expected stock price volatility, expected term or risk-free interest rate may necessitate distinct valuation 

assumptions at those grant dates. As such, the Company may use different assumptions for options granted throughout the 

year. The valuation assumptions used to determine the fair value of each option award on the date of grant were: expected 

stock price volatility 114.97% - 122.48%; expected term in 5 years and risk-free interest rate 0.2% - 2.37%. 
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Employee and Consultant Options 

 

A summary of the non-qualified stock options granted to employees and consultants under the 2017 Equity Plan 

during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below: 

  

    

Number of 

Options     

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price     

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining 

Contractual 

Term     

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value   

                          

Outstanding, December 31, 2018 ........      10,560,000     $ 0.104       8.4     $ -   

Granted ............................................      2,000,000     $ 0.080                   

Exercised .........................................      -       -                   

Forfeited ..........................................      (2,408,333 )   $ 0.116                   

Expired ............................................      (16,667 )   $ 0.105                   

Outstanding, December 31, 2019 ........      10,135,000     $ 0.096       7.7     $ -   

Granted ............................................      6,616,900     $ 0.070       10.0           

Exercised .........................................      -                           

Forfeited ..........................................      -                           

Expired ............................................      (2,500,900 )   $ 0.101       4.3           

Outstanding, December 31, 2020 ........      14,251,000     $ 0.083       8.3     $ -   

Exercisable, December 31, 2020 .........      14,251,000     $ 0.083       8.3     $ -   

 

A summary of non-vested non-qualified stock options activity for employees and consultants under the 2017 

Equity Plan for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below: 

  

   

Number of 

Options     

Weighted 

Average 

Grant-

Date 

Fair Value     

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value     

Grant-

Date 

Fair Value   

                         

Nonvested, December 31, 2018 ...........      7,333,329     $ 0.086     $              -     $ 628,756   

Granted .............................................      2,000,000     $ 0.065             $ 130,120   

Vested ...............................................      (4,924,996 )   $ 0.074             $ 362,998   

Forfeited............................................      (2,408,333 )   $ 0.102             $ 246,344   

Expired .............................................      -       -             $ -   

Nonvested, December 31, 2019 ...........      2,000,000     $ 0.075     $ -     $ 149,534   

Granted .............................................      6,616,900     $ 0.059             $ 387,199   

Vested ...............................................      (8,616,900 )   $ 0.062             $ 536,733   

Forfeited............................................      -                     $ -   

Expired .............................................      -                     $ -   

Nonvested, December 31, 2020 ...........      -             $ -     $ -   

 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $189,568 and $390,485 as compensation 

expense related to vested options issued to employees and consultants, net of forfeitures, respectively. As of December 31, 

2020, there was no unrecognized share-based compensation related to unvested options. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had granted non-qualified options to purchase 10,250,000 shares which 

were performance-based. At December 31, 2020, non-qualified options to purchase 6,000,000 shares were forfeited due to 

the failure to satisfy the 2017, 2018 and 2019 revenue-based performance thresholds and 4,250,000 shares were forfeited 

due to employee terminations. No compensation expense had been recognized with respect to these performance-based 

awards since the likelihood of performance levels being obtained was determined to be remote. 
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Director Options 
 

A summary of the non-qualified stock options granted to directors under the 2017 Equity Plan during the years 

ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below: 
  

    

Number of 

Options     

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price     

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining 

Contractual 

Term     

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value ($000)   

                                  

Outstanding, December 31, 2018 ........      900,000     $ 0.135       8.6     $ -   

Granted ............................................      -       -                   

Exercised .........................................      -       -                   

Forfeited/Cancelled .........................      -       -                   

Expired ............................................      -       -                   

Outstanding, December 31, 2019 ........      900,000     $ 0.135       7.6     $ -   

Granted ............................................      6,500,000     $ 0.057       8.5           

Exercised .........................................      -       -                   

Forfeited/Cancelled .........................      -       -                   

Expired ............................................      -       -                   

Outstanding, December 31, 2020 ........      7,400,000     $ 0.067       7.5     $ -   

Exerciseable, December 31, 2020 .......      6,400,000     $ 0.073       8.0     $ -   
 

A summary of non-vested non-qualified stock options activity for directors under the 2017 Equity Plan for the 

years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below: 
  

   

Number of 

Options     

Weighted 

Average 

Grant-Date 

Fair Value     

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value     

Grant-Date 

Fair Value   

                                 

Nonvested, December 31, 2019 ..............      -       -     $ -           

Granted ................................................      -       -                   

Vested ..................................................      -       -                   

Forfeited ..............................................      -       -                   

Expired ................................................      -       -                   

Nonvested, December 31, 2019 ..............      -       -     $ -           

Granted ................................................      6,500,000       0.057             $ 373,000   

Vested ..................................................      (5,500,000 )     0.063             $ 344,000   

Forfeited ..............................................      -       -             $ -   

Expired ................................................      -       -             $ -   

Nonvested, December 31, 2020 ..............      1,000,000       0.029     $ 5,800     $ 29,000   
 

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred $62,452 and $0, respectively, as 

compensation expense related to 1,500,000 and 0 vested options, respectively, issued to directors. As of December 31, 

2020, total unrecognized share-based compensation related to unvested options was $6,412. 
 

Effective January 2, 2020, the Company issued 4,000,000 fully vested stock options to directors valued at 

$234,126 in respect of a 2019 special equity award that had been accrued for in full in the Company’s financial statements 

at December 31, 2019. 
 

Further on January 2, 2020, the Company issued an additional 500,000 fully vested, non-qualified stock options 

under the 2017 Equity Plan valued at $29,266 to directors. The options have a term of 5 years and have an exercise price 

equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on The OTC Markets on the day immediately preceding the 

grant date of $0.07. 
 

Effective June 24, 2020, the Company issued 2,000,000 non-qualified stock options under the 2017 Equity Plan, 

valued at $39,600, to newly appointed directors. The options vested 50% upon grant and 50% on April 1, 2021, if the 

Director remains on the Board up to that time. The options have a term of 5 years and have an exercise price equal to the 

closing price of the Company’s common stock on The OTC Markets on the day immediately preceding the grant date of 

$0.029.  
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As of December 31, 2020, awards related to 21,651,000 shares remain issued and outstanding. 
 

Restricted Stock Units 
 

A summary of the RSUs awarded to employees, directors and consultants under the 2017 Equity Plan during the 

years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below: 
  

   

Number of 

Units     

Weighted 

Average 

Grant-Date 

Fair Value     

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value   

                          

Outstanding, December 31, 2018.................      9,867,368     $ 0.140     $ 730,185   

Granted ....................................................      -       -           

Vested and settled with share issuance ....      (1,120,000 )   $ 0.181           

Forfeited/canceled ....................................      (1,197,368 )   $ 0.179           

Outstanding, December 31, 2019.................      7,550,000     $ 0.128     $ -   

Granted ....................................................      -       -           

Vested and settled with share issuance ....      (6,750,000 )   $ 0.121           

Forfeited/canceled ....................................      (800,000 )   $ 0.184           

Outstanding, December 31, 2020.................      -             $ -   
 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $25,163 and $278,906 as compensation 

expense related to vested RSUs issued to employees, directors and consultants. As of December 31, 2020, there was no 

unrecognized share-based compensation related to unvested RSUs. The total intrinsic value of RSUs vested and settled 

with share issuance was $199,125 and $79,120 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. During the year ended 

December 31, 2020, the total intrinsic value of RSUs vested and settled with share issuance was $1,105,750, including the 

intrinsic value of $1,035,750 related to RSUs that had vested in 2018 but had not been settled until 2020 due to a dispute 

with a former employee over the required withholding taxes to be paid to the Company for remittance to the appropriate 

tax authorities as further discussed in Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies above. 
 

Effective April 30, 2020, 800,000 RSUs vested. However, the holder elected to cancel the RSUs. 
 

Incentive Stock Bonuses 
 

The Company has entered into certain “at-will” employment agreements with certain employees. Under these 

agreements, the employees are eligible to receive special incentive stock bonuses, provided the Board has determined, in 

its sole discretion, that the employee’s performance has been average or better for the applicable special bonus period. This 

special stock incentive bonus is payable only if the employee continues in the employment of the Company. 
 

For accounting purposes, the Company treats these special incentive stock bonuses as vesting over each bonus’s 

service period based on the fair value of the award at the time of grant. Even though these bonuses are subject to Board 

approval, the awards are vested over each service period because it is more likely than not that the Board will approve the 

award based on the “average or better” employee performance standard. Since the awards are denominated in shares of 

common stock, the fair value of the vested bonus is charged to additional paid-in capital. 
 

A summary of the incentive stock bonus awards granted to employees under the 2017 Equity Plan during the years 

ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the table below: 
  

   

Number of 

Shares     

Weighted 

Average Grant-Date 

Fair Value     

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value   

                         

Unvested, December 31, 2018 .........      1,680,000     $ 0.112     $ 124,320   

Awarded .......................................      -       -           

Vested ..........................................      (1,680,000 )   $ 0.112           

Forfeited .......................................      -       -           

Unvested, December 31, 2019 .........      -       -           

Awarded .......................................      -       -           

Vested ..........................................      -       -           

Forfeited .......................................      -       -           

Unvested, December 31, 2020 .........      -       -           
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For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $0 and $44,209 as compensation 

expense related to vested stock bonus awards issued to employees, net of forfeitures of $0 and $0, respectively. As of 

December 31, 2020, there was no unrecognized share-based compensation related to unvested stock bonus awards. The 

total intrinsic value of stock bonus awards vested and settled with share issuance was $0 and $58,240 for the years ended 

December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 

Note 15 – Income Taxes 

 

For financial reporting purposes, there were no provisions for U.S. federal, state or international income taxes for 

the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019 due to the Company’s net operating losses (“NOLs”) in such periods and full 

valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax assets. 

 

The differences between income taxes expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and the reported 

provision for income taxes are summarized as follows: 

  

    2020     2019   

Income taxes computed at the federal statutory 

rate ..........................................................................    $ (369,000 )   $ (281,000 ) 

States taxes, net of federal benefits .....................      (69,000 )     (53,000 ) 

Permanent differences.........................................      (136,000 )     17,000   

True-up adjustments ...........................................      115,000       199,000   

Adjustment to net operating loss.........................      (17,000 )     (86,000 ) 

Change in valuation allowance ...........................      476,000       204,000   

Reported income tax (benefit) expense ...................    $ -     $ -   

 

The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

  

    2020     2019   

Deferred tax assets:                 

Net operating losses ............................................    $ 4,821,000     $ 4,081,000   

Equity compensation ..........................................      118,000       392,000   

Other deferred tax assets .....................................      169,000       149,000   

Total deferred tax assets .................................      5,108,000       4,622,000   

Deferred tax liabilities:                 

Other deferred tax liabilities ...............................      (68,000 )     (58,000 ) 

Total deferred tax liabilities ............................      (68,000 )     (58,000 ) 

Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance      5,040,000       4,564,000   

Less valuation allowance ........................................      (5,040,000 )     (4,564,000 ) 

Net deferred tax assets ............................................    $ -     $ -   

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has U.S. federal and state net operating losses (“NOLs”) of approximately 

$19,322,000, of which $11,196,261 will expire, if not utilized, in the years 2034 through 2037, however, NOLs generated 

subsequent to December 31, 2017 do not expire but may only be used against taxable income to 80%. In response to the 

novel coronavirus COVID-19, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act temporarily repealed the 80% 

limitation for NOLs arising in 2018, 2019 and 2020. Pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended, use of the Company’s NOLs carryforwards may be limited in the event of cumulative changes in ownership of 

more than 50% within a three-year period. 

 

The Company must assess the likelihood that its net deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable 

income, and to the extent the Company believes that recovery is not likely, the Company establishes a valuation allowance. 

Management’s judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and 

liabilities, and any valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax assets. The Company recorded a full valuation 

allowance as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Based on the available evidence, the Company believes it is more likely 

than not that it will not be able to utilize its net deferred tax assets in the foreseeable future. The Company intends to 

maintain valuation allowances until sufficient evidence exists to support the reversal of such valuation allowances. The 

Company makes estimates and judgments about its future taxable income that are based on assumptions that are consistent 

with the Company’s plans. Should the actual amounts differ from the Company’s estimates, the carrying value of the 

Company’s deferred tax assets could be materially impacted.  
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The Company is subject to examination by the IRS for the calendar year 2016 and thereafter. These examinations 

may lead to ordinary course adjustments or proposed adjustments to the Company’s taxes or the Company’s net operating 

losses with respect to years under examination as well as subsequent periods. The Company has filed Colorado state income 

tax returns for years 2014 through 2019, Alaska, California and Connecticut state income tax returns for the years 2017 

through 2019, Michigan state income tax returns for the years 2018 and 2019 and Alabama, District of Columbia, 

Massachusetts, Oklahoma and Texas state income taxes in 2019. 

 

The Company recognizes in its consolidated financial statements the impact of a tax position, if that position is 

more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company’s policy is to 

recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of operating expense. The 

Company does not believe there are any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of 

unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within twelve months of the reporting date. There were 

no penalties or interest liabilities accrued as of December 31, 2020 or 2019, nor were any penalties or interest costs included 

in expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 

Note 16 – Subsequent Events 

 

In accordance with ASC 855, Subsequent Events, the Company has evaluated all subsequent events through the 

date the financial statements were available to be issued. The following events occurred after December 31, 2020. 

 

The Board approved annual incentive compensation awards to certain employees payable in non-qualified stock 

options, based on the Company’s performance and each employee’s contributions to such performance for the 2020 year. 

A total of 1,035,800 non-qualified stock options were granted under the 2017 Equity Plan subsequent to December 31, 

2020, with an exercise price of $0.13 per share. These non-qualified stock options were immediately vested at the date of 

the grant. The estimated compensation expense of $128,434 related to the 2020 incentive awards was accrued as of 

December 31, 2020. The accrued compensation expense was classified as a current liability as of December 31, 2020. 

 

As further discussed in Note 10 Related Party Agreements and Transactions above, on January 7, 2021, the 

Company entered into a consulting agreement with RSX Enterprises, Inc. (RSX), a company controlled by Mr. James R. 

Shipley, a director of the Company. RSX will provide consulting services to the Company focused on product offerings, 

engineering requirements, key customer marketing outreach, and related matters, as mutually determined by the Company 

and RSX. The Company will pay a monthly consulting fee of $6,500 for up to 50 hours per month for the various consulting 

activities undertaken and provide for reimbursement of expenses. The term of the agreement is set for three months. Any 

intellectual property developed by RSX will belong to the Company, and the contract provides for typical indemnification 

obligations and confidentiality provisions. 

 

As further discussed in Note 9 Note Payable and Accrued Interest above, on February 10, 2021, we received 

funding based on a loan agreement entered into on February 9, 2021 with our current bank in the principal amount of 

$514,200 for working capital purposes. Consistent with the loan provisions, the Company will use the proceeds to meet 

payroll and benefit expenses as well as for rent and utilities. The loan amount bears interest at 1% and is due on February 

5, 2026. The loan may be repaid in advance without penalty. The loan has typical default provisions, including for change 

of ownership, general lender insecurity as to repayment, non-payment of amounts due, defaults on other debt instruments, 

insolvency, dissolution or termination of the business as a going concern and bankruptcy. 

 

As further discussed in Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies above, a former employee is pursuing litigation 

against the Company for recovery of alleged consulting fees owed to him for the 2015 calendar year prior to his 

appointment as an executive officer of the Company. The Company strongly disputes the ongoing litigation and in the 

remote event of an adverse outcome, the amount of any settlement loss for this case is not reasonably estimable as of the 

date of the issuance of these financial statements. 
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SIGNATURES 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

  

  SURNA INC. 

  (the “Registrant”) 

      

Dated: March 23, 2021 By: /s/ Anthony K. McDonald 

    Anthony K. McDonald 

    Chief Executive Officer and President 

    (Principal Executive Officer) 

      

Dated: March 23, 2021 By: /s/ Anthony K. McDonald 

    Anthony K. McDonald  

    Principal Financial and Accounting Officer 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 

following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

  

Dated: March 23, 2021 By: /s/ Anthony K. McDonald 

    Anthony K. McDonald, Chairman of the Board 

      

Dated: March 23, 2021 By: /s/ James R. Shipley 

    James R. Shipley, Director 

      

Dated: March 23, 2021 By: /s/ Nicholas J. Etten 

    Nicholas J. Etten, Director  
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Exhibit     

Number   Description of Exhibit 

      

3.1(a)   Articles of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on 

Form S-1 as filed on January 28, 2010). 

      

3.1(b)   Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) to the Annual 

Report on Form 10-K filed April 2, 2018).  

      

3.1(c)   Certificate of Designations of Preferences, Rights, and Limitations of Preferred Stock (incorporated herein 

by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 12, 2014).  

      

3.2   Bylaws, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 

filed April 2, 2018). 

      

4.1   Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement 

on Form S-1 filed on January 28, 2010). 

      

4.2   Form of Common Stock Warrant issued with Convertible Notes (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 

4.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 2, 2018). 

      

4.3   Form of Note Conversion and Warrant Amendment Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 

10.15 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 2017). 

      

4.4   Form of Common Stock Warrant issued in Q1 2017 Unit Offering (incorporated herein by reference to 

Exhibit 4.4 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 2, 2018). 

      

4.5   Form of Common Stock Warrant issued in Q4 2017 Unit Offering (incorporated herein by reference to 

Exhibit 4.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 2, 2018). 

      

4.6   Form of Common Stock Warrant issued in Q2 2018 Unit Offering (incorporated herein by reference to 

Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 12, 2018). 

      

4.7*   Description of Capital Stock. 

      

10.1+   Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Anthony K. McDonald dated effective 

November 28, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K 

filed November 28, 2018). 

      

10.2+   Board of Directors Agreement between Surna Inc. and Timothy J. Keating dated March 7, 2017 

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 

2017). 

      

10.3+   Surna Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registration 

Statement on Form S-8 filed on August 3, 2017). 

      

10.4   Stock Repurchase Agreement by and among the Company, Brandy M. Keen and Stephen B. Keen dated 

May 29, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed 

May 31, 2018). 

      

10.5   Preferred Stock Option Agreement by and among the Company, Brandy M. Keen and Stephen B. Keen 

dated May 29, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K 

filed May 31, 2018). 

      

14.1   Code of Business Code and Ethics adopted February 13, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 

14 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 14, 2018). 

      

21.1*   Subsidiaries 

      

23.1*   Consent of ACM LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, relating to Registration Statement 

on Form S-8. 
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23.2*   Consent of Sadler, Gibb & Associates, L.L.C., Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, relating to 

Registration Statement on Form S-8. 

      

31.1 *   Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      

31.2 *   Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted 

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      

32.1**   Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      

32.2**   Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant 

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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Exhibit 4.7 

 

Description of Securities 

 

Description of Capital Stock 

 

General 

 

The following is a summary of information concerning capital stock of Surna Inc. (“Company”). The summaries 

and descriptions below do not purport to be complete statements of the relevant provisions of the Company’s Articles of 

Incorporation (“Charter”) and Amended and Restated By-laws (the “By-laws”), and are entirely qualified by these 

documents. 

 

Common Stock (“Common Stock”) 

 

Dividends. Subject to prior dividend rights of the holders of any shares of preferred stock of the Company (“Preferred 

Stock”), holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by the Company’s 

Board of Directors (the “Board”) out of funds legally available for that purpose. 

 

Voting Rights. Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. 

Holders of shares of Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights. The holders of a majority of the shares of 

Common Stock present and entitled to vote in the election of directors can elect all directors standing for election. 

 

Other Rights. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, after the satisfaction in full of the 

liquidation preferences of holders of any shares of Preferred Stock, holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to 

ratable distribution of the remaining assets available for distribution to stockholders. The shares of Common Stock are not 

subject to redemption by operation of a sinking fund or otherwise. Holders of shares of Common Stock are not currently 

entitled to pre-emptive rights. 

 

Fully Paid. The issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and non-assessable. Any additional shares 

of Common Stock that the Company may issue in the future will also be fully paid and non-assessable. 

 

Preferred Stock 

 

The Company has one class of issued and outstanding Preferred Stock that is designated the Series A Preferred Stock. 

 

Series A Preferred Stock 

 

Rank. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks superior to all other classes, including the Common Stock 

 

Dividends. The Series A Preferred Stock is not entitled to dividends. 

 

Liquidation Preference. Each holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, for each share thereof, out of 

assets of the Corporation legally available therefore, a preferential amount in cash, per share of Preferred Stock, equal to 

(and not more than) the sum of the (x) stated value, plus (y) all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon. The stated value is 

not determined. Therefore, there is no liquidation preference as there is no stated value or dividend entitlement. 

 

Voting. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall have one vote per share of Series A Preferred Stock equivalent to 

one vote of the Common Stock. This is interpreted to mean that the Series A Preferred Stock votes with the Common Stock. 

 

Conversion Rights. The Series A Preferred Stock is not convertible into Common Stock. 

 

Preemption Rights. The Series A Preferred Stock does not have preemptive rights. 

 

  



 

Exhibit 21.1 

 

SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT 

 

The following are the significant subsidiaries of Surna Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and the states or jurisdictions in which 

they are organized. Except as otherwise specified, in each case Surna Inc. owns, directly or indirectly, 100% of the voting 

securities of each subsidiary. 

  

Name   State or jurisdiction of Entity 

Hydro Innovations, LLC   Colorado 

  



 

Exhibit 23.1 

 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 

Surna Inc. 

Boulder, Colorado 

 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-

219674) pertaining to the Surna Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan of our report dated March 24, 2020, relating to the 

consolidated financial statements of Surna Inc. and subsidiary (which report expresses an unqualified opinion of the 

consolidated financial statements and an explanatory paragraph referring to the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern), which appears in this Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

/s/ ACM LLP 

 

Greeley, Colorado 

March 23, 2021 

  



 

Exhibit 23.2 

 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 

Surna Inc. 

Boulder, CO 

 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-

219674) pertaining to the Surna Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan of our report dated March 23, 2021, relating to the 

December 31, 2020 consolidated financial statements of Surna Inc. and subsidiary (which report expresses an unqualified 

opinion of the consolidated financial statements and an explanatory paragraph referring to the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern), which appears in this Form 10-K. 

  

/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC   

 

Draper, UT 

March 23, 2021 

 

  



 

Exhibit 31.1 

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) 

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED 

 

I, Anthony K. McDonald, the Chief Executive Officer of Surna Inc. certify that: 

 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Surna Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020; 

 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 

not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, 

the periods presented in this report; 

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 

prepared; 

 

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles; 

 

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 

this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 

and 

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 

control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 

equivalent functions): 

 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 

report financial information; and 

 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 

role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 

Dated this 23rd day of March 2021. 

  

By: /s/ Anthony K. McDonald   

  Anthony K. McDonald 

Chief Executive Officer 
  

  



 

Exhibit 31.2 

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) 

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED 

 

I, Anthony K. McDonald, the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of Surna Inc. certify that: 

 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Surna Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020; 

 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 

not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, 

the periods presented in this report; 

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 

prepared; 

 

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles; 

 

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 

this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 

and 

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 

control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing 

the equivalent functions): 

 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 

report financial information; and 

 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 

role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 

Dated this 23rd day of March 2021. 

  

By: /s/ Anthony K. McDonald   

  Anthony K. McDonald 

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer 
  

  



 

Exhibit 32.1 

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) of 

Surna Inc. (the “Registrant”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Anthony K. 

McDonald, the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, that: 

 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as amended; and 

 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 

results of operations of the Registrant. 

  

    /s/ Anthony K. McDonald 

  Name: Anthony K. McDonald, 

Chief Executive Officer 

  Date: March 23, 2021 

 

This certification accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under 

the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically 

incorporates it by reference. 

  



 

Exhibit 32.2 

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) of 

Surna Inc. (the “Registrant”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Anthony K. 

McDonald, the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of the Registrant, hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, 

that: 

 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as amended; and 

 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 

results of operations of the Registrant. 

  

    /s/ Anthony K. McDonald 

  Name: Anthony K. McDonald, Principal Financial and 

Accounting Officer 

  Date: March 23, 2021 

 

This certification accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under 

the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically 

incorporates it by reference. 


